
 
 

 

 
 
 

DYDD LLUN, 14EG MEHEFIN, 2021 
 
 

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU RHITH-GYFARFOD 
O’R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL AM 10.00 Y.B. AR DDYDD LLUN, 21AIN 
MEHEFIN, 2021 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R MATERION A AMLINELLIR 
AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 

 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 

Swyddog Democrataidd: Janine Owen 

Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224030 

E-bost: JanineOwen@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau



 
 

   Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL  
AELODAETH - 10 AELOD 

Cynghorydd Portffolio 

Cynghorydd Emlyn 
Dole 
 

Arweinydd 
Arweinyddiaeth a Strategaeth Gorfforaethol; Cadeirydd y Bwrdd Gweithredol; 
Cynrychioli’r Cyngor ar CLlLC; Datblygu Economaidd; Yn cynrychioli’r Cyngor 
ar Ranbarth Dinas Bae Abertawe; Cydweithio; Marchnata a'r Cyfryngau; 
Penodi Aelodau o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol; Penderfynu ar bortffolios ABG; 
Cyswllt â`r Prif Weithredwr; Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 

Cynghorydd Mair 
Stephens 
 

Dirprwy Arweinydd  

Rheolwr Busnes y Cyngor; Adnoddau Dynol; Rheoli Perfformiad; Archwilio 
Cymru; Hyfforddiant; T.G.Ch; T.I.C. Cynllunio strategol 

Cynghorydd Ann 
Davies 
 

Cymunedau a Materion Gwledig  

Materion Gwledig ac Ymgysylltu â'r Gymuned; Diogelwch Cymunedol; Yr 
Heddlu; Deddf Gwrthderfysgaeth a Diogelwch 2015; Trechu Tlodi; Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol; Cyswllt y Trydydd Sector; Cydraddoldeb, 
Strategaeth Newid yn yr Hinsawdd. 

Cynghorydd Glynog 
Davies 
 

Addysg a Phlant 
Ysgolion; Gwasanaethau Plant; Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig; Diogelu; 
Cartrefi Seibiant; Gwasanaeth Gwella Ysgolion Integredig Rhanbarthol; 
Dysgu Oedolion yn y Gymuned; Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid; Gwasanaethau 
Arlwyo Ysgolion, Aelod Arweiniol dros Blant a Phobl Ifanc; Llysgennad 
Ieuenctid 

Cynghorydd Hazel 
Evans 
 

Amgylchedd  

Sbwriel; Clanhau Strydoedd; Gwasanaethau Priffyrdd aThrafnidiaeth; Cynnal 
a Chadw Tiroedd; Gwasanaethau Adeiladu; Gofalu; Clanhau Adeiladau; 
Cynlluniau Argyfwng; Llifogydd, Hawliau Tramwy Cyhoeddus. 

Cynghorydd Linda 
Evans 
 

Tai  
Tai - Cyhoeddus; Tai - Preifat; Heneiddio'n dda 

Cynghorydd Peter 
Hughes Griffiths 
 

Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth  

Llysgennad Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned; Datblygu'r Iaith Gymraeg; 
Theatrau; Chwaraeon; Canolfannau Hamdden; Amgueddfeydd; Llyfrgelloedd; 
Parciau Gwledig; Twristiaeth. 

Cynghorydd Philip 
Hughes 
 

Diogelu'r Cyhoedd  

Safonau Masnach; Iechyd yr Amgylchedd. Gorfodaeth Amgylcheddol; 
Gorfodaeth Cynllunio; Gwastraff Didrwydded; Gwasanaethau Parcio; Bio 
amrywiaeth 

Cynghorydd David 
Jenkins 
 

Adnoddau 
Cyllid a’r Gyllideb; Effeithlonrwydd Corfforaethol; Rheoli Eiddo / Asedau; 
Caffael; Budd-daliadau Tai; Refeniw; Gwasanaethau Statudol (Crwneriaid, 
Cofrestryddion, Etholiadol, Arglwydd Rhaglaw); Hyrwyddwr y Lluoedd Arfog; 
Canolfannau Cyswllt a Chanolfannau Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid 

Cynghorydd Jane 
Tremlett 
 

Gofal Cymdeithasol ac Iechyd  

Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol i Oedolion; Gofal Preswyl; Gofal Cartref; 
Anableddau Dysgu; Iechyd Meddwl; Cyswllt / Cydweithio / Integreiddio â’r 
GIG; Gwasanaethau Arlwyo Cartefi Gofal, Pencampwr Gofalwyr; Llysgennad 
Anabledd; Pencampwr Gofal Dementia 



 
 

 
  

 

A G E N D A   
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL   

3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFODYDD Y 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y DYDDIADAU 
CANLYNOL:- 

 

3 .1 24AIN O FAI 2021 5 - 10 

3 .2 1AF O FEHEFIN 2021 11 - 14 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU   

5. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD   

6. POLISI TELEDU CYLCH CYFYNG Y CYNGOR  15 - 30 

7. HYRWYDDO CAFFAEL BLAENGAR  31 - 120 

8. CYNLLUN ADFER A CHYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD SIR 
GAERFYRDDIN  

121 - 170 

9. CYLLID GRANT ADFYWIO AR GYFER Y DYFODOL.  171 - 178 

10. ADRODDIAD CYNNYDD YNGHYLCH SEFYDLU CYD-BWYLLGOR 
CORFFORAETHOL DE-ORLLEWIN CYMRU  

179 - 192 

11. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN 
FATER BRYS YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 

BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 

Dydd Llun, 24 Mai 2021 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:  
C.A. Davies, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, L.D. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-Griffiths, 
D.M. Jenkins, L.M. Stephens a J. Tremlett 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Y Cynghorwyr D.M. Cundy 
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod: 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
R. Mullen, Cyfarwyddwr yr Amgylchedd 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 
H. Pugh, Pennaeth Dros Dro Archwilio, Riag a Chaffael 
I.R. Llewelyn, Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd 
D. Hockenhull, Rheolwr y Cyfryngau a Marchnata 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cefnogi Bwrdd Gweithredol 
E. Evans, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
M. Evans Thomas, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Rhith-Gyfarfod - 10.00 yb  - 10.50 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 

Y Cynghorydd Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

C. A. Davies 10 - Cyllid Llywodraeth y DU Llwybr beicio yn mynd trwy'r 
fferm y mae ei gŵr yn ei 
rheoli. 

L.M. Stephens 12 - Y Wybodaeth 

Ddiweddaraf am Raglen 

Gyfalaf 2020/21 

Llywodraethwr Ysgol – Ysgol 
Bro Myrddin. 

P. Hughes-
Griffiths 

12 - Y Wybodaeth 

Ddiweddaraf am Raglen 

Gyfalaf 2020/21 

Llywodraethwr Ysgol - Ysgol 
Bro Myrddin. 

 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3.1



 

 
 

 
3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y BWRDD 

GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y 26AIN EBRILL, 2021 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 26 Ebrill 2021 gan eu bod yn gofnod cywir.  
 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

6. HYRWYDDO CAFFAEL BLAENGAR 
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Bwrdd Gweithredol fod yr adroddiad wedi'i dynnu'n ôl hyd 
nes y bydd y Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol yn ei ystyried.  Nodwyd y byddai'r 
adroddiad ac unrhyw argymhellion Craffu yn cael eu hystyried gan y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol yn ddiweddarach.  
 

7. CYNLLUN ADFER A CHYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD SIR GAERFYRDDIN 
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Bwrdd Gweithredol fod yr adroddiad wedi'i dynnu'n ôl hyd 
nes y bydd y Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol yn ei ystyried. Nodwyd y byddai'r 
adroddiad ac unrhyw argymhellion Craffu yn cael eu hystyried gan y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol yn ddiweddarach.  
 

8. GORCHMYNION DATBLYGU LLEOL DRAFFT CANOL TREFI RHYDAMAN A 
CHAERFYRDDIN 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad yn nodi cynnydd a chynigion mewn 
perthynas â pharatoi Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol (LDO) ar gyfer Canol Trefi 
Rhydaman a Chaerfyrddin.   
 
Dywedodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd fod y cyfnod ymgynghori ar gyfer y Gorchmynion 
Datblygu Lleol Drafft wedi cychwyn ar 12 Ionawr, 2021 ac wedi dod i ben ar 26 
Chwefror, 2021. Nodwyd bod tua 19 o sylwadau wedi dod i law gan ystod o 
sefydliadau a phartïon â diddordeb. 
 
Dywedwyd, ers yr achosion o COVID-19, fod busnesau yng nghanol trefi 
Caerfyrddin a Rhydaman wedi ei chael hi'n anodd, a bod rhai busnesau wedi 
penderfynu cau.  Ceisiodd yr adroddiad fynd i’r afael â’r sefyllfa dros dro hon trwy 
ystyried a dynodi Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol ar gyfer Canol Trefi Rhydaman a 
Chaerfyrddin.   
 
 Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Bwrdd y byddai Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol yn symleiddio'r 
broses gynllunio trwy ddileu'r angen am geisiadau cynllunio, gan ganiatáu i 
ddatblygwyr fwrw ymlaen yn gyflymach a chyda sicrwydd wrth leihau costau. Yng 
nghanol trefi, byddai Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol yn helpu i fynd i'r afael â'r 
broblem yn ymwneud ag eiddo gwag i gael canol trefi mwy hyfyw a bywiog.   

Tudalen 6



 

 
 

 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR: 
 
8.1 ystyried y sylwadau sydd wedi dod i law mewn perthynas â'r 

Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol Drafft ar gyfer Canol Trefi Rhydaman a 
Chaerfyrddin. 

8.2 cymeradwyo argymhellion yr adroddiad. 
8.3 cymeradwyo cyflwyno'r Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol (sy'n cynnwys 

argymhellion yr adroddiad hwn, a'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am 
dystiolaeth) i Lywodraeth Cymru gael cytuno arno (yn amodol ar 
Asesiad o'r Effaith Amgylcheddol boddhaol). 

8.4 rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r swyddogion wneud addasiadau 
teipograffyddol neu ffeithiol ansylweddol yn ôl yr angen, i wella 
eglurder a chywirdeb y Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol a diweddaru'r 
sylfaen dystiolaeth a gwneud unrhyw newidiadau canlyniadol i'r 
Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol, a sicrhau bod unrhyw faterion ychwanegol 
o ran cydymffurfiaeth gyfreithiol hefyd yn cael eu hintegreiddio. 

 
9. CRONFA LIFOGYDD A SEILWAITH BUSNESAU SIR GAERFYRDDIN 

 
Cafodd y Bwrdd Gweithredol adroddiad yn gofyn am ystyried pecyn cymorth 
cyffredinol ar gyfer busnesau sy'n adfer yn dilyn Covid-19 a llifogydd. 
 
Nodwyd bod busnesau yn Sir Gaerfyrddin wedi parhau i ddioddef o achos y nifer 
cynyddol o lifogydd yn sgil stormydd.  Oherwydd hyn, cyflwynwyd a 
chymeradwywyd adroddiad yng nghyfarfod yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol – 
Arweinydd ar 17 Mawrth er mwyn cymeradwyo parhad y Gronfa Lifogydd 
Busnesau wreiddiol i gynorthwyo busnesau Sir Gaerfyrddin. Roedd adroddiad yr 
Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol hefyd yn cymeradwyo defnyddio’r gyllideb sy’n 
weddill (£96k) o’r £200k gwreiddiol a neilltuwyd o Gronfa Mentrau Gwledig Sir 
Gaerfyrddin i gyflawni’r Gronfa Lifogydd Busnesau yn 2018. Roedd y 
gymeradwyaeth hefyd yn cynnwys diwygiad i'r meini prawf cymhwysedd 
gwreiddiol i alluogi busnesau y mae llifogydd wedi effeithio arnynt yn ystod y tair 
blynedd diwethaf i gael cymorth ariannol ar gyfer prosiectau rhagweithiol i ddiogelu 
eu heiddo rhag difrod a achosir gan lifogydd yn y dyfodol. 
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Bwrdd y byddai cymorth yn cael ei roi i ddatblygu prosiect yn 
Llangadog a fyddai o fudd i'r gymuned ac i gyflogwr lleol mawr yn y dref. Roedd 
trafodaethau cychwynnol wedi digwydd gyda Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru a Cambrian 
Pet Foods mewn perthynas â phrosiect partneriaeth posibl gyda phob parti’n 
ariannu traean o gostau prosiect i fynd i’r afael â llifogydd rheolaidd sy’n effeithio 
ar y briffordd, busnesau lleol a thrigolion fel ei gilydd a byddai tua £50k yn cael ei 
ddyrannu i'r cynllun hwn. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo pecyn cymorth cyffredinol i 
fusnesau sy'n adfer ar ôl Covid-19 a llifogydd drwy: 
 
9.1 neilltuo £25k o'r Cronfeydd Cyfalaf Adfywio presennol ar gyfer caffael 

stoc o ddadleithyddion (amcangyfrifir eu bod yn costio £1,500 fesul 
eitem, 16 uned i gyd) i'w cadw’n ganolog ac yna eu benthyca i helpu 
busnesau yr effeithir arnynt  i fynd i'r afael â difrod llifogydd ar unwaith.  

Tudalen 7



 

 
 

9.2 neilltuo'r £96k sy'n weddill o'r dyraniad cychwynnol o £200k o Gronfa 
Mentrau Gwledig Sir Gaerfyrddin (fel y'i cymeradwywyd yng nghyfarfod 
yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol - Arweinydd ar 17 Mawrth 2021). 

9.3 neilltuo £200k o gronfeydd Cyfalaf Adfywio presennol i ymgymryd â 
phrosiectau peilot i wneud  gwaith mewn partneriaeth â rhanddeiliaid 
allweddol a busnesau yr effeithir arnynt i wella amddiffynfeydd llifogydd 
ac atal llifogydd rheolaidd i wella seilwaith a hynny am uchafswm o hyd 
at 50k y prosiect. 

 
10. CYLLID LLYWODRAETH Y DU 

 
[SYLWER: Gan fod y Cynghorydd C. A. Davies wedi datgan buddiant yn y mater 
hwn yn gynharach, gadawodd y cyfarfod.] 
 
Cafodd y Bwrdd Gweithredol adroddiad  a oedd yn rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf 
ynglŷn â chyfleoedd cyllido Llywodraeth y DU a fyddai'n effeithio ar Sir 
Gaerfyrddin. 
 
Nodwyd, wrth gyhoeddi cyllideb Llywodraeth y DU ar 3 Mawrth 2021, y  
cyhoeddodd Canghellor y DU nifer o fentrau a rhaglenni cyllido newydd. Roedd yr 
adroddiad yn rhoi sylw i ddwy o'r rhaglenni newydd, Cronfa Codi'r Gwastad a'r 
Gronfa Adfywio Cymunedol. 
 
Dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod £800m ar gael trwy Gronfa Codi'r Gwastad i Gymru, 
yr Alban a Gogledd Iwerddon dros bedair blynedd. Byddai'r Gronfa yn buddsoddi 
mewn ystod o flaenoriaethau buddsoddi lleol gan gynnwys cynlluniau trafnidiaeth 
lleol, prosiectau adfywio ac asedau diwylliannol. Byddai ymgeiswyr yn cael eu 
hannog i gynnwys cyfraniad ariannol lleol  sydd o leiaf 10% o gyfanswm y costau.   
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Bwrdd fod Cronfa Codi'r Gwastad yn gronfa gyfalaf yn unig, 
a weinyddir gan Drysorlys Ei Mawrhydi (HMT), y Weinyddiaeth Tai, Cymunedau a 
Llywodraeth Leol (MHCLG) a'r Adran Drafnidiaeth (DfT). Byddai cyllid yn cael ei 
ddarparu'n uniongyrchol trwy Awdurdodau Lleol, ac ymgynghorir â Llywodraeth 
Cymru wrth asesu cynigion perthnasol.   
 
Mae nifer y cynigion y gallai awdurdod lleol eu gwneud yn seiliedig ar nifer yr 
Aelodau Seneddol yn ei ardal; gan fod Sir Gaerfyrddin yn rhan o 3 etholaeth 
seneddol wahanol, byddai cyfle i gyflwyno hyd at 3 chais yn cwmpasu'r Sir (2 
mewn perthynas ag etholaethau yn gyfan gwbl yn Sir Gaerfyrddin ac 1 ar y cyd lle 
mae'r etholaeth yn un drawsffiniol). O ran Gorllewin Caerfyrddin, (etholaeth ar y 
cyd â De Sir Benfro), byddai angen ymgysylltu â Chyngor Sir Penfro a chyflwyno 
cynnig ar y cyd. Yn ogystal, gallai Awdurdodau Lleol gyflwyno un cais o ran 
trafnidiaeth. Byddai ceisiadau o ran trafnidiaeth yn unig yn cael eu dyrannu'n 
annibynnol ar ffiniau etholaeth ac yn destun proses achos busnes fanylach. 
Nodwyd bod yn rhaid cyflwyno ceisiadau am y rownd gyntaf o gyllid i Lywodraeth y 
DU erbyn 18 Mehefin 2021.  
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Bwrdd y byddai'r Gronfa Adfywio Cymunedol gwerth £220m 
yn rhoi cymorth i gymunedau dreialu prosiectau a dulliau newydd cyn Cronfa 
Ffyniant Gyffredin y DU a fyddai'n cael ei lansio yn 2022. Dywedodd yr Arweinydd 
y byddai'r gronfa'n gyllid refeniw o 90% a bod angen cwblhau'r holl brosiectau yn 
ariannol erbyn 31 Mawrth 2022. Byddai'r Gronfa yn broses gystadleuol ac ni fyddai 
unrhyw gymhwysedd yn cael ei osod ymlaen llaw.  Roedd Llywodraeth y DU wedi 

Tudalen 8



 

 
 

nodi 100 o leoedd â blaenoriaeth a nodwyd Sir Gaerfyrddin ymhlith y 100 lle hyn. 
Roedd Sir Gaerfyrddin hefyd wedi'i nodi fel awdurdod arweiniol a byddai disgwyl 
iddi wahodd cynigion am brosiectau a gwerthuso a blaenoriaethu rhestr fer o 
brosiectau hyd at uchafswm o £3 miliwn y lle. Byddai'r rhestr fer o brosiectau yn 
cael ei chyflwyno i'r Weinyddiaeth Tai, Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol erbyn 18 
Mehefin 2021.  

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 

10.1 gymeradwyo'n ôl-weithredol y broses a sefydlwyd ar gyfer y Gronfa 
Adfywio Cymunedol yn Sir Gaerfyrddin.  

10.2 ystyried a chymeradwyo'r ceisiadau a gyflwynwyd dan Gronfa Codi'r 
Gwastad. 

 
11. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB REFENIW Y CYNGOR 

 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb refeniw a oedd yn 
rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y sefyllfa gyllidebol fel yr oedd ar 28   Chwefror 
2021, o ran 2020/2021. Roedd y sefyllfa gyllidebol yn cydnabod y pwysau 
ychwanegol sylweddol a roddwyd ar yr Awdurdod wrth ymateb i bandemig Covid-
19 a'r gefnogaeth a ddarparwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 
 

Yn gyffredinol, roedd yr adroddiad monitro yn rhagweld y byddai tanwariant 
diwedd blwyddyn o £1,980k ar gyllideb refeniw net yr Awdurdod ac y byddai 
tanwariant o £1,872k ar lefel adrannol.     

 
Er bod adroddiadau yn gynharach yn y flwyddyn wedi dangos gorwariant 
sylweddol oherwydd effaith Covid-19, nododd y Bwrdd Gweithredol fod y sefyllfa a 
ragwelir ar hyn o bryd wedi gwella'n sylweddol, gyda'r costau ychwanegol sy'n 
gysylltiedig â Covid-19 a'r incwm a gollwyd yn cael eu had-dalu'n bennaf o gynllun 
caledi Llywodraeth Cymru. 
 
Nodwyd hefyd, er y byddai tanwariant cyllideb refeniw yn cael ei ystyried yn 

ffafriol, dengys y manylion a amlinellwyd yn yr adroddiad fod hyn yn parhau i 

effeithio ar ddarparu gwasanaethau rheng flaen yn ogystal â lleihau/atal rhai 

gwasanaethau ataliol yn anochel. Roedd hyn, ynghyd ag unrhyw oedi parhaus 

wrth gyflawni arbedion, yn peri risg sylweddol i gyllidebau yn y dyfodol. 

Dangosir yn Atodiad A i'r adroddiad y sylwadau ar yr amrywiannau penodol yn y 
gyllideb lle nodwyd tybiaethau 
 
Nododd Aelodau'r Bwrdd Gweithredol fod yr adroddiad yn nodi bod casglu'r Dreth 
Gyngor yn parhau i fod yn faes sy'n peri pryder sylweddol. Gwelodd Sir 
Gaerfyrddin ostyngiad amlwg mewn taliadau yn ystod y chwarter cyntaf, ac mae'n 
annhebygol y bydd yn adfer yn llawn yn ystod y flwyddyn. Er bod Llywodraeth 
Cymru wedi darparu cymorth ariannol, wedi'i ddyrannu ar sail fformiwla Grant 
Cynnal Refeniw, rhagwelwyd y byddai diffyg arian yn gyffredinol o hyd. Roedd y 
cynnydd yn y ddarpariaeth ddrwgddyled bellach wedi'i hadlewyrchu yn y rhagolwg.  

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 

Tudalen 9



 

 
 

11.1 Dderbyn adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb, a rhoi ystyriaeth i'r sefyllfa 
gyllidebol a'r camau unioni priodol.  

11.2 Bod y Prif Swyddogion a'r Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth yn adolygu'r 
opsiynau sydd ar gael iddynt yn feirniadol i gyfyngu ar y gorwariant a 
ragwelwyd ar gyllidebau, yn ogystal â chydnabod y pwysau y mae 
Covid-19 wedi'u rhoi ar gyllideb gyffredinol yr Awdurdod.  

 
12. DIWEDDARU RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2020-21 

 
[Noder: Datganodd y Cynghorydd L.M. Stephens a P. Hughes-Griffiths fuddiant tra 
oedd yr eitem hon yn cael ei hystyried.] 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi'r wybodaeth 
ddiweddaraf am sefyllfa ddiweddaraf y gyllideb ar gyfer rhaglen gyfalaf 2020/21 ar 
28 Chwefror, 2021. 
 
Roedd Atodiad A a atodwyd i'r adroddiad yn rhagweld gwariant net o £34,525k o 
gymharu â chyllideb net weithredol o £76,120k gan roi £41,595k o amrywiant. 
Dywedodd yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Adnoddau fod yr amrywiant 
sylweddol a ragwelir ar hyn o bryd yn parhau i gael ei briodoli i raddau helaeth i'r 
cyfyngiadau sy'n gysylltiedig â phandemig Covid-19 a’i fod yn dilyn addasiad i’r 
cyllidebau i gyfleu bod £38m wedi'i lithro i'r blynyddoedd i ddod. 
 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ar Gynlluniau ychwanegol i'r Rhaglen Gyfalaf a oedd 
yn gofyn am gymeradwyaeth y Bwrdd Gweithredol. 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd yn ystyried y prif amrywiannau a nodwyd ym mhob adran a oedd wedi'u 
cynnwys yn yr adroddiad yn Atodiad B. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
 
12.1 dderbyn adroddiad diweddaru'r rhaglen gyfalaf.  
12.2 bod y prosiectau ychwanegol y manylir arnynt yn yr adroddiad yn cael 
eu cymeradwyo.  
 

13. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 10



 

 
 

BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 

Dydd Mawrth, 1 Mehefin 2021 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:  
C.A. Davies, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, L.D. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-Griffiths, 
D.M. Jenkins, L.M. Stephens a/ac J. Tremlett 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Y Cynghorwyr: J.S. Edmunds a/ac D.M. Cundy 
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod: 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
R. Mullen, Cyfarwyddwr yr Amgylchedd 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 
R. Hemingway, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Ariannol 
N. Daniel, Pennaeth TGCh a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
J. Jones, Rheolwr Eiddo a Phrosiectau Mawr 
D. Hockenhull, Rheolwr y Cyfryngau a Marchnata 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cefnogi Bwrdd Gweithredol 
L Morris, Uwch Swyddog Y Wasg 
S. Hendy, Swyddog Cefnogi Aelodau 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Siambr,  Neuadd Y Sir, Caerfyrddin, SA31 1JP - 10.00  - 10.50 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 
Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw fuddiannau personol. 
 

3. EFFAITH CREDYD CYNHWYSOL A COVID-19 AR ÔL-DDYLEDION RHENT 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

4. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

5. STRATEGAETH TRAWSNEWID DIGIDOL 2021-2024 
 

Tudalen 11

Eitem Rhif  3.2



 

 
 

Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad ar fabwysiadu Strategaeth 
Trawsnewid Digidol ar gyfer y cyfnod 2021-2024. Nodwyd bod y Strategaeth, a 
fyddai'n disodli strategaeth 2017-20, yn seiliedig ar y cynnydd a wnaed dros y 
pedair blynedd diwethaf, roedd yn manylu ar flaenoriaethau a dyheadau digidol 
strategol y Cyngor ac yn amlinellu'r hyn yr oedd angen ei wneud i gyflawni'r 
weledigaeth ar gyfer Sir Gaerfyrddin ddigidol dros y tair blynedd nesaf. 
 
Nodwyd bod y Strategaeth yn rhoi eglurder ynghylch:- 

 Y weledigaeth ddigidol ar gyfer Sir Gaerfyrddin 

 Beth yw Strategaeth Trawsnewid Digidol 

 Adeiladu Sylfeini Digidol yn Sir Gaerfyrddin 

 Meysydd Blaenoriaeth allweddol 

 Y prosiectau allweddol a'r deilliannau sydd i'w cyflawni 

 Yr Adnoddau sydd eu hangen i gyflawni'r weledigaeth ddigidol. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo Strategaeth Trawsnewid 
Digidol 2021-2024. 
 

6. ACHREDIAD YMGYRCH Y RHUBAN GWYN 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad ynghylch y Cyngor yn ymgeisio o’r 
newydd am achrediad gan Ymgyrch y Rhuban Gwyn i ddod â thrais gan ddynion 
yn erbyn menywod i ben.  Nodwyd bod yr Achrediad blaenorol, a dderbyniwyd ym 
mis Awst 2018, bellach wedi dod i ben ac er mwyn adnewyddu’r achrediad roedd y 
Cyngor wedi paratoi Cynllun Gweithredu i'w gyflwyno a chael ei gymeradwyo gan 
Ymgyrch y Rhuban Gwyn. Drwy gefnogi'r ymgyrch a chodi ymwybyddiaeth o gam-
drin domestig, byddai'r Cyngor yn gweithio i fynd i'r afael â phob math o gam-drin 
a thrais, nid yn unig gan ddynion yn erbyn menywod. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
6.1 Cefnogi cais y Cyngor am statws y Rhuban Gwyn; 
6.2 Cymeradwyo'r Cynllun Gweithredu i'w gyflwyno i Ymgyrch y 

Rhuban Gwyn i sicrhau achrediad, gan ddangos ymrwymiad y 
Cyngor i ddod â thrais gan ddynion yn erbyn menywod i ben; 

6.3 Cefnogi'r ymrwymiad a'r cyfranogiad sy'n ofynnol gan 
swyddogion ar draws y cyngor i roi'r Cynllun Gweithredu ar 
waith. 

 
7. EFFAITH CREDYD CYNHWYSOL A COVID-19 AR ÔL-DDYLEDION RHENT 

 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad ar effaith Credyd Cynhwysol a 
Covid-19 ar ôl-ddyledion rhent Tai Cyngor. Nododd y Bwrdd mai nod yr adroddiad 
oedd:- 

 Rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am lefel yr ôl-ddyledion rhent gan denantiaid 
y Cyngor; 

 amlinellu cynlluniau sydd wedi cael eu rhoi ar waith i liniaru'r effaith a 
chefnogi tenantiaethau ar hyn o bryd ac yn y dyfodol; 

 ceisio cymeradwyaeth i gynnal achos llys lle mae pob cam arall i ymgysylltu 
a chefnogi tenantiaethau wedi methu. 

 
Roedd yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Dai wedi tynnu sylw'r Bwrdd at lefel yr 
ôl-ddyledion rhent a nodwyd ar dudalen 65 yr adroddiad sef £1.537m ar ddiwedd 

Tudalen 12



 

 
 

blwyddyn ariannol 2020/21, a dywedodd y dylid cywiro'r ffigur a nodi £1.193m, sef 
cynnydd o £69k o'i gymharu â blwyddyn ariannol 2019/20. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL 
7.1 Nodi lefel bresennol yr ôl-ddyledion rhent ac effaith Credyd 

Cynhwysol a COVID-19; 
7.2 Nodi'r cymorth sy'n cael ei ddarparu i liniaru effeithiau Credyd 

Cynhwysol a COVID-19;  
7.3 Cadarnhau y bydd y cymorth ariannol yn cael ei ymestyn o 

£100,000 i £200,000 i helpu tenantiaid sy'n cael anawsterau, lle 
mae COVID-19 a chaledi ariannol arall wedi effeithio ar eu 
hincwm; 

7.4 Cadarnhau i ailgychwyn camau gorfodi a dechrau cychwyn 
achos llys lle mae pob dull arall o ymgysylltu a chefnogi 
tenantiaid wedi methu. 

 
8. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 

AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 

9. GORCHYMYN I'R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y CYFARFOD 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL, yn unol â Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972, 
fel y'i newidiwyd gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) 
(Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007, orchymyn i'r cyhoedd adael y cyfarfod tra oedd yr 
eitemau canlynol yn cael eu hystyried, gan fod yr adroddiadau'n cynnwys 
gwybodaeth eithriedig fel y'i diffiniwyd ym mharagraff 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 
12A i'r Ddeddf. 
 

10. DATBLYGIAD PRESWYL AR DIR YNG NGORLLEWIN CAERFYRDDIN 
 
Ar ôl cynnal prawf budd y cyhoedd PENDERFYNWYD, yn unol â'r Ddeddf y 
cyfeiriwyd ati yng nghofnod rhif 9 uchod, beidio â chyhoeddi cynnwys yr 
adroddiad gan ei fod yn cynnwys gwybodaeth eithriedig am faterion ariannol 
neu faterion busnes unigolyn penodol (gan gynnwys yr Awdurdod oedd yn 
meddu ar y wybodaeth honno) (Paragraff 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A i'r 
Ddeddf). Roedd prawf budd y cyhoedd mewn perthynas â'r adroddiad hwn 
yn drech na'r budd i'r cyhoedd o ran datgelu'r wybodaeth a geir ynddo 
oherwydd byddai datgelu'r wybodaeth hon yn anfantais faterol i'r awdurdod 
mewn unrhyw drafodaethau dilynol â thrydydd partïon, a gallai gael effaith 
niweidiol ar y pwrs cyhoeddus.  
 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad ynghylch gwaredu tir sy’n eiddo i’r 
Cyngor yng Ngorllewin Caerfyrddin. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
 
10.1. gymeradwyo gwaredu'r tir datblygu preswyl yng Ngorllewin 

Caerfyrddin drwy weithdrefn gaffael agored i alluogi darparu 
cynllun preswyl deiliadaeth gymysg. 

10.2   Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i Benaethiaid Adfywio a Chartrefi a 

Tudalen 13



 

 
 

Chymunedau Mwy Diogel, mewn ymgynghoriad ag Aelodau 
perthnasol y Bwrdd Gweithredol, i drafod a chofnodi telerau 
priodol ar gyfer gwerthu'r tir a chaffael y cartrefi rhent 
cymdeithasol ar ôl hynny 

 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 14



 

 
 

Polisi Teledu Cylch Cyfyng y Cyngor 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 

 
1. Cymeradwyo'r polisi corfforaethol newydd mewn perthynas â systemau teledu cylch 

cyfyng sy'n eiddo i'r Cyngor mewn mannau cyhoeddus. 

2. Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth i adolygu swyddogion arweiniol yr adrannau i helpu i 
weithredu'r polisi. 

3. Argymell i ysgolion y dylent fabwysiadu egwyddorion y polisi hwn.  

 

 

Y Rhesymau:  
Mae angen gweithredu trefniadau llywodraethu effeithiol er mwyn sicrhau bod defnydd a 
rheolaeth y Cyngor o'i systemau camera teledu cylch cyfyng mewn mannau cyhoeddus yn 
cydymffurfio â'r Ddeddf Diogelu Rhyddidau 2012. 

 

Yn ogystal, mae'n bwysig ymgorffori dull cyson ledled y Cyngor mewn perthynas â holl 
agweddau ei systemau teledu cylch cyfyng.  

 
Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol          Oes 10.06.21 (Polisi ac Adnoddau) 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad         Oes 

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                            Nac Oes 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  
Y Cynghorydd Ann Davies (Cymunedau a Materion Gwledig) 

 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Y Prif Weithredwr 
 

Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: 

Noelwyn Daniel 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Kate Harrop 

Swydd: 

 
 
 

Pennaeth TGCh a Pholisi 
Corfforaethol 

Rheolwr Diogelwch 
Cymunedol 

Rhif Ffôn/Cyfeiriad E-bost: 

 

 

 

01267 224202 

khharrop@sirgar.gov.uk 

 
 

Bwrdd Gweithredol 
21.06.21 

 
 

Tudalen 15

Eitem Rhif  6



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Executive Board 
21st June 2021 

 

Council CCTV Policy 

The Council has in excess of 90 CCTV systems with over 600 cameras in premises plus 79 
vehicles with around 250 cameras and also approximately 25 body worn cameras.  
Departments use surveillance camera devices for various purposes including cameras within 
its premises and car parks as well as on the highway, body worn video camera equipment, 
drones and automatic number plate recognition.  
 
The Council has a duty, under the Protection of Freedoms Act (PoFA) 2012, to pay due regard 
to the Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice in 2013 which relates to CCTV 
cameras in public places. The Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code has 12 guiding 
principles to ensure there is a clear rationale for all cameras, that their use is proportionate and 
transparent, that systems are run effectively and can provide good quality images: 
 

1. Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose which is in 
pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified pressing need 

2. The use of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on individuals 
and their privacy, with regular reviews to ensure its use remains justified 

3. There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera system as 
possible, including a published contact point for access to information and complaints 

4. There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance cameras system 
activities including images and information collected, held and used 

5. Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance camera system 
is used, and these must be communicated to all who need to comply with them 

6. No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly required for 
the stated purpose of a surveillance camera system, and such images and information 
should be deleted once their purposes have been discharged 

7. Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there must be clearly 
defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose such access is granted; the 
disclosure of images and information should only take place when it is necessary for such 
a purpose or for law enforcement purposes 

8. Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved operational, 
technical and competency standards relevant to a system and its purpose and work to 
meet and maintain those standards 

9. Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to appropriate 
security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and use 

10. There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal requirements, 
policies and standards are complied with in practice, and regular reports should be 
published 

11. When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate aim, and there 
is a pressing need for its use, it should then be used in the most effective way to support 
public safety and law enforcement with the aim of processing images and information of 
evidential value 

Tudalen 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice


 

12. Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which compares against a 
reference database for matching purposes should be accurate and kept up to date. 

The Surveillance Camera Commissioner requires each Local Authority to identify a Senior 
Responsible Officer to deliver a corporate approach to their responsibilities under the POFA.  
This role is being undertaken by Noelwyn Daniel, Head of ICT and Corporate Policy.   
 
A corporate review in 2015 aimed to audit council camera systems in public places, review levels 
of compliance with the Code, identify any areas of improvement, optimise service cost and 
delivery and develop any guidance needed by departments. An officer working group was then 
established in 2017, consisting of leads from departments with CCTV systems, to implement the 
review’s recommendations. Significant work has been undertaken to put in place the required 
documentation to comply with the Code of Practice including Self-Assessment Templates (SATs) 
and Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs). 

This policy has been developed to ensure both compliance with the Code of Practice by all 
relevant services and to ensure a consistent approach to the gathering, storage, use and 
disposal of CCTV system recorded data. This policy covers all overt CCTV systems used by 
the Council but does not cover Carmarthenshire schools.   

In addition to implementing the Council policy for CCTV, future areas of work include: 

 standardising and updating SATs for each system, ensuring these are published on 
the council’s website alongside the DPIAs, with annual reviews of all documents 

 introduction of corporate signage 

 common approach introduced for the planning and commissioning of new systems 
and amendments to existing ones, including a public consultation approach 

 ensuring details of all CCTV systems, policy documents, legislation, procedures and 
templates are available on the intranet 

 applying for third-party certification to demonstrate the council is adhering to the 
highest standards and that the cameras are being used proportionately, effectively 
and efficiently. 

 
A bid for a 12 month dedicated resource to lead on the delivery of this work, in liaison with 
departmental leads, to the Risk Management Steering Group has been successful and this 
post will now be advertised. 
 

 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

Council CCTV Policy  
 

Tudalen 17



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal   

The Council has a duty, under the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, to pay due regard to the 
Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 which relates to CCTV cameras in 
public places. A failure on the part of any person to act in accordance with any provision of 
this code does not of itself make that person liable to criminal or civil proceedings. This code 
is, however, admissible in evidence in criminal or civil proceedings, and a court or tribunal 
may take into account a failure by a relevant authority to have regard to the code in 
determining a question in any such proceedings and could ultimately result in the Council 
having to pay compensation. 

 
Staffing Implications 

Meeting the Code of Practice’s requirements has involved additional staff resources to 
date.  Implementation of the policy and the additional areas identified will involve a further 
commitment to be undertaken by relevant officers in the Council and also a dedicated 
resource if made available. 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed:    Noelwyn Daniel, Head of ICT and Corporate Policy 
 

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  

 

 

YES 

 

 

NONE 

 

 

NONE 

 

 

NONE 

 

 

YES 

 

 

NONE 

 

 
Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

By implementing the CCTV Policy and ensuring a corporate approach to meet the 
requirements of the Surveillance Camera Commissioner, the council will continue to utilise 
surveillance camera devices to reduce crime and disorder locally, in line with Section 17 of 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

Tudalen 18



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 

 

Signed: Noelwyn Daniel, Head of ICT and Corporate Policy  

 
1. Scrutiny Committee - NA 

 

2.Local Member(s) - NA  

 

3.Community / Town Council - NA 

 

4.Relevant Partners - NA 

 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations - NA 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

 

 
 

Title of Document 
 

Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Home Office 
Surveillance Camera 
Code of Practice 2013 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-
code-of-practice 
 
Or available through Kate Harrop 
khharrop@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 
01267 224202 
 

 
 

Tudalen 19

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice
mailto:khharrop@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
 

CLOSED CIRCUIT 
TELEVISION POLICY 
Insert project name or 
document title here 
 

carmarthenshire.gov.wales 

Tudalen 21



 

 

Contents 

 

Introduction  1 

 

Objectives  1 

 

Legislation  2 

 

Responsibilities  2 

 

CCTV Operations 4 

 

Purchasing and Deployment of CCTV Cameras 4 

 

Monitoring 5 

 

Viewing Images 6 

 

Signage 7 

 

Storage and Retention  7 

 

Inspections 8 

 

Health and Safety 8 

 

Complaints 8 

Tudalen 22



1 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The following policy relates to surveillance camera equipment and the gathering, storage, use 

and disposal of Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) system recorded data. The Council uses 
surveillance camera devices for various purposes. These include CCTV systems within council 
premises and car parks as well as on the highway, body worn video camera equipment, drones 
and automatic number plate recognition. In this policy, such devices shall be referred to as 
'CCTV systems'. 
 

1.2 Use of cameras and other electronic recording devices in public places has escalated over 
recent years and the advance of technology has meant that the variety of devices available 
has expanded. Whilst these perform a useful role in preventing and detecting crime and 
keeping people and property safe, such use has led to much greater intrusion into the private 
lives of individuals going about their lawful business. This policy aims to set out standards 
relating to the use of such equipment that maximises effectiveness whilst at the same time 
minimises interference with the privacy of individuals whose images are captured by the 
devices. 
 

1.3 This policy covers all overt CCTV systems used by the Council but does not cover 
Carmarthenshire schools.   
 

1.4 Carmarthenshire County Council is referred to as 'the Council' throughout this policy. 
 

1.5 This document should be read in conjunction with relevant codes of practice from both the 
Biometrics and Surveillance Camera Commissioner and the Information Commissioner.  
 

1.6 Details of all CCTV systems, policy documents, legislation, procedures and templates will be 
made available on the council's intranet.  
 

1.7 Officers undertaking covert surveillance with or without recording devices must comply with 
the requirements of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and the Codes of 
Practice issued pursuant to that legislation. This policy does not apply to such activities. 

 
 
 

2. Objectives 
 
2.1 It is important that everyone and especially those charged with operating the CCTV systems 

on behalf of the Council understand exactly why each of the CCTV systems and each camera 
used as part of a CCTV system has been introduced and what the cameras should and should 
not be used for. 
 

2.2 Each CCTV system will have its own site or task specific objectives. These could include some 
or all the following: 

 Protecting areas and premises used by council officers and the public. 
 Deterring and detecting crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 Assisting in the identification of and apprehension of offenders. 

Tudalen 23



2 
 

 Deterring violent or aggressive behaviour towards council officers. 
 On-site traffic and car park management. 
 Monitoring traffic movement. 
 Identifying those who have contravened parking regulations. Assisting in traffic regulation 

enforcement. 
 Protecting council property and assets. 
 Assisting in grievances, formal complaints and investigations. 

 
 
 

3. Legislation 
 
3.1 CCTV systems are subject to legislation under: 
 

 The Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) 
 UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR) 
 The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA)  
 The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA)  
 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (POFA) 
 The Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996 
 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). 

 
 
 

4. Responsibilities 

 

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) 

 
4.1 The SRO ensures the delivery of a corporate approach to the Local Authority’s responsibilities 

arising from POFA.  The SRO has strategic responsibility for the integrity and efficacy of the 
processes in place within the Local Authority which ensure compliance with POFA and in 
respect of all surveillance cameras operated by the Local Authority. 

 
4.2 The SRO will submit an annual report to CMT providing an update on CCTV, including detailing 

how effective, in the previous year, CCTV systems have proved to be, in meeting the objectives 
listed in Section 2. 

 
4.3 The SRO will ensure the publication of all Self-Assessment Templates (SATs) and Data Protection 

Impact Assessments (DPIAs) on the website and that these are reviewed on an annual basis. 
 
4.4 The SRO will lead on third-party certification to provide evidence of compliance with the 

Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice. 
 
 
CCTV Single Point of Contact  
 
4.5 The CCTV SPOC is the operational lead for all matters relating to surveillance cameras.  They 

are responsible for ensuring all those involved in the use of CCTV systems are aware of current 

Tudalen 24



3 
 

legislation and guidance relating to CCTV systems. This will be done through the Council's 
intranet. 

 
 
The Responsible Officer 
 
4.6 The day-to-day operational responsibility for each CCTV system rests with the designated 

Responsible Officer for each system. A list of all CCTV systems and their Responsible Officer 
will be recorded and made available in a CCTV register on the Council's CCTV intranet page. 
Responsible Officers shall ensure the register is kept updated.  This will also be the case when 
a third party under the direction or control of the Council operates the CCTV system. 

 
4.7 The Responsible Officer shall ensure that council officers involved in the operation of the CCTV 

system are trained in the use of the equipment and are aware of this policy and the procedures 
in place to manage CCTV systems at the council. 

 
4.8 The Responsible Officer should act as the first point of contact for all enquiries relevant to the 

CCTV system and should ensure that only authorised council officers are able to operate or 
view images. 

 
4.9 The Responsible Officer shall investigate any reported misuse of a CCTV system and report it 

immediately to the CCTV SPOC. 
 
4.10 The Responsible Officer shall ensure the CCTV system is operational and take steps to deal 

with any faults as appropriate. 
 
 
Heads of Service 
 
4.11 The overall responsibility for CCTV systems rests with the relevant Head of Service.   This 

includes ensuring all relevant staff are appropriately trained and all systems are used in 
accordance with this policy. 

 
4.12 Heads of Service will nominate a designated lead officer for CCTV who will liaise with the 

Responsible Officers for the system.  
 
 
Lead Officers 
 
4.13 Lead Officers will have oversight of all CCTV systems managed by the service and will be a 

central point of contact and advice in relation to queries from staff on CCTV.  They will be 
responsible for ensuring that SATs are in place for all systems, that the corporate DPIAs cover 
all systems and that these documents are reviewed on an annual basis and available for 
publication.  

4.14 Lead officers will ensure that the necessary steps are taken before installing a new system or 
making changes to existing ones, including the completion of the Passport to Compliance and 
consultation.  

 
 
 

Tudalen 25



4 
 

5. CCTV Operations 
 
5.1 Council officers operating CCTV systems are responsible for operating the equipment in 

accordance with all requirements set out in current legislation, this policy document, relevant 
guidelines, codes of practice and local operational manuals. 

 
5.2 Council officers operating CCTV systems must be familiar with the requirements of the UK 

GDPR and DPA and should complete the Council’s eLearning course which provides an 
introduction to the legislation.  

 

5.3 Council officers involved in the use of CCTV systems shall report any misuse to the Responsible 
Officer and shall cooperate with any investigation by the Responsible Officer. The Responsible 
Officer shall report it immediately to the CCTV SPOC and investigate any reported misuse of a 
CCTV system. 

 

5.4 Council officers operating CCTV systems shall be responsible for bringing any equipment faults 
to the Responsible Officer’s attention immediately. 

 

5.5 A number of council owned CCTV systems are located in premises occupied by third parties. 
In these cases, it is important that there is a clear understanding between the Council and the 
organisation(s) concerned as to who is responsible for each aspect of the CCTV system. This 
should be recorded and signed by both parties. A copy of this document should be given to 
the council’s CCTV SPOC. 

 
 
 

6. Purchasing and Deployment of CCTV Cameras 
 
6.1 Permission must be obtained prior to the procurement of any systems from the Senior 

Responsible Officer – Head of ICT and Corporate Policy. 
 
6.2 Arrangements are being put in place for the procurement of all systems and the maintenance 

of those systems to be undertaken with the assistance of the Council’s Procurement team.   
 
6.3 Those responsible for introducing and operating CCTV systems must ensure that the use of 

cameras is proportionate to the intended objective and that individuals' right to privacy is 
respected at all times. The Passport to Compliance must be completed with a clear operational 
objective for the CCTV system and the relevant DPIA checked to ensure it covers the system. 

 
6.4 Care must be taken to ensure that cameras do not capture images or sounds of private spaces 

such as private houses. 
 
6.5 Covert cameras are not permitted to be deployed under the auspices of this policy. Such 

activities fall under the ambit of RIPA or shadow RIPA and authorisation must be obtained for 
such activity under the relevant RIPA procedures. CCTV systems should normally be clearly 
visible with unobstructed signage situated close to the device informing those in the vicinity 
that they are being monitored and/or recorded. The content of such a sign or notice may differ 
according to the nature of the device being used, the area it is being used in and the purpose 
of its use. 

Tudalen 26



5 
 

 
6.6 The Council does not deploy ‘dummy’ cameras as part of its CCTV systems as these can provide 

a false sense of security. 
 
6.7 The Council does not generally operate cameras that can monitor conversation or be used to 

talk to individuals as this is seen as an unnecessary invasion of privacy. This does not apply to 
body worn camera devices. 

 
6.8 Upon the introduction of a static CCTV system, a map showing the location of the camera 

should be sent to the CCTV SPOC for inclusion in the Council’s central register of CCTV systems.  
 
6.9 Use of CCTV systems should be considered as part of planning a building construction or 

refurbishment. Advice should be obtained from the Designing Out Crime Officer from Dyfed 
Powys Police by contacting 101.  Authorisation for the deployment of CCTV systems should be 
shared at an early stage in building design with the Head of Service for whom the building is 
being constructed. This is so that this policy can be applied and either an alternative method 
adopted or an acceptable CCTV system built into the designs. Information about the CCTV 
system should be retained as part of the file relating to the completed building. 

 
 
 

7. Monitoring 

 
7.1 CCTV system monitors sited in reception areas are intended to provide live monitoring of 

reception areas by council officers. The ability to view the CCTV system monitors must be 
restricted to those authorised to see them. Monitors must not be visible to all entering the 
premises. 

 
7.2 Monitoring of CCTV systems where required will only be carried out by persons authorised by 

the relevant Responsible Officer. 
 
7.3 CCTV will only be subject to the UK GDPR Act if the footage captured “relates to living 

individuals who can be identified” from it. 
 
7.4 If the GDPR Act does apply, the CCTV operator will be required to do a number of things:  
 

 Put up signs notifying people that CCTV is in use (see section 9) 
 Give any individual who requests it, copies of footage of themselves (Subject Access 

Request) in consultation with the Data Protection Officer (see 8.2)  
 Ensure that any footage stored is kept for no longer than necessary for the purposes for 

which it is obtained 
 Ensure that footage is not disclosed to anyone unless it is permitted under an exemption 

contained under the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK GDPR.   
 
7.5 In addition to the obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998, the Human Rights Act 

requires any public authority using CCTV cameras to do so compatibly with Article 8 of the 
convention. 

 

Tudalen 27



6 
 

7.6 The Council uses body worn cameras in order to protect council officers dealing with members 
of public in situations where they are particularly vulnerable to abuse or where there is an 
ongoing need to capture images or speech for evidential purposes. Usage is in accordance 
with the Standard Operating Procedure.  

 
7.7 Details of CCTV systems data collection are included in the Council's privacy notice for CCTV. 
 
 
 

8. Viewing Images 
 
8.1 The casual viewing or trawling of images or sounds captured by a CCTV system is strictly 

forbidden. Viewings must only be carried out for a specific, legitimate purpose. 
 

8.2 Under Article 15 of the GDPR, data subjects have the right to access information held about 
them by the Council and to have a copy of that personal data.  Individuals also have the right 
to access images of themselves recorded on CCTV systems controlled by the Council.  Such 
requests must be made in writing to the Data Protection Officer, County Hall, Carmarthen, SA31 
1 JP dataprotection@carmarthenshire.gov.uk .  Please see our website for further details:  
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/data-protection/ 
In the event of a request being received by another officer, that officer should contact the 
Data Protection Officer to discuss the request.   
 

8.3 On occasion, council services may wish to access images and recordings captured on CCTV 
systems as part of a legitimate investigation into criminal activities, civil claims, potential 
disciplinary matters, complaints, grievances or health and safety issues. Viewings and images 
will only be released to a properly authorised investigating council officer upon the submission 
of a formal request to the Responsible Officer.  The viewing request should include: 
 
 The name of the authorising officer  
 The name and contact details of the person viewing images 
 The reason for viewing the images. 
 
Viewing Requests should be made in a timely manner as the retention period for most CCTV 
systems in operation in the council is one month. Council officers who are subject to council 
disciplinary, complaints or grievance procedures have the right to see and retain footage of 
themselves and can request copies as a Subject Access request as outlined in 8.2.  
 

8.4 On occasion, police officers may request to view images taken from CCTV systems during the 
investigation of criminal activity. This is generally permitted under an exemption found in the 
UK GDPR Act.  

 
8.5 Occasionally insurance companies or solicitors will request footage, generally over disputes 

regarding damage to cars in car parks. As the footage may identify the individual drivers or 
vehicles involved it is classed as personal information. Copies of personal information can be 
requested making a Subject Access Request to the Information and Data Protection Officer – 
see 8.2 for details. 

 

Tudalen 28

mailto:dataprotection@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/data-protection/


7 
 

8.6 Any viewing or disclosure of images must be recorded on the ‘Access and disclosure recording’ 
form. 

 

8.7 A record of all disclosures is kept by the Data Protection Officer for a period of five years after 
administrative use is concluded.  Details of any disclosures will also be recorded on the 
template held relating to the system which records all occasions when images are viewed.  

 
 
 

9. Signage 
 
9.1 All areas where fixed site CCTV is in use should be clearly signed. Such signs warn people that 

they are about to enter an area covered by a CCTV system or to remind them that they are 
still in an area covered by a CCTV system. Signs will also act as an additional deterrent. CCTV 
system signs should not be displayed in areas that do not have CCTV cameras. 

 
9.2 Where body worn cameras are in use, officers using them must wear the appropriate council 

uniform and display a clear notice that this is the case on their person or on the device to 
confirm that they are operating a body worn camera.  Officers will always advise that an 
individual is being recorded as soon as the device is activated. 

 

9.3 Signs should be an appropriate size depending on context. For example, whether they are 
viewed by pedestrians or car drivers. 

 

9.4 Signs should be more prominent and frequent in areas where people are less likely to expect 
that they will be monitored by a CCTV system. This is particularly important when an ANPR 
system is being used that covers a large area. 

 

9.5 Corporate signage will be made available which will: 
 

 Be clearly visible and readable 
 Confirm that the system is operated by the Council and include contact details for the 

Contact Centre 
 Confirm if the system is recorded or monitored or both 
 State the purpose for having a surveillance system in place. 

 

10. Storage and Retention 
 
10.1 CCTV system images are stored generally for 30 days and then overwritten. 

 
10.2 Access to CCTV footage will be kept secure. 

 

10.3 All images will be stored securely.   
 

10.4 All images remain the property and copyright of the Council.  
 

10.5 Each new recording disc will have a unique reference number. 
 

Tudalen 29



8 
 

10.6 All images are time and date stamped. 
 

10.7 Image resolution should be relevant to purpose. 
 

10.8 All media will be confidentially disposed of when no longer needed.  
 

10.9 Recorded material will not be sold or used for commercial purposes.  
 

For further information, please see the Council’s ‘Handling Personal Information Policy and 
Procedure’  
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213588/handling-personal-information-
policy-v30.pdf 

 
 
 

11. Inspections 
 
11.1 CCTV systems at the council can be inspected at any time by: 

 
 The CCTV SPOC. 
 The CCTV SRO 
 The relevant Responsible Officer 
 The relevant Head of Service or their nominated representative 
 A member of the relevant regulatory body. 

 
 
 

12. Health and Safety 
 
12.1 The relevant Responsible Officer should ensure that officers are made aware of and comply 

with all council policies on health and safety, in particular, working with electrical equipment, 
Visual Display Unit regulations and working with heights. 

 
 
 

13. Complaints 
 
13.1 Any complaints regarding CCTV systems at the Council will be dealt with in accordance with 

the Council's complaints procedure. 

Tudalen 30

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213588/handling-personal-information-policy-v30.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213588/handling-personal-information-policy-v30.pdf


 

 
 

HYRWYDDO CAFFAEL BLAENGAR 

 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 
1. Cymeradwyo'r 9 argymhelliad allweddol yn yr adroddiad i'w datblygu ymhellach. Byddai 

unrhyw newidiadau i bolisi a rheoliadau cyfredol o ganlyniad i'r gwaith pellach hwn yn cael 
eu cyflwyno yn ôl i'r Bwrdd Gweithredol a fydd yn gwneud y penderfyniad terfynol. 

2. Cefnogi ymagwedd Sir Gaerfyrddin yn gyntaf gyffredinol at wariant y Cyngor o dan £25K 
lle bynnag y bo modd. 

3. Cytuno i sefydlu gweithgor swyddogion y Cyngor gyda chynrychiolaeth o wasanaethau 
caffael, datblygu economaidd a pholisi corfforaethol a gwasanaethau eraill y Cyngor ac 
Aelodau Bwrdd Gweithredol perthnasol fel y bo'n briodol. Bydd hyn yn ategu ac yn 
gweithio ochr yn ochr â rhwydwaith caffael a datblygu economaidd newydd o ran y Bwrdd 
Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus a gynigir fel rhan o brosiect caffael bwyd y sector cyhoeddus  

 

Y Rhesymau:  
Cynlluniwyd yr adolygiad hwn o gyfleoedd caffael blaengar o dan brosiect caffael bwyd sector 
cyhoeddus Sir Gaerfyrddin yn wreiddiol, a ariannwyd drwy gronfa Her yr Economi Sylfaenol 
Llywodraeth Cymru. Er ei fod yn dal i gael ei gefnogi drwy'r gwaith hwn, mae sefyllfa COVID-
19 wedi rhoi mwy o ffocws ac ysgogiad a chafwyd cyfle i ehangu cwmpas gwreiddiol y 
prosiect o fwyd yn unig i gwmpasu holl wariant caffael y Cyngor. Mae gan y gwaith hwn 
gysylltiad agos iawn â chynllun adfer economaidd y Cyngor ac mae caffael blaengar yn un o 
themâu allweddol y cynllun hwnnw.  

Ymgynghorwyd â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol   DO Cyfarfod ar y cyd rhwng y Pwyllgor Craffu - 

Polisi ac Adnoddau a'r Pwyllgor Craffu - Cymunedau ac Adfywio - gweler y blwch ymgynghori 

 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad         OES   

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad NAC OES  

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO: Y 
Cynghorydd David Jenkins 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: Y Prif 
Weithredwr a Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

Jason Jones 

Helen Pugh 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 

Gwyneth Ayers a Clare Jones 

Swyddi: 

 

Pennaeth Adfywio 

Pennaeth Refeniw a 
Chydymffurfiaeth Ariannol 

Rheolwr Polisi 
Corfforaethol a 
Phartneriaeth 

Pen-swyddog Caffael 

Ffôn: 

01267 224659 

Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 
jajones@sirgar.gov.uk 
hlpugh@sirgar.gov.uk  
gayers@sirgar.gov.uk  
clajones@sirgar.gov.uk  

Bwrdd Gweithredol 

21 Mehefin 2021 

Tudalen 31

Eitem Rhif  7

mailto:jajones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:hlpugh@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:gayers@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:clajones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

 
 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Executive Board 
21st June 2021 

Advancing Progressive Procurement 

Officers from the Council’s procurement, economic development and corporate policy team 
have been working with CLES (Centre for Local Economic Strategies) as part of the wider 
Carmarthenshire Public Services Board (PSB) public sector food procurement project funded 
through the Welsh Government Foundational Economy Challenge Fund. CLES are widely 
regarded as leaders in this field having worked with the likes of Preston City Council on their 
procurement and community wealth building approaches. 
Other PSB partners involved in the wider food specific project include Hywel Dda University 
Health Board, University of Wales Trinity Saint David and Coleg Sir Gâr and the findings of that 
work will be reported to the PSB at its 23 March 2021 meeting. However, this report and 
recommendations is specific to the Council and has taken account of all Council procured 
spend areas (not just food related spend as with the PSB partners). The work undertaken by 
CLES has focused on the following areas: 

 Strategic review 

 Evidence review including local economy analysis; spend analysis; and gap analysis 

 Stakeholder engagement 

 Review and development of existing toolkits  

 Advancing progressive procurement action plan. 
 
Key recommendations from the CLES report (copy attached) 
The report makes 9 key recommendations for the Council to consider. Alongside these 
recommendations are a series of suggested steps to make progress against the 
recommendations. These are noted on pages 60-65 of the main report.  

1. Make community wealth building a more explicit, central strategic narrative 
2. Incorporate an emphasis on sectoral transition in the Councils economic recovery and 

reform programme. 
3. Increase the strategic profile of procurement. 
4. Systematically review opportunities to localise spend, prioritising interventions where 

there is a strong overlap between leakage and local economic vulnerability. 
5. Deepen and extend the approach to spend analysis 
6. Further develop market engagement approaches 
7. Enhance and refine procurement processes 
8. Scale up and codify the approach to social value and community benefits – which 

includes a recommendation to ‘Produce a social value (community benefits) policy, with 
clear outcomes linked to wellbeing objectives’. This should be progressed as soon a 
possible as this will set the direction of travel.  

9. Seek to collaborate with other anchors across the PSB. 
 
  

Tudalen 32



 

Future Generations Commissioner for Wales ‘Procuring Well-being in Wales’ 
In February 2021 the Commissioner published a report and recommendations for Welsh 
Government and public bodies to take account of as part of the development of their 
procurement arrangements. All of the key issues and recommendations are included in the 
attached report which also outlines current Carmarthenshire Council activity and progress on 
the matters raised. There are three specific issues noted for public bodies which complement 
the findings of the CLES report and recommendations. These key issues for public bodies are: 

1. Opportunities to deliver on all four dimensions of well-being are not being maximised, 
often due to lack of leadership and strategic approach that recognises the ‘power of 
purchase’. 

 
 
2. The “procurement system” is too often leading to a focus on process and short-term cost 

rather than delivering wider outcomes over the long-term, and there is no consistent way 
of measuring the outcomes that can be achieved in line with the Act. There needs to be 
a shift to considering long term costs holistically, in line with the Act. 
 

3. There is no mechanism for promoting effective collaboration for public bodies, 
particularly cross-sector to improve sharing, learning, capacity and skills. 

 
Moving forward with implementing the CLES recommendations (if approved), we will need to 
take account of these issues and recommendations in our next steps to ensure we align with 
national direction of travel. 
 
Way forward 
If the report and recommendations are approved for further development it is suggested that a 
working group with representation from the Council’s procurement, economic development and 
corporate policy teams, with input and support from other relevant Council services and 
relevant Executive Board members is established to further develop this work. This will 
complement and work alongside a new PSB procurement and economic development network 
which is being proposed as part of the public sector food procurement project.  
Any changes to current Council policy and regulations as a result of this further work would be 
reported back to the Executive Board for final decision. This work will closely align to the 
Council’s economic recovery plan. 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

1. Community wealth building in 
Carmarthenshire – advancing 

progressive procurement (CLES) 
2. Procuring Well-being in Wales: Key 

Issues & Recommendations 

 

Tudalen 33

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf


 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 
Legal   

Further consideration must be given to legal implications of any proposed development of 
future ways of working and these will be considered as part of the on-going development 
work. We must ensure that all Procurement complies with various legislation, namely the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Council’s internal Contract Procedure Rules. 
Any amendments to current Council Policies and Rules will be subject of a further formal 
decision by Executive Board.  

Risk Management Issues 

A progressive procurement ‘localism’ approach is a key focus of the Council’s economic 
recovery plan.  If the report recommendations are not progressed, it is extremely unlikely 
that the Council’s recovery aspirations will be maximised, subject to various procurement 
legislation compliance.  

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed: Jason Jones, Head of Regeneration & Helen Pugh, Head of Revenues & Financial Compliance                             

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  

 
YES 

 
NONE NONE 

 
YES YES NONE 

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

There are a number of policy directives shaping this work, the key one being the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act. Procurement is identified as one of the seven corporate 
areas that need to take account of and embed the sustainable development principle and 
ways of working in its approaches. Any future Council policy and guidance updates will 
need to fully take the Act into consideration. 

There is currently a significant national and local focus on procurement policies and future 
approaches driven by a combination of factors including the urgency of COVID-19 
economic recovery plans and a focus on social value, Brexit and resulting policy changes, 
as well as the focus on delivering net zero carbon commitments and the role procurement 
can play. These will all need to be taken account of as we develop the Council’s approach.  

The Council has also made a commitment to become net zero carbon by 2030. 
Procurement can play a key role in that work going forward and will need to be embedded 
into future approaches. 

Tudalen 34



 

Staffing Implications 
There will be a need to ensure that the resourcing and capacity of the procurement and 
business support functions are commensurate with the Council’s expectations 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 

 

Signed: Jason Jones, Head of Regeneration & Helen Pugh, Head of Revenues & Financial Compliance                                                                            

 
1. Scrutiny Committee 

At the Joint meeting of the Policy and Resources and Community and Regeneration 
Scrutiny Committee held on the 10th June 2021 it was UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to 
receive the report. 

2.Local Member(s)   

N/A 

3.Community / Town Council  

N/A 

4.Relevant Partners   

Hywel Dda University Health Board, Coleg Sir Gâr and University of Wales Trinity Saint 
David are directly involved in the project, and findings will be reported to Carmarthenshire 
PSB 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

N/A 

 
EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Cllr David Jenkins  

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW      
 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Future Generations 
Commissioner for Wales 
Procuring for Well-being 
 
 

 Cymraeg: 
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-
content/uploads/2021/02/CYM-Section-20-
Procurement-Review.pdf  
 
English: https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-
content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-
Procurement-Review.pdf  

Tudalen 35

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/CYM-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/CYM-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/CYM-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf


 

 
 

Tudalen 36



 

 

Community wealth building in 
Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive 
procurement 
December 2020 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 37



 

 

 

 

Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) 
Established in 1986, CLES is the national organisation for local 

economies - developing progressive economics for people, planet 

and place. We work by thinking and doing, to achieve social justice 

and effective public services. 

www.cles.org.uk 

 

 

CLES is a values-based organisation. These values are embedded in all our work. 

Fair Treating people with fairness and equality 

Bold Devising progressive solutions through pioneering work 

Collaborative Working with others to achieve the best result 

Independent Always acting with integrity 

Acting in solidarity Supporting, nurturing and empowering ourselves and others 
 

Tudalen 38

http://www.cles.org.uk/


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 

Contents 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................... 4 

2. Strategic review ....................................................................................................... 12 

3. Evidence review ....................................................................................................... 26 

4. Stakeholder findings ............................................................................................... 45 

5. Advancing progressive procurement ................................................................... 52 

6. Action Plan ............................................................................................................... 60 

Appendix 1 – supplementary information ................................................................... 66 

Appendix 2 -Stakeholders engaged .............................................................................. 71 

 

 

Tudalen 39



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 4 

 

1. Introduction 

This report for Carmarthenshire Council marks the beginning of a 

journey to develop a more inclusive economy through a new 

approach to economic development - community wealth building. In 

so doing, Carmarthenshire joins a progressive movement of UK 

agencies and areas using this approach. 

 

The mobilisation of a community wealth building approach requires political and 

corporate buy-in and leadership at the highest level, within and across key local 

institutions. In phase one of this work, we have focused on the development of a 

framework for progressive procurement in Carmarthenshire, aligned to the 

Council’s economic recovery and reform plans in the context of the COVID-19 

pandemic, with actionable recommendations for implementation, supported by 

practical toolkits and guides, training and implementation support.  

 

A separate report, with a specific focus on food-related procurement, across the 

County Council, Hywel Dda University Health Board and the University of Wales 

Trinity Saint David, accompanies and complements this report. 

 

The report is split into the following sections: 

 

○ Section one places the report within the local strategic and wider UK 

contexts and gives an overview of the methodology employed. 

○ Section two provides a strategic review – with CLES analysing existing 

strategy at the high level and specifically around procurement. 

○ Sections three contains the evidence review and analysis that CLES has 

undertaken. 

○ Section four presents the findings from CLES’ stakeholder engagement 

during this process – to shape our recommendations   

○ Section five provides a synthesis of these findings and recommendations 

relevant to progressive procurement. 

○ Section six is an Action Plan for how to advance and apply the 

recommendations. 

○ This is followed by Appendices, noting documentation reviewed and 

stakeholders consulted by CLES in the formulation of this report, specific 

contract opportunities for review and the commissioners’ and suppliers’ 

toolkits.  

Tudalen 40



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 5 

Why this work is important  

Economic and community regeneration will be at the core of COVID-19 recovery in 

Carmarthenshire. It is recognised that the business sector is set to face a 

challenging and uncertain future and public bodies in Carmarthenshire are keen to 

do all they can to support the regeneration and growth of their local communities 

and economy. This will require a shift in focus and approach across a number of 

areas. The community wealth building model with its focus on enabling wealth to 

stay within a local community and be recirculated as much as possible will provide 

a firm foundation for regeneration.   

What is an inclusive economy? 

An inclusive economy is an economy which is focussed on social goals, social 

justice, environmental sustainability, and prosperity for all. From an inclusive 

growth perspective, inclusion is about what happens after the fact of growth. Whilst 

helpful, this aim is limited (and limiting), given the scale of the social issues and 

economic challenges facing our society.  

 

An inclusive economy is a deeper concept, considering how social benefits flow 

from, or feed into, economic activity. An inclusive economy is an economy which is 

intrinsically married to social goals, social justice, environmental sustainability, and 

prosperity for all. This is not inclusion after the fact of growth. Instead, an inclusive 

economy seeks to develop inclusion with or without growth, whilst seeking to 

address the fundamental social flaws of market liberalism more generally. An 

inclusive economy is not merely about the poor social effects of economic growth 

outcomes, it is about addressing the causes of this socially damaging approach to 

growth. This agenda is aligned to a belief in heterodox economics and new forms 

of economic democracy and urban development such as new municipalism1. 

What is community wealth building? 

As a fundamental driver of an inclusive economy, community wealth building aims 

to reorganise and control the local economy so that wealth is not extracted but 

broadly held and generative, with local roots, so that income is recirculated, 

communities are put first, and people are provided with opportunity, dignity and 

well-being. Through community wealth building we are seeing a democratic, social, 

and economic movement, which seeks to provide resilience where there is risk and 

local economic security where there is precarity.  

 

Community wealth building has a particular focus on the activities of anchor 

institutions. Anchor institutions are large established organisations, rooted in local 

communities, which can improve local economic and social wellbeing through their 

spend, employment practices, and use of land and assets.  

 
1 https://cles.org.uk/blog/local-government-the-commons-the-time-has-come/       

Tudalen 41

https://cles.org.uk/blog/local-government-the-commons-the-time-has-come/


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 6 

At the heart of the community wealth building approach are five strategies for 

harnessing existing resources to enable local economies to grow and develop from 

within. 

1) Progressive procurement of goods and services - progressive procurement 

is a means through which greater economic, social, and environmental 

benefits can be achieved for local places and people. CLES have pioneered 

and been at the forefront of work around progressive procurement in the 

UK, helping to develop a dense local supply chain of local enterprises, SMEs, 

employee owned businesses, social enterprises, cooperatives and other 

forms of community ownership. Increased local spend creates jobs, 

contributing to a multiplier effect which in turn creates additional jobs via 

increased demand for local goods and services. 

2) Fair employment and just labour markets – often the biggest employers in 

a place, the approach anchors take to employment can have a defining 

effect on the employment prospects, incomes of local people and local 

communities. Commitment by anchors to pay the living wage, have 

inclusive employment practices, recruit from lower income areas, build 

progression routes for workers and comprehensive union recognition are 

some of the examples where actions by anchors can stimulate the local 

economy and bring social improvements to local communities. 

3) Making financial power work for local places- community wealth building 

seeks to increase flows of investment within local economies by harnessing 

the wealth that exists locally, rather than by seeking to merely attract 

national or international capital. For example, local authority pension funds 

can be encouraged to redirect investment from global markets to local 

schemes. Mutually owned banks are supported to grow, and regional 

banks charged with enabling local economic development are established. 

All of these are ideally placed to channel investment to local communities 

while still delivering a steady financial return for investors. 

4) Socially productive use of land and assets – anchors are often major land, 

property, and asset holders. These represent an asset base from which 

local wealth can be accrued. In community wealth building the function and 

ownership of these assets is deepened to ensure any financial gain from 

these assets is harnessed by citizens. Furthermore, there is a desire to 

develop local economic uses, and extend local social/community use of 

those assets. Indeed, much public sector land and facilities are the 

commons, and should be used to develop greater citizen ownership of the 

built, open space and natural environment.  

5) Plural ownership of the economy - community wealth building seeks to 

develop a more diverse blend of ownership models: returning more 

economic power to local people and institutions. In this, community wealth 

building asserts that small enterprises, community organisations, 

cooperatives and forms of municipal ownership are more economically 

Tudalen 42



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 7 

generative within the local economy, than large companies or public limited 

companies. 

 

 

 

 

CLES has worked with dozens of local authorities across the UK to develop the 

community wealth building movement, with each locality taking on a different 

blend of activities based on the five elements outlined above. 14 million people 

now live in community wealth building neighbourhoods, which is 21% of the UK’s 

population. 

Tudalen 43



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 8 

Figure 1: Map of community wealth building localities in the UK 

 

Methodology 

The methodology encompassed the following core activities, described in further 

detail below: 

 

• Strategy review 

• Evidence review 

• Stakeholder engagement 

• Reporting and tools 

• Training and implementation support 

Strategy review 

Overarching strategy 
CLES conducted a document review of the emerging COVID-19 Economic Impact 

and Recovery documentation, as discussed at the Council Executive Board on the 

29th June 2020. This outlines the current position and the draft economic recovery 

outline plan for Carmarthenshire.2 This enabled us to understand how progressive 

procurement is being pitched and to map this against our own Rescue, Recovery 

and Reform framework to make connections to where a deep emending of 

progressive procurement can support recovery and reform when related to the 

wider pillars of community wealth building. We conducted a strategic policy review 

 
2 http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s42159/Report.pdf  

Tudalen 44

http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s42159/Report.pdf


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 9 

to explore where we think the existing strategy frame that sits below the 

overarching recovery plan needs to bend, flex and scale to support an embedding 

of progressive procurement.     

Procurement strategy 
CLES investigated the Council’s approach to procurement and community benefits 

(social value) over the past few years, developing an understanding of any strategy 

that has guided developments, the original and renewed drivers for this work,  the 

team and assets in place to deliver on this strategy and the successes and 

challenges faced in advancing the agendas locally, considering both the pre and 

post COVID environment.  

 

This gave us a baseline position from which to build an effective approach to 

progressive procurement. We draw out examples of particular success (e.g. work 

with construction sector), pulling out the learning which may be applicable to be 

built upon going forward. This involved a document review with follow up 

telephone interviews with members of the procurement team.  

Evidence review 

Local economy analysis 

Drawing on existing data dashboards produced by the County Council and our own 

bespoke data sets to understand the impact of COVID-19 on the Carmarthenshire 

local economy, we mapped the county’s business base, reviewing the findings of 

business surveys (undertaken in April-May 2020) and tracking the impact of easing 

of social distancing measures on various sectors of the economy over the duration 

of the commission.  

This market analysis also explores where the business base/skills base may 

demonstrate potential for diversification/transferability to new and emerging 

sectors, particularly the low carbon sectors that will likely drive economic growth in 

the coming years; developing a deeper understanding of the impact on those 

sectors which are central to the economic recovery plan for Carmarthenshire, so 

that progressive procurement can play a key role in supporting the delivery of that 

wider strategy.  

Spend analysis review 

Working with the procurement team we developed a detailed understanding of the 

procurement spend data of the County Council and the supply chain of those 

suppliers. The toolkits and implementation support will enable the County Council 

to repeat the analyses we have done on a periodic basis, and conduct its own LM3 

analysis, via a survey of the Carmarthenshire supply base, to determine the extent 

of supplier re-spend within the local economy.  

Gap analysis 

We have mapped Carmarthenshire’s procurement spend against our market 

analysis and priority sectors/geographies to develop a better understanding of 

sector gaps/opportunities for development in terms for local service/product 

Tudalen 45



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 10 

availability. This gap analysis has a sectoral and spatial dimension, 

Carmarthenshire is a very diverse county, with the shape of the 

business/employment/skills base of urban communities very different from those 

of market towns and again from more rural, isolated communities.   

Stakeholder engagement  

Having completed the strategy review and evidence review, we conducted a series 

of stakeholder engagement exercises to explore the findings of these reviews, test 

out our thinking and further develop recommendations for action, informing the 

shape of tools/toolkits and guides that can support these stakeholders move 

towards implementation.  

  

We conducted online 1-2-1 interviews with a range of procurement and economic 

development officers from across the County Council and with elected members.    

 

We conducted 3 online focus groups with businesses from across the county, with 

the council supporting us with the recruitment of business representatives. The 

sample of businesses invited to these focus groups was informed by our market 

and gap analysis so that we could engage with specific sectoral issues within the 

discussion. These engagements focused on developing an understanding of the 

relationships businesses hold with the Council (and wider public sector anchors) 

and how they would like to see things develop.   

 

Reporting & tools 

As we concluded the stakeholder engagement, we developed this interim report 

with recommendations for the scope and scale of a series of practical tools and 

guides. This also sets out the anticipated training and implementation support that 

may be required moving forwards to support development of new methodology 

and framework. We will convene a workshop with officers to help shape thinking 

and inform the development of a series of initial, early stage tools and guides that 

can support the implementation of progressive procurement in Carmarthenshire.  

LM3 supplier survey and data analysis framework 

We will produce a guide and provide copies of CLES tools for conducting an LM3 

analysis of the supply chain. We will provide high level advice and guidance on how 

to implement such an approach.  

Commissioners Toolkit  

Based on our understanding of the local context, the recovery and reform plans of 

the county and our gap analysis, we will develop a Commissioners Toolkit for the 

implementation of more progressive procurement policy.   

Tudalen 46



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 11 

Suppliers Toolkit  

Having developed an understanding of the existing and prospective supply chain 

of the Council (and anchors) we will develop a supplier’s toolkit which can support 

local businesses to engage with the councils emerging procurement policy. 

These toolkits will be further refined and developed in future phases of work, but 

we feel it is important to get changes to practice underway as soon as possible to 

support the recovery plan of Carmarthenshire.   

Training & implementation support 

We have allocated time for 2 briefing sessions, potentially to the PSB board and the 

Council Senior Management/Executive Board to support the process of 

implementation. We have also allocated time for 2 half day workshop/support 

sessions to engage with Policy Leads, Category Managers/Commissioners to 

support the implementation of toolkits.  

 

 

  

Tudalen 47



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 12 

2. Strategic review 

A precursor to making viable recommendations which will build 

community wealth through progressive procurement in 

Carmarthenshire is understanding existing practice and strategic 

priorities. 

 

CLES has undertaken this work at two broad levels – looking at overarching 

strategic documentation, with a particular focus on responding to the impact of 

COVID-19, as well as undertaking a deep-dive into policy and practice in the focus 

area of procurement. 

 

In this section, we present and synthesise our findings from this activity, which 

involved both desk review analysis of Carmarthenshire Council documentation, 

followed up where appropriate with telephone interviews.  

 

This work is integral in understanding the baseline starting point for the local 

authority – and in turn tailoring recommendations that build upon existing good 

practice and ensure social, environmental, and economic value is maximised from 

every pound of procurement spend by Carmarthenshire council. 

Overarching strategic review 

We have reviewed the following: 

 

• Carmarthenshire Wellbeing Plan: the Carmarthenshire we want - 2018 - 

2023 

• Corporate Strategy 2018 - 2023 Refreshed June 2019 

• Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: the next 5-years 

• ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 

• Moving Rural Carmarthenshire Forward – Sept 2019 

• Transformations: Strategic Regeneration Plan for Carmarthenshire – 

2015-2030 

• Executive Board – 29/06/20 DETAILED REPORT COVID-19 ECONOMIC 

IMPACT AND RECOVERY Restart, Revive, Renew 

• Appendix: An Analysis of the Impact of COVID-19 on Carmarthenshire 

  

Carmarthenshire Wellbeing Plan: the Carmarthenshire we want - 2018 – 

2023 

It is understood that all Public Service Boards (PSBs) have been asked to review 

their Wellbeing Plans in the light of Covid-19. The existing Wellbeing Plan provides 

a basis for deepening collaborative working across local anchors. The ‘Prosperous 

people and Places theme’ includes a short-term goal to: 

 

Tudalen 48

http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/8331/carmarthenshire-well-being-plan-final-may-2018.pdf
http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/8331/carmarthenshire-well-being-plan-final-may-2018.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1219049/corporate-strategy-revised-2019-20.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212982/moving-forward.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1220539/annual-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1219667/moving-rural-carms-forward-report-final.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212060/strategic-regeneration-plan-for-carmarthenshire-2015-2030-pdf.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212060/strategic-regeneration-plan-for-carmarthenshire-2015-2030-pdf.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s42159/Report.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s42159/Report.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s42160/APPENDIX.pdf


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 13 

“… restructure public sector procurement protocols and requirements to support and 

enhance potential local enterprise”. 

 

“.. we will understand the current systems and current and future challenge and 

opportunities for procurement, then we will remove the barriers to community and 

individual enterprise and initiative and establish new approaches to work together to 

provide support to enable enhancement e.g. in renewable energy and promote 

opportunities for rural enterprise” 

 

Corporate Strategy 2018 - 2023 Refreshed June 2019 / Annual Report 2018 - 

2019 

Well-being Objective 6. “Live Well - Create more jobs and growth throughout the 

county” includes a commitment to support local economic growth.  Whilst the 

County Council’s Procurement Strategy is clearly aligned to the Corporate 

Strategy there is, however, no reciprocal reference in the latter to highlight the 

importance of the procurement function as a powerful strategic lever. 

 

Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: the next 5-years 

The “Regeneration and Development” theme includes the commitment to “Develop a 

programme to support small business across the County”. 

 

On procurement: 

“Establish feasibility of developing a joint procurement service with Pembrokeshire 

County Council”. 

 

CLES understand that a shared service approach with Pembrokeshire was piloted 

between June 2017 and June 2019. The main driver for this project was to develop 

a joint approach to category management. During this period there were also 

some shared resources (e.g. Carmarthenshire had access to Pembrokeshire’s 

Community Benefits officer and vice versa for Carmarthenshire’s SME supplier 

engagement resource). These arrangements did not continue beyond the pilot.   

  

During this time there have also been significant changes to the National 

Procurement Service led activity and realignment with WLGA and the South West 

Wales region, with local government taking back some frameworks that NPS now 

no longer coordinate. 

 

Moving Rural Carmarthenshire Forward – Sept 2019 

Moving Rural Carmarthenshire Forward contains strong commitments to local 

procurement, particularly in relation to the foundational economy; and a 

recognition of the strategic impact that that increasing levels of direct spend 

locally can have on the strength and resilience of the local economy. 

 

The combined impact of public, private and personal spend is referenced, but the 

power of anchor procurement to provide stable levels of baseline demand for 

local businesses operating in the wider commercial economy and for this spend 

to act as a catalyst to market development in the local, generative business 

sector, particularly where designed to explicitly counter more extractive business 

models, could be further explored. 

Tudalen 49



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 14 

 

The value of SMEs to the local economy generally, and the rural local economy 

more specifically, is clearly implicit. Whilst SMEs do tend to recirculate more 

wealth in a local economy, compared to some larger businesses, there may be 

merit in more explicitly differentiating the value of generative business forms 

such as community owned businesses, mutuals and cooperatives; and 

considering the specific support needs of these businesses. 

 

“We will also work with key anchor institutions to encourage more local procurement 

of goods and services so that we can build a robust foundational economy and 

strengthen the Carmarthenshire pound. We also recognise that we have a diverse 

agriculture and food production sector that we need to support and grow by looking at 

ways of clustering businesses with high quality products and develop a 

Carmarthenshire brand for marketing purposes”. 

 

“The Carmarthenshire Pound: the importance of supporting direct spend in the local 

economy, be that public, private or personal spend. The impact that even small levels 

of spending can have on the local economy can be significant and there needs to be a 

concerted effort to re-visit the way the public sector procures and spends its finances 

in order to better support investment in local businesses and organisations. This also 

applies from a personal spend perspective and there needs to be a drive to promote 

the impact of how keeping spend in the local economy in the short term will have 

longer term positive consequences in terms of the social and economic resilience of 

our rural communities”. 

 

“The Council is working with other public sector partners through the Carmarthenshire 

Public Services Board (PSB), to review its current food procurement arrangements with 

a longer-term view to, where possible, procure more goods produced locally. This is 

part of a wider programme the PSB is looking to address through further developing 

opportunities for the sectors providing those basic goods and services we all use every 

day such care and health services, food, housing, energy, construction, tourism and 

retailers on the high street – all of which are considered examples of the foundational 

economy. This will be a key development for the rural economy in particular as we 

look to bolster and further develop the local industries that we rely on day in day out”. 

 

Transformations: Strategic Regeneration Plan for Carmarthenshire – 2015-

2030 

The Strategic Regeneration Plan sets out ambitious regeneration initiatives for 

Carmarthenshire in the context of the wider Swansea Bay City Region.  

 

There is clearly significant potential for regeneration spending to support local, 

generative business and supply chain activities and to embed wider community 

benefit outcomes. 

 

The degree to which infrastructure investment translates into genuine local 

economic benefit, as opposed to inflated property values and contracts for large 

companies which, while they might nudge up GVA, often do very little to develop 

thriving local economies is a key challenge in this regard. 

Tudalen 50



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 15 

 

Community wealth building, at its core is a drive to replace extractive models of 

wealth ownership – those companies whose business model relies on maximising 

profits to distant shareholders – with locally productive forms of business. These 

“generative” businesses are firms in which the wealth created is shared broadly 

between owners, workers and consumers, ultimately increasing local multipliers 

as wealth flows through to local people and places 

 

Areas for further exploration include: 

  

• Enforcing strong, stretching social value targets, so infrastructure 

spending maximises local jobs and contributes to carbon reduction - 

adopting a community benefits approach where appropriate, with 

contract clauses linked to Carmarthenshire’s wellbeing objectives and 

goals, using social value measures to capture impact. 

• Considering the barriers or hurdles (real or perceived) in engaging the 

local SME supply chain. 

• Consideration of alternative delivery mechanisms to limit wealth 

extraction, such as municipally led umbrella organisations to provide the 

scale needed for small generative organisations to compete in public 

sector and commercial markets. 

 

Executive Board – 29/06/20 DETAILED REPORT COVID-19 ECONOMIC IMPACT 

AND RECOVERY Restart, Revive, Renew, plus       Appendix: An Analysis of the 

Impact of COVID-19 on Carmarthenshire 

 

Carmarthenshire’s Economic Impact and Recovery documentation, considered by 

the Executive Board, on 29th June 2020 makes clear the strategic importance of 

the Councils spending power and procurement approaches as part of the 

recovery and reform programme, to support local businesses and protect local 

employment.  The Council are well positioned to take this agenda forward, given: 

 

• The recognition of the strategic importance of procurement to social, 

environmental and economic wellbeing; and 

• The need to ensure alignment to the council’s corporate priorities and 

wellbeing objectives were already evident in the Council’s Procurement 

Strategy pre-Covid. 

 

“Many businesses feel that there is a role for the Council to take the lead on developing 

and supporting campaigns which promote a ‘buy local’ message and encourage the 

development and protection of local supply chains. This is a key area of consideration 

for the county and if successful could alleviate some pressures and would serve to 

promote local, sustainable growth, supporting not only the businesses based in the 

county but also their employees and their customers”. 

  

The report highlights some initial areas where procurement policy and practice could 

be amended to support further increases in the proportion of goods and service 

procured from local suppliers: 

  

Tudalen 51



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 16 

• Explore if we can increase the value and volume of procurement from 

locally based SME's, compliantly within the Procurement Regulations.  

• Investigate possibility of sub £25k (3 quotes) through an update of our 

Council's Contract Procedure Rules to stipulate of the 3 quotes sought 

one should be from a supplier within the County.  

• Opportunity to strengthen our Community Benefits approach 

  

Localising spend is one element of a progressive procurement approach, from a 

community wealth building perspective. Also important is increasing the 

proportion of spend on suppliers of a more locally generative nature, including 

cooperatives, mutuals and community businesses.  Consideration also needs to 

be given to the proportion of supplier re-spend in the local economy and how 

procurement activity can serve to promote denser local supply chains and 

ecosystems of local businesses.  

 

The market, spend and gap analyses described later in this report will provide 

intelligence on areas and sectors where there is more potential to buy locally, or 

where additional social value could be delivered, and where there is scope for 

more specific and interventionalist market shaping activity including, for example: 

 

• programmes of co-design with local, social and ethical suppliers to share 

strategic priorities. 

• developing a shared vision for how generative organisations can play a 

part in economic recovery. 

• programmes to ensure commissioning processes are accessible to 

generative suppliers. 

  

Whilst this phase of the project focuses specifically on the ‘progressive 

procurement’ community wealth building pillar it is helpful at this point to signal 

where this activity could potentially read across to other community wealth 

building pillars. The commentary below maps the draft key actions in 

Carmarthenshire’s Economic Recovery Plan most relevant to community wealth 

building against the CLES’ Rescue, Recover and Reform Framework, Own the 

Future – in order to relate the progressive procurement activity to the wider 

pillars of community wealth building.

Tudalen 52

https://cles.org.uk/publications/recovery-reform/
https://cles.org.uk/publications/recovery-reform/


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 17 

 

 

 

Actions Commentary 

Capital Infrastructure 

  

• Continue with significant regeneration capital 

infrastructure investments to boost demand 

in the construction sector and stimulate 

confidence. 

  

  

  

See comments on the Strategic Regeneration Plan for Carmarthenshire (above). 

Business Support 

  

• Review of current priorities is required with 

greater emphasis on engagement. Focus on 

sector specific as necessary. Greater staff 

resource required through re-modelling of 

service. Financial support to assist with 

recovery. Re-prioritise the Business 

engagement strategy. 

• Set up a business support hotline to support 

and provide guidance to Carmarthenshire 

businesses on funding, recovery and general 

advice. 

• Investigate possibility of negotiating bulk 

purchase / subsidised deals for businesses. 

  

Many of these actions map well against those proposed in Own the Future, including the 

need to scale-up and repurpose employment support and the need to remodel and 

increase business support capacity. Options for employment support include: 

  

• Targeted local recruitment programmes for existing vacancies.  

• Supported job transition for people who have lost work through the pandemic. For 

example, in Birmingham the Anchor Institution Network is developing a hospitality to 

health programme for people who have lost work in the hospitality and leisure 

industries to enable them to access NHS jobs and careers.  

• Expansion of local authority and anchor institution workforces to stimulate recovery 

and reform of the local economy. This could include investment in retrofit of local 

authority homes (already planned in Carmarthenshire), extended public works 

programmes and insourcing of activity currently undertaken by contractors who do 

not appropriately serve the local economy. 

  

T
udalen 53



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 18 

• Refocus Communities for Work to provide 

training and work experience to people who 

have become unemployed as a result of Covid 

19. 

• Workways + provide assistance for the 

unemployed as a consequence of Covid 19 - 

ref Short Term Unemployed. 

• Investigate possibility of reinvention of Future 

Jobs Fund to provide guaranteed, paid 

employment for young people. 

  

 

An eco-system of financial, technical and social support will be critical to the growth of 

generative organisations. This support can be delivered through community wealth hubs, 

which would repurpose existing business support services to provide wrap-around 

support to generative organisations. They might undertake a number of the activities 

listed below: 

  

• Developing a baseline understanding of existing and potential supply and demand 

for generative organisations and employee ownership. 

• Deploying funding streams to support the development of new generative 

organisations to supply target sectors. 

• Repurposing existing business support to facilitate the conversion of some existing 

businesses to more generative models, including employee ownership. 

• Developing “platform co-operatives” – or other types of umbrella organisations in 

target sectors to provide the scale needed for small generative organisations to 

compete in public sector and commercial markets. 

• Developing bespoke business support programmes for the co-operative sector and to 

address business ownership gaps in disadvantaged communities. 

• Providing technical and financial assistance to support the conversion of businesses 

which are at the point of transition (owners retiring or selling) to worker-ownership. 

• Creatively using and repurposing public sector land and assets (see below). 

  

Town Centre Economy 

• Reviewing and refocusing primary town centre 

regeneration master and recovery plans. 

• Develop safe town centre environment plans. 

• Supporting BIDs in Carmarthen & Llanelli 

See previous commentary on capital infrastructure. 

  

Strategic acquisition and repurposing of empty retail premises could be an opportunity to 

provide social businesses with the infrastructure and opportunity to develop into 

commercial markets. 

  

T
udalen 54



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 19 

• Review current parking initiatives/provisions 

throughout the County. 

• Acquisition of empty retail premises to revive 

economic buoyancy/footfall through 

innovation. 

• Consider county-wide development order for 

town centres. 

• Put in place arrangements for resumption of 

trading at our indoor and outdoor Markets – 

ensuring compliance with regulations and 

staff and shopper safety 

  

  

Planning 

• Consider relaxation of the emerging LDP for 

the creation of additional employment areas 

particularly for B2 uses and small business 

startups. Consider also any interim options. 

• Consider the emerging LDP in terms of home 

working and the concept of live / work. 

Consider also any interim options. 

• Consider feasibility of reallocating S.106 

monies where possible to economic 

development activity. 

• Consider whether there should, or could be, a 

prioritisation approach for applications that 

will generate job opportunities/economic 

benefits. 

  

These actions map well against CLES’ framework 

T
udalen 55



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 20 

• Review and simplify planning support for key 

economic development applications (small 

and large) 

Rural Economy 

• Review and prioritise Council’s Moving Rural 

Carmarthenshire Forward recommendations 

and projects. 

• Foundational Economy Fund - develop a local 

food strategy. 

• Review 10 town growth plans. 

• Investigate feasibility of developing co-

operation led milk processing facilities within 

Carmarthenshire. 

• Review Arfor rural business support. 

  

  

See separate commentary on Moving Rural Carmarthenshire Forward. 

  

The development of a local food strategy could be underpinned by considering the 

potential of the aggregated demand across local anchors in order to provide a stable, 

baseline level of demand for local, generative suppliers operating in the wider 

commercial economy locally. 

Communities 

• Support local communities to become more 

self-resilient with sustainable local supply 

chains. 

• Realignment of Bureau function. 

• Review the Authorities poverty support 

measures and priorities. 

• Third sector support. 

• Deliver community led projects – Leader. 

Reprioritise and grow grant funding to Covid-

19 community resilience projects. 

  

The potential to explicitly use procurement as a strategic lever to support baseline 

demand that enables more community-owned business to operate in the local, 

commercial economy. 

  

Realignment of the Bureau function could be undertaken as part of a more significant 

realignment of business support - community wealth hubs, which would repurpose 

existing business support services to provide wrap-around support to generative 

organisations, as described above. 

T
udalen 56



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 21 

  

 

Skills 

• Skills and Talent Swansea Bay City Deal project 

- identify new ways of working and the new 

skills and technology required in order to 

deliver this across the region. 

• Develop local skills action plan. 

  

  

The local skills action plan could incorporate requirements for both contractors and their 

supply chains, such as developing and implementing skills and training opportunities. 

  

A granular analysis of skills shortages in the locality and mapping of future skills needs 

should inform the commissioning of skills programmes. In suspending and terminating 

some economic activity, Covid-19 has given us an imperative to pivot local economies 

towards the sustainable growth sectors of the future. Employment support should 

ensure local people have the skills to make the most of these opportunities.  

  

Business analysis and intelligence will provide practitioners with an idea of the key and 

core sectors in the locality. Employment support should be linked to these areas, so that 

the labour supply is able to support the recovery effort at the local level. 

  

Land and assets 

• Review accommodation programme 

considering changing working practice and 

agile working. 

• Reprofile capital receipts and potentially target 

certain sectors. 

• Energy efficiency and local energy generation - 

focus in the short term on invest to save Re:fit 

scheme. 

• Review land availability and reprofile as 

necessary to ensure that best use of council 

  

How land and property assets are owned and managed is key to local economic 

outcomes. Concentrated land ownership, property speculation and landlord absenteeism 

all drive inequality, as communities suffer the consequences of unaffordable housing, 

lack of access to land for businesses and a lack of investment in the local economy. 

Wealth gained from land and property leaks out of local economies, contributing to a lack 

of resilience, as well as being incompatible with social and environmental progress. 

  

There is scope to consider how land and property assets can be creatively repurposed to 

support local, generative business activity and stem the outflow of wealth. 

  

T
udalen 57



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 22 

owned land is being made to support the local 

economy. 

• Development of incubator/commercial 

accommodation and medium sized food 

based and production units. 

In ‘Own the Future’ CLES recommend consideration of: 

• Strategic acquisition and repurposing of land and property – e.g. 

1. in sectors where assets are vulnerable to asset stripping by investors seeking to 

maximise profit – using ownership to protect at-risk sectors and provide 

infrastructure for new, locally generative businesses.  

2. office and retail space which can be repurposed to provide social businesses with 

the infrastructure and opportunity to develop into commercial markets. 

3. land assembly for subsequent development and management via municipal 

development vehicles and community land trusts; and,  

4. existing housing, as part of a strategic intervention in the private rented sector. 

• Local economic stimulus through investment in renovation and retrofit. 

  

 

 

T
udalen 58



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 23 

Procurement Strategy Review 

Carmarthenshire County Council’s Procurement Review 

Strategy 
The aim of Carmarthenshire County Council’s Procurement Strategy is to create a 

framework so that procurement and commissioning decisions play a key role in 

supporting the delivery of the aims of the Council’s key strategies3. The overarching 

themes and core values of these include “commitment to ensuring that the economic, 

social and environmental well-being of Carmarthenshire is at the heart of our activities.” 

Indeed, the procurement’s strategy’s definition of procurement includes not just 

value for money but also benefits “not only to the organisation, but also to society and 

the economy”4 

 

As a strategic function Procurement directly contributes to the following Wellbeing 

Objectives, themselves drawn from the seven Wellbeing Goals identified in the 

Welsh Government’s Wellbeing of Future Generations Act: 

• Reduce the number of young adults that are Not in Education, 

Employment or Training (NEET)  

• Create more jobs and growth throughout the county 

• Look after the environment now and for the future 

• Promote Welsh Language and culture 

• Governance and use of resources 

In line with its support for the delivery of the aims of the Council’s Corporate 

Strategy (2015-2020) and the Integrated Community Strategy the Corporate 

Procurement Unit have identified the following key priorities: 

• Delivering spend effectively 

• Supporting Collaboration 

• Delivering compliant processes and procedures 

• Maintaining and developing the local economy 

The procurement strategy states there is a strong political will in the Council to 

support the local economy. It does this by viewing ‘Value for Money’ as the optimum 

combination of whole-of-life costs in terms of not only generating efficiency savings 

and good quality outcomes for the Council, but also “benefit to society and the 

economy, whilst minimising damage to the environment.” 

Procurement / Commissioning 
The Category Management approach adopted by Carmarthenshire’s Corporate 

Procurement Unit (CPU) ensures tendering activity is strategically planned and 

addressed in the wider Council context of our corporate objectives. This includes 

 
3 Such as Corporate Strategy, Carmarthenshire’s Well-Being Plan and ‘Moving Forward – The Next 5 

Years’ Plan 
4 Procuring the Future 2006 – Sustainable Procurement Task Force definition and Wales Public 

Procurement Policy Statement 2015 

Tudalen 59



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 24 

incorporating their wider Well-Being objectives into tendering and monitoring and 

reporting of any efficiencies generated. 

 

The CPU’s Tender Record Form (TRF) asks several questions for each procurement 

exercise including Efficiencies, Community Benefits and how the Well Being of 

Future Generations Act can be embedded into the specification and subsequent 

contract.   

 

The department have an officer who is a dedicated first point of contact for any 

suppliers looking to understand how they bid for opportunities to work with the 

Council. They run a range of different supplier engagement initiatives and events 

including 1-2-1 meetings and larger tender specific supplier or early market 

engagement events to consult with the marketplace and explain their rationale for 

the procurement strategy approach taken. These have been critical in shaping their 

tendering activity into an approach which can be met by the marketplace.5 

 

The standard threshold for Community Benefits to be included in Tenders is £1 

million, in terms of reporting and the requirement to apply the Welsh 

Government’s measurement tool. To date, efforts have been concentrated in the 

higher value, longer duration, projects to ensure the clauses drafted are 

meaningful with confidence that they can be delivered in reality.  

 

Delivery / Contract Monitoring 
Whilst being delayed by the onset of the pandemic, templates and guidance are 

currently being developed for contract monitoring, together with subsequent 

training for officers. 

 

Community Benefits targets are tracked and reported using tools just as the Welsh 

Government’s Community Benefits Measurement Tools for Schools Projects, either 

annually or on the end of contract.  

 

The procurement department has struggled with resourcing the measurement of 

Community Benefits across all sectors as they do not have a dedicated resource to 

manage this. However, they are due to advertise a post who will drive this agenda 

for the department.  

Analysis / Reporting  
Carmarthenshire track their spend and, as of 2016/17, spend higher % of spend 

with SMEs, Carmarthenshire suppliers and Welsh suppliers (73%, 43% and 74% 

respectively) than the Welsh local authority average (65%, 29% and 59% 

respectively). 

 

 
5 Procurement Annual Report 2019/20 

Tudalen 60



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 25 

The spend analysis review and market analysis outlined later in this report will help 

to provide fine-grain intelligence to help inform efforts by procurement officers 

when examining the extent to which there is scope to further increase the rate of 

local spend. 

 

Carmarthenshire as a Community Wealth Building 
Council 

Whilst this phase of CLES’ work with Carmarthenshire focuses specifically on 

progressive procurement, it is useful to reflect that, as a community wealth building 

approach, changes to procurement policy and practice will have most impact when 

progressed as one component of an intentional community wealth building 

strategy, alongside actions in the other pillars of community wealth building 

described on Page 6 of this report. 

 

It is evident from the strategy review that there are examples of good practice 

already being done by Carmarthenshire across each of the five pillars of 

community wealth building. For the full impact of community wealth building to be 

achieved, it needs to represent a fundamental shift in practice and policy - putting 

community wealth building at the heart of how the council operates and in its 

partnership approaches, including through the PSB, to put your supply chains, your 

workforce and your assets at the forefront of creating a truly inclusive economy. 

 

Carmarthenshire County Council is starting from a strong baseline which 

represents a real opportunity  to focus on more fundamental questions around 

reorganising the local economy to be more equitable for residents; with 

community wealth building as the guiding approach to local economic recovery 

and reform post Covid-19.  

 

Recommendation – make community wealth building a more explicit, central 

strategic narrative. 

  

Tudalen 61



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 26 

3. Evidence review 

Local economy mapping and sectoral analysis  

In order to carry out an economic review which captures the specificities of 

Carmarthenshire’s local economy, whilst also reflecting broader national changes 

being instigated by the covid-19 crisis, we have utilised a series of datasets. 

 

At the firm level, CLES has analysed June 2020 snapshot data from Companies 

House. This data lists every business operating with Carmarthenshire, as well as 

providing supplementary information such as the sector they are working in and 

where they are based. 

 

To understand the employment and labour market picture, CLES have utilised 

the most recent Business Register and Employment Survey dataset, which details 

the number and proportion of employees within a local area working within specific 

high-level, and specific, sectors of the economy. 

 

We have also undertaken broader sectoral analysis – in the first instance led by 

the findings of Carmarthenshire Council’s May COVID-19 analysis report, and then 

buttressed by data on GVA, as well as accessing HMRC’s Coronavirus Job Retention 

Scheme data.  

 

Finally, we have also undertaken geospatial analysis, coupling Multiple 

Deprivation data with Companies House and sectoral data to understand where 

firms working in shutdown sectors are located within Carmarthenshire, and how 

this maps onto existing areas of deprivation. 

Outline analysis 

As a starting point for our analysis of the local economy in Carmarthenshire, we 

utilised the council-produced document ‘Analysis of the Impact of COVID-19 on 

Carmarthenshire’. This identified a number of sectors which could be classed as 

‘shutdown’ sectors. This list is reproduced below: 

 

• Education and Childcare 

• Food and Beverage 

• Personal Services 

• Food and Drink Production 

• Sports and leisure 

• Visitor economy 

• Retail 

• Passenger Transport 

Tudalen 62



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 27 

In order to get a sense of the size of these shutdown sectors, the geographical 

spread of firms working within them, and how their presence maps onto existing 

areas of deprivation and the wider geography of Carmarthenshire, we undertook 

three layers of subsequent analysis. 

 

Firstly, we matched 5-digit SIC code categories to the high-level categories listed 

above. Our full methodology is provided in the appendix – by way of example, this 

exercise entailed matching the high-level Education and Childcare category with 

the corresponding subcategories of: 

 

• 85100 Pre-primary education 

• 85200 Primary education 

• 85310 General secondary education 

• 85320 Technical and vocational secondary education 

• 85410 Post-secondary non-tertiary education 

• 85421 First-degree level higher education 

• 85422 Post-graduate level higher education 

• 85510 Sports and recreation education 

• 85520 Cultural education 

• 88910  Child day-care activities 

Undertaking this activity allowed us, in turn, to get a granular and detailed sense of 

the firms operating within the sectors listed above which could reasonably be 

regarded as being in particular distress due to the outbreak of coronavirus. 

 

To do this, we analysed Companies House data from June 2020, showing all trading 

organisations active in Carmarthenshire, and then filtering on the basis of all firms 

whose SIC code showed them as working within the affected sectors. 

 

This returned 1284 firms – it is worth noting that this is only on the basis of the 

highlighted firms from Carmarthenshire council’s report and is not an exhaustive 

summary of shutdown firms. In all, this entails: 

 

• 72 organisations in the Education and Childcare sector 

• 272 organisations in the Food and beverage sector 

• 11 firms in the Personal Services sector 

• 41 firms in the Food and drink Production sector 

• 121 organisations in the Sports and leisure sector 

• 125 firms in the Visitor economy sector 

• 417 firms in the Retail sector, and; 

• 210 firms in the Passenger Transport sector. 

 

Having assembled this data, we then plotted these firms across the geography of 

Carmarthenshire, on the basis of their high-level SIC code. 

Tudalen 63



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 28 

Figure 2: Shutdown Firms by Sector 

 
 

As this shows, there is a relatively wide geographic distribution of affected firms 

working in ‘shutdown sectors’. Notable, too, is that there is a clear concentration in 

built-up areas, as subsequent heat map analysis demonstrates – in the map below, 

the areas coloured in purple have a deprivation decile between 1 and 3 – in other 

words, they are amongst the 30% most deprived LSOAs in Wales. 

Tudalen 64



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 29 

Figure 3: ‘Shutdown sector’ heatmap  

 
 

What is important to recognise here is that, despite Carmarthenshire having a 

relatively low number of areas scoring highly in the Multiple Deprivation rankings, 

there is a high density of affected firms operating in – and potentially employing 

their staff from – the most deprived areas in Carmarthenshire. 

 

Indeed, analysis shows that close to 30% of the shutdown firms are found in areas 

with a deprivation rank amongst the bottom 3. 

 

Figure 4 – Number of shutdown firms by deprivation decile 

 

 

Tudalen 65



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 30 

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme analysis 

The fast-moving nature of this crisis means new datasets are constantly being 

made available. Whilst the initial analysis from Carmarthenshire, produced in May, 

is of great use in undertaking the analysis shown previously, there is a need to 

update some of this working, particularly as we begin to slowly and cautiously 

reopen. 

 

Some sectors may not have been directly shutdown but may have seen significant 

falls in demand. Others may, due to continued social distancing, be operating but 

below capacity due to public health reasons. 

 

A key metric to utilise in flagging up sectors in danger going forward is the recently 

released HMRC Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme data.6 

 

This dataset can be usefully applied alongside the previous analysis to help build 

up a strong picture of sectors in Carmarthenshire that require support and, in some 

cases, guidance in developing in new directions. 

 

At the local authority level, the data only provides a raw number of employees 

placed on furlough – in Carmarthenshire’s case, this is 21,200 employees – 

equating to 28% of the local labour force. This is slightly below the average of both 

Wales (29%) and the United Kingdom (31%). 

 

Whilst sectoral data for local authority areas is not provided, it is possible to create 

a proxy for Carmarthenshire by using UK-wide sectoral data. This is not a perfect 

comparison – the local economies which collectively make up the UK economy have 

different strengths and weaknesses, opportunities, and challenges.  As noted 

throughout this report, there is a need for a particular focus on the sectors of 

significance in Carmarthenshire, agriculture as well as health and social work, 

which are of particular importance locally. As the data overleaf shows, these two 

sectors have a local GVA double that proportionally of the wider UK economy.  

 

 

  

 
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-july-

2020/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-july-2020  

Tudalen 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-july-2020/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-july-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-july-2020/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-july-2020


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 31 

Figure 5 – GVA by sector 

 

 
 

The sectoral Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme data shows both the number of 

employers furloughing staff (i.e. how many businesses in a sector have accessed 

the scheme), and the number of employees furloughed (i.e. how many 

individuals working in a sector had been placed on furlough). 

 

In other words, this can show us both the firm-level and individual-level impacts of 

the coronavirus on sectors of the economy, via uptake of the government’s 

furlough scheme. 

 

To give this analysis greater resonance for Carmarthenshire, CLES accessed the 

most recent Business Register and Employment Survey data for the area, to 

ascertain the precise employment patterns of different sectors in the area.7  

 

We then filtered the data to remove sectors with fewer than 1,500 employees in 

Carmarthenshire, before plotting this data against the proportion of employers 

utilising and employees placed on the furlough scheme, as of the 30th June.  

 

 
7 BRES counts both employees and employment – the latter including worker-owners and self-

employment. CLES is utilising employment statistics throughout. 

Tudalen 67



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 32 

Figure 5 

 
The sectors with the greatest employment contribution in Carmarthenshire are 

Health (14,000 employees), Wholesale and Retail (11,000), Agriculture, Forestry and 

Fishing (9,000), and Manufacturing (8,000). 

 

The accommodation and food services sector – with 5,000 employees – appears 

immediately as a sector of significant concern – close to 90% of employers 

nationwide have accessed the furlough scheme and close to 75% of employees 

have been placed on it.  

 

With the collapse in demand witnessed across swathes of the economy – with 

short-term potentially turning into long-term shifts in consumer habits – there is a 

need for the council, alongside key anchors, to intervene and support endangered 

sectors locally. 

 

As CLES have noted in Own the Future, our position paper for local economic reform 

after coronavirus, we note that: 

 

local commissioning and procurement spend may even become the primary source of 

liquidity and stable demand… it is important that local authorities and anchor 

institutions recognise the potential of their spend to catalyse business growth, economic 

development and the delivery of local social and economic value. What anchor 

Tudalen 68



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 33 

institutions buy, which supplier wins a contract and the conditions attached to it will 

have a direct bearing on the livelihoods of individuals and communities.8 

 

Applying these approaches in a bespoke manner that protects the vital sectors in 

the Carmarthenshire economy is a key task for the local authority and other 

anchors going forward.  

 

Sectoral transition and survival strategies 

Coronavirus represents an existential threat to multiple firms in the economy – not 

all sectors have been, or are being, hit equally. For local authorities, this means 

there is a need to develop bespoke and targeted approaches, offering support to 

affected sectors. 

 

But they also need to help spur on a transition to a different kind of economy – one 

which is greener, more equitable, and more socially just. Whilst there is uncertainty 

around the future course of coronavirus – the impacts of a second wave; the 

efficacy of palliative treatment; the emergence of functional vaccines – what is 

certain is the threat and reality of climate change. 

 

In order to recover from this crisis and avert the climate crisis, local authorities 

need to use this moment to advance a two-pronged strategy: 

 

• Supporting the survival of valuable and viable sectors 

• Helping sectors with transferable skills to transition to green growth 

industries 

A relevant example in Carmarthenshire would be the manufacturing sector. 

Providing 8,000 jobs, and over a tenth of local GVA, it represents a vitally important 

sector locally. The UK-wide sectoral figures show close to 75% of firms in the sector 

have used the furlough scheme, with nearly 1 in 2 employees placed on furlough. 

 

Local difficulties have been flagged up already in qualitative analysis undertaken 

by Carmarthenshire Council, with respondents speaking of difficulties brought 

about by cancelled orders, supply chain problems, and associated falls in income. 

 

Even prior to the onset of coronavirus, emerging debates have touched upon the 

need for economic transition, with increasing discussion of policy interventions 

based around the idea of a Green New Deal, and a renewed focus in recent years 

on industrial strategy.  

 

As part of this work, CLES has been developing emerging toolkits around the kind 

of transition that will be necessary to both build community wealth within local 

economies, and ensure the kind of economic activity being undertaken is both 

 
8 https://cles.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Own-the-future-revised-mutuals-copy.pdf  

Tudalen 69

https://cles.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Own-the-future-revised-mutuals-copy.pdf


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 34 

commensurate to the challenge of climate crisis and – critically – is part of the 

solution to this threat. 

 

In this, we have linked existing SIC subcategories to emerging sectors of the new 

green transition economy, utilising a methodology and sectoral subcategories as 

defined by Plymouth Business School research9: 

 

Environmental – such as air pollution, environmental consultancy, recovery and 

recycling, and water and waste-water treatment. 

 

Renewable – including renewable consulting, as well as wave and tidal, 

geothermal, biomass, and wind energy production 

 

Emerging - including development of new types of vehicles and vehicle fuels, 

carbon finance and carbon capture and storage, and new, green building 

technologies.  

 

What this work does is give a baseline impression of how the skills and capital 

equipment of existing sectors can transition into futureproof green growth sectors 

in a place. To take an explanatory example, there is scope for work to be 

undertaken addressing air pollution by firms which currently work within the 

existing four-digit industrial sectors: 

 

8411 General (overall) public service activities 

8121 General cleaning of buildings 

4322 Plumbing 

7120 Technical testing and analysis 

7111 Architectural and engineering activities and related technical consultancy 

2751 Manufacture of electric domestic appliances 

8412 Regulation of the activities of agencies that provide social services 

2825 Manufacture of non-domestic cooling and ventilation equipment 

 

Through the council’s procurement activities and relations with other anchors in 

places, this work can be spurred on both directly and indirectly, as this report will 

show.  

 

In all, through cross-referencing Plymouth Business School’s methodology against 

BRES data for Carmarthenshire, CLES found 23,495 existing employment 

opportunities that map onto green growth sectors of the future.  

 

In particular, there are strong opportunities to transition: 

 

• the 8000 jobs in Agriculture, 700 jobs in freight transport, 600 jobs in 

maintenance and repair of motor vehicles, and 900 jobs in processing of 

meat into sustainable production of vehicle and other fuels 

 
9 https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Uoplowcarboneconomyfullreport.pdf  

Tudalen 70

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Uoplowcarboneconomyfullreport.pdf


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 35 

 

• the 2,250 jobs in general public administration to support environmental 

work in the areas of environmental consultancy and monitoring, as 

well as marine pollution and noise and vibration control,  

 

• And the 700 jobs in plastic manufacturing towards emerging building 

technologies  

 

This – it is worth stressing – represents a starting point not a destination. This initial 

analysis shows potential in the green fuels sector should be further investigated. 

Procurement activity and anchor collaboration can further this potential, with an 

approach which is both reactive – looking at issues facing key sectors and firms in 

the Carmarthenshire economy – coupled to a forward-looking programme which 

is proactive in anticipating growth sectors which can be meaningfully progressed 

in the local economy.  In particular, strategic sectors locally should be supported 

by collaboration with key educational institutions such as Coleg Sir Gâr and the 

University of Wales Trinity Saint David, to ensure a skills infrastructure is in place 

locally to give graduates and school and college-leavers the skills to stay and 

support their local economy working in well-paid, stable, and sustainable green 

sectors.  

 

Spend analysis review and Gap Analysis 

Carmarthenshire already have a dedicated spend analysis officer, who is 

responsible for pulling data from Carmarthenshire’s finance systems, analysing this 

data and providing reports to the relevant category managers and their teams. 

  

This enables the team to access and split spend data by the total spend value, as 

well as splitting spend by Local Suppliers (where local is defined as 

Carmarthenshire), SME suppliers, Local SME’s and Welsh Suppliers.   

  

The next step is to provide category managers with an increased level of local 

business intelligence to assist their current ‘market analysis’ process, whereas they 

undertake engagement with local suppliers. 

 

The fact Carmarthenshire has invested in a dedicated resource to processing the 

spend analysis is worth praise, as this ensures there is capacity to continue 

undertaking the processing of business databases. 

 

CLES undertook a gap analysis by accessing Carmarthenshire's spend data for the 

financial year 2019/20 (as provided by the Welsh Government via Atamis) and 

mapping it against the relevant Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes. The 

‘leakage’ of spend from contracts with suppliers who are based outside of Wales 

was examined and split by SIC categories (i.e. Manufacturing) and low level SIC code 

(i.e. Manufacturing of computing). 

Tudalen 71



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 36 

 

Following this the Companies House data, records showing information on the 

number and location of businesses across both Carmarthenshire and Wales more 

generally were extracted and cleansed. 

 

It was then possible to examine this spend by low level SIC code (i.e. Manufacturing 

of computing), and compare this with the potential supply of firms available locally 

– split by those within the PSB area; Wales; and companies in Wales who were an 

existing supplier for other anchor institutions in Wales (as per the data suppliers 

from the Atamis database). 

 

CLES will provide these processed datasets to Carmarthenshire County Council and 

talk them through to either the Spend Analysis officer and Category Managers, 

which should provide further market intelligence for when undertaking market 

engagement for forthcoming procurement exercises.  High level observations are 

contained later in this report. 

 

Areas of high leakage, where local supply is currently underdeveloped, should be 

examined as potential areas of focus for market development activity, particularly 

to support the development of new, local, generative businesses in this sector, or 

to support businesses in failing or at-risk sectors to diversify or transition. 

 

Tudalen 72



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 37 

 

The following chart and table show the County Council’s spend against the relevant Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes, the amount of that 

spend which is within Carmarthenshire, outside Carmarthenshire, but within Wales, and the amount of spend outside of Wales. These figures relate to 

Tier 1 spend. The patterns of supplier re-spend within the local economy will be analysed later by the County Council using the toolkits provided by 

CLES. 

 

Figure 6 – Carmarthenshire County Council’s spend (and leakage) by Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) code 

 

 

 

 

  

T
udalen 73



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 38 

Table 1 – Carmarthenshire County Council’s spend (and leakage) by Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) code 

 

 
 

 

T
udalen 74



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 39 

It is important to note that Carmarthenshire County Council are already significantly outperforming the 

Welsh local authority average in terms of the proportion of spend with SMEs, Carmarthenshire 

suppliers and Welsh suppliers. This is indicative of a mature corporate approach to procurement, which 

recognises the strategic importance of procurement to delivering social, environmental, and economic 

outcomes for Carmarthenshire’s residents. This is supported by the development of the category 

management approach, the investment in a dedicated spend analysis officer, investment in local SME 

supplier engagement and commitment to further invest in staff resources to enhance the community 

benefits approach. 

 

The following analysis seeks to identify where there are opportunities to build on and enhance existing 

good practice. 

 

Figure 7 - Profile of businesses being procured from – size of businesses (share of £, all sectors) 

 

 
Local suppliers are more likely to be SMEs. Where spend is outside of Carmarthenshire, and particularly 

so when outside of Wales, the suppliers are significantly more likely to be large businesses.   

 

The Procurement Team, working with category managers, should explore each contract which 

constitutes leakage, in order of contract value, to determine its potential for re-localisation. For 

example: 

 

• When are the contracts up for renewal? 

• Are the contracts for specialist provision where there is no viable, local supply? 

• If local supply potential does exist, what further opportunities are there to engage with that 

market? What are the reasons or barriers to local firms not accessing these opportunities? 

• Is there potential to develop new or expand existing local supply capacity through support and 

interventions from the economic development function? 

• Is there scope for disaggregating contracts or further refining the lotting approach to widen 

access to more local supply? 

 

 

  

Tudalen 75



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 40 

Table 2 - The top high-level sectors with the most (by value) leakage outside of Wales 

 

 

 

 

Table 2, above, shows the sectors with the highest value of leakage outside of Wales. We have 

expressed this, in Figure 8 below, also as a percentage of the total spent in those sectors by the Council.  

This is important and illuminating.  What particularly stands out is the exceptionally good performance 

in relation to construction spend, where overall spend is substantial, but there is only 10% leakage 

outside of Wales. We explored, through the 1-2-1 interviews with officers and members, the specific 

practice lessons from the construction category and what potential exists to build on this good practice 

and extend it across other spend categories. Whilst there was some caution that the proportion of local 

spend in construction may decrease with the use of new regional frameworks, the approaches taken in 

the construction category to date (use of appropriate lotting strategies, developed with engagement 

from the sector, and proactive market engagement) have been impactful. 

 

Figure 8 – Leakage by sector (by value and as a percentage of spend) 

 

 

 

Table 2, above, shows leakage by sector, by value and as a percentage of spend. This helps prioritise 

potential areas of focus, highlighting those sectors where the value of leakage is relatively high and 

Tudalen 76



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 41 

where this represents a significant proportion of overall spend in that sector. The following sectors 

have leakage values exceeding £4m and percentages exceeding 50%. 

 

• Professional, scientific and technical activities 

• Information and communication 

• Manufacturing 

 

The potential local social and economic benefit of re-localising spend is significant. Using 

assumptions based on CLES’ work with local authorities elsewhere in the UK, we estimate that every 

£10m ‘leakage’ that is localised could achieve: 
 

• 220 jobs 

• £3.2 million re-spend (via suppliers’ own employment and supply chain) 

• £2.9 million ‘value of social value’ (i.e. mapping TOMS to £) 

 

A deep-dive, looking beyond high level spend analysis to draw out the intricacies across specific 

subsectors, is a useful analytical tool to establish where there is leakage - and thus growth potential 

locally. 

 

Figures 9 and 10, below, plot leakage (total and as a proportion of all spend) against sector vulnerability 

(using the proportion of employees furloughed as a proxy for vulnerability).  This provides a valuable 

insight to the degree to which re-localising spend could be an effective lever for supporting vulnerable 

or at-risk businesses in Carmarthenshire. Some sectors, such as the ‘food and accommodation’ sector, 

have been particularly hard hit by the consequences of the pandemic, but leakage levels are relatively 

low, so there is relatively less scope to support these businesses simply by localising more spend. 

Instead, the focus should be on how this sector can be supported through the supply chain.  However, 

for other sectors, such as ‘manufacturing’, there is potentially much more scope, as there is relatively 

high leakage and relatively high vulnerability.  

 

  

Tudalen 77



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 42 

Figure 9 – Leakage and sector vulnerability (total leakage £) 

 

 

 

Figure 10 – Leakage and sector vulnerability (leakage as a proportion of total spend £) 

 

 

 

Tudalen 78



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 43 

CLES analysed Carmarthenshire’s spending, and we have homed in here on manufacturing, by 5-digit 

SIC codes. There are several subsectors where low employment within the council area equates to very 

high levels of leakage. With an already existing strong manufacturing base, scoping should be 

undertaken to consider whether some of this leakage could be re-localised. Where local supply 

is underdeveloped to meet demand in areas of high leakage, consideration should be given to 

focused and tailored business support and more interventionalist market shaping. 

 

Table 3 – Manufacturing leakage by subsector against employment in Carmarthenshire 

 

Sub-sector 

Leakage as 
proportion of total 

spend  
Leakage  

Sub-sector 
employment 

locally 

33190 - Repair of other equipment 99.9% £1,789,345 0 

26200 - Manufacture of computers and peripheral 
equipment 

100.0% £887,982 10 

26301 - Manufacture of telegraph and telephone 
apparatus and equipment 

100.0% £263,036 0 

28230 - Manufacture of office machinery and equipment 
(except computers and peripheral equipment) 

100.0% £195,011 0 

18130 - Pre-press and pre-media services 100.0% £190,652 0 

28220 - Manufacture of lifting and handling equipment 100.0% £143,186 0 

32500 - Manufacture of medical and dental instruments 
and supplies 

100.0% £129,048 5 

27900 - Manufacture of other electrical equipment 92.4% £120,884 0 

26110 - Manufacture of electronic components 94.3% £117,886 0 

26309 - Manufacture of communication equipment (other 
than telegraph and telephone apparatus and equipment) 

100.0% £86,596 0 

29201 - Manufacture of bodies (coachwork) for motor 
vehicles (except caravans) 

98.1% £77,166 10 

31090 - Manufacture of other furniture 100.0% £67,919 5 

17230 - Manufacture of paper stationery 100.0% £67,195 0 

16290 - Manufacture of other products of wood; 
manufacture of articles of cork, straw and plaiting 
materials 

96.5% £50,623 30 

28250 - Manufacture of non-domestic cooling and 
ventilation equipment 

100.0% £45,635 35 

22290 - Manufacture of other plastic products 90.5% £42,050 20 

13990 - Manufacture of other textiles n.e.c. 100.0% £36,604 0 

20200 - Manufacture of pesticides and other 
agrochemical products 

100.0% £23,920 0 

22210 - Manufacture of plastic plates, sheets, tubes and 
profiles 

100.0% £18,706 0 

13960 - Manufacture of other technical and industrial 
textiles 

100.0% £16,772 0 

28131 - Manufacture of pumps 100.0% £14,353 0 

28490 - Manufacture of other machine tools 100.0% £13,500 0 

Tudalen 79



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 44 

32300 - Manufacture of sports goods 100.0% £12,907 0 

27400 - Manufacture of electric lighting equipment 100.0% £12,756 0 

28290 - Manufacture of other general-purpose machinery 
n.e.c. 

100.0% £10,094 75 

11070 - Manufacture of soft drinks; production of mineral 
waters and other bottled waters 

100.0% £8,794 40 

17220 - Manufacture of household and sanitary goods 
and of toilet requisites 

100.0% £7,230 0 

20411 - Manufacture of soap and detergents 100.0% £6,041 0 

22190 - Manufacture of other rubber products 100.0% £5,685 0 

27320 - Manufacture of other electronic and electric 
wires and cables 

100.0% £4,675 20 

26511 - Manufacture of electronic instruments and 
appliances for measuring, testing, and navigation, except 
industrial process control equipment 

100.0% £3,934 0 

33170 - Repair and maintenance of other transport 
equipment 

100.0% £3,873 5 

17290 - Manufacture of other articles of paper and 
paperboard 

100.0% £2,919 10 

20590 - Manufacture of other chemical products n.e.c. 100.0% £2,916 50 

20590 - Manufacture of other chemical products not 
elsewhere classified 

100.0% £2,340 50 

28923 - Manufacture of equipment for concrete crushing 
and screening roadworks 

100.0% £1,737 0 

22220 - Manufacture of plastic packing goods 100.0% £1,147 0 

28940 - Manufacture of machinery for textile, apparel and 
leather production 

100.0% £1,124 0 

20301 - Manufacture of paints, varnishes and similar 
coatings, mastics and sealants 

100.0% £1,077 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Tudalen 80



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 45 

4. Stakeholder findings 

Officer and elected member interviews 

One-to-one interviews were conducted with the following officers and elected members: 

 

• Wendy Walters, Chief Executive    

• Chris Moore, Director of Corporate services   

• Linda Rees-Jones, Head of Administration & Law   

• Julian Lewis, Principal Procurement Officer    

• Hywel Harries, Property Design Manager   

• Stuart Walters, Economic Development Manager    

• Simon Davies, Head of Access to Education    

• Jonathan Morgan, Head of Homes and Safer Communities    

• Clare Jones, Principal Procurement Officer    

 

• Cllr Emlyn Dole, Leader and EBM economic development   

• Cllr Mair Stephens, Deputy Leader   

• Cllr David Jenkins, EBM procurement   

• Cllr Cefin Campbell, EBM rural  

 

Key lines of enquiry included exploring the economic, social and environmental challenges facing 

Carmarthenshire and the degree to which procurement is strategically aligned to those challenges, 

current strengths of the Council’s approach to procurement, the challenges and barriers to further 

developing the Council’s progressive approach to procurement, and the relationship between 

procurement and economic development. 

 

Key issues raised in the interviews are presented below. 

 

Key challenges facing Carmarthenshire 

 

There was a shared understanding, across members and officers, of the existing economic, social, and 

environmental challenges facing Carmarthenshire and of the magnitude of both the immediate and 

longer-term impacts arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.  Particularly issues raised included: 

 

• The local economic development challenges in the context of the rural economy and the needs 

of market towns. 

• The prevalence and importance of micro-enterprises and SMEs to Carmarthenshire’s local 

economy and the extent to which these businesses now need additional focus and support. 

• The specific impact of reduced footfall in town centres 

• The vulnerabilities of particular sectors, including food and hospitality, that have been severely 

impacted by Covid-19. 

Tudalen 81



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 46 

• The existing challenges relating to jobs / unemployment – and the need to create jobs and 

business opportunities to retain young people in Carmarthenshire, and the extent to which local 

employment opportunities will be further impacted by Covid. 

• The challenge of connecting larger capital projects to local supply chain and employment 

opportunities in the context of a relative lack of larger contractors in South West Wales. 

 

Procurement as a key strategic lever 

 

There was a consistent understanding, both at a political and senior leadership level, of the strategic 

importance of procurement to economic and community wellbeing, and a strong commitment to the 

community wealth building agenda.  

 

The importance of procurement to economic reform and recovery in Carmarthenshire is recognised, and 

the crucial role that procurement has played in many aspects of the Covid response has reinforced that.  

 

There was a real determination that now is the time to be bold, to strengthen the strategic role of 

procurement, and have a single-minded focus on localising spend and supporting local, generative 

businesses. 

 

The procurement process in Carmarthenshire 

 

A consistent response from many of the interviewees was a recognition of the professionalism of the 

procurement team in Carmarthenshire, the value of their relationships with service areas and the quality 

of advice and support provided. However, concerns were raised about whether the current capacity of 

the procurement function is sufficient and that lack of capacity results in a need for ‘firefighting’ and 

reduces the potential for even more proactive working.  

 

Interviewees characterised the relationship between procurement and economic development as being 

positive, but that there was potential to cement the strengthened links between these functions that 

have come to the fore in the response to the Covid crisis.  

 

There remains a perception both internally and among suppliers (see business focus group summary, 

below) that there is scope to further streamline and improve processes and procedures to make the 

experience of supplying goods or services to the Council as straightforward as possible and reduce any 

unnecessary barriers for small and medium sized enterprises, community businesses and the third 

sector.  

  

There was a frustration expressed by the majority of interviewees around the perceived limitations of 

procurement legislation and guidance; and a view that there is a ‘risk-averse’ culture in Carmarthenshire 

that impacts on the ability to support local businesses and local supply chains.  

 

The importance of the community benefits approach as a key enabler for procurement to support the 

delivery of Carmarthenshire’s well-being objectives is understood.  The Council is self-aware in terms of 

existing good practice (e.g. in the construction category) and where there is scope to do more and has 

Tudalen 82



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 47 

already highlighted the need for dedicated resource/capacity to enhance the community benefits 

approach.  

Business focus groups 

CLES conducted three online focus groups with Carmarthenshire businesses: 

 

a) Existing suppliers 

b) Potential suppliers 

c) ‘Generative’ businesses 

 

The discussions were based around the following themes: 

 

• Theme 1 – Procurement Opportunities: finding out about procurement opportunities, clarity 

about the nature of the opportunities advertised, awareness of forthcoming opportunities and 

ability to gear up for those, and strengths and barriers in terms of accessing opportunities. 

 

• Theme 2 – Bidding for work: the experience of bidding for work, including the PQQ process, of 

being on framework agreements, and of going through the tender process. 

 

• Theme 3 – delivery: the experience of delivering contracts for the County Council, engagement 

and feedback, the community benefits approach, and suppliers’ attitudes towards the 

importance of localising their own supply chains. 

 

• Theme 4 – Support: suppliers’ views on the types of support that is available to businesses in 

Carmarthenshire to help them access public sector procurement opportunities, including help 

available specifically to smaller businesses. 

 

Key issues raised in the focus groups are summarised below: 

 

Existing suppliers 

 

Theme 1 – Procurement Opportunities 

 

• Suppliers felt that relationships with the Council and with procurement were good. 

• Suppliers were aware of where to look for tender opportunities, including Sell2Wales 

notifications. They valued their existing relationships with the Council and early engagement to 

be given advance notice of opportunities. 

• Awareness of opportunities tends to be at the tender stage, and this can sometimes be short 

notice. There is limited awareness of what the medium or longer term pipeline of opportunities 

might be, although this varied by sector, as some needs are more stable over time (for example 

food procurement), whereas others (e.g. construction) are more project-based. 

 

  

Tudalen 83



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 48 

Theme 2 – Bidding for work 

 

• In terms of process, there was a view that suppliers are required to regurgitate the same quality 

information, equality criteria etc, leading to lots of duplication and time spent submitting 

information, a cost which needs recovering.   

• There was a perception that there can be disparities in how tenders are evaluated and that the 

quality aspect of tendering can very subjective – a view that too much is based on what you say 

you are going to do, not what you actually deliver10. Consequently, the process does not reward 

those who have made the most effort to make the local pound go further. There is a need to 

better understand the real benefits that suppliers are bringing to the local community and the 

local economy as opposed to perceived outputs.  

• The community benefits approach was supported, in that suppliers are genuinely invested in 

the wellbeing of their local communities - they are based in Carmarthenshire and want to 

employ local labour and improve local communities. However, there was a view that this is 

inherent in what they do anyway, so why is there a need for such a depth of reporting?  

• Many aspects of what suppliers do to support the local community do not get scored, so these 

efforts are not recognised. There was a feeling that procurement can be too process-driven and 

sometimes the process gives the wrong answer.  

• Community benefits will focus on aspects including apprentices, NEET etc, but there never 

seems to be a focus on how you are keeping your existing staff employed, or the efforts you 

make to support develop and train your existing staff11. 

• Some suppliers said their experience of recent framework agreements had been frustrating – 

having been unsuccessful in relation to specific opportunities. 

• Suppliers who supply to multiple anchors in Carmarthenshire and/or multiple local authorities 

across Wales noted a lack of uniformity in terms of process. Procurement expertise across local 

authorities was felt to be variable, with some procurement functions lacking specific expertise 

of certain sectors, although it was noted that this was not the case in Carmarthenshire. 

 

Theme 3 – delivery 

 

• Suppliers noted that there were generally good relationships during the delivery phase of 

contracts and effective ongoing communication. 

• There was a view that KPIs for community benefits were sometimes only monitored at the end 

of a contract, rather than on an ongoing basis which led to a feeling of not feeling rewarded for 

the good that suppliers do. 

 

Theme 4 – Support 

 

• Suppliers welcomed and genuinely valued the loyalty and support that Carmarthenshire County 

Council has and continues to provide during the Covid pandemic. 

 
10 It is worth noting that the regulations do not allow for historical experience to be evaluated. The evaluation must be forward 

looking in terms of what a potential supplier will deliver against the specification. 
11 The retention of existing staff has been added in an update to the Welsh Government’s measurement tool. 

Tudalen 84



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 49 

• Examples of specific initiatives were raised, for example the provision of food parcels to 

vulnerable residents who were sheltering and how this demonstrated public procurement as a 

force for good. 

• The suppliers all talked about their commitment to the local area and pride in contributing to 

the local economy, supporting local employment and communities. 

• The issue of contract length was discussed, in terms of how shorter contracts result in 

difficulties in getting a return on investment and give less scope to be confident to make long 

term investment decisions in people and capital equipment. Construction was given as an 

example, with 3-4-year contracts, compared to a housing association framework, which has a 

10-year timespan12. 

• The support needs of smaller firms were acknowledged, but so too were the practical 

difficulties, for example in some sectors it was felt that working together as consortia would be 

problematic. It was also noted that some of the barriers to smaller providers are legitimate – for 

example, if they have insufficient resources to invest in critical areas, such as food safety.  

 

Potential suppliers 

 

Theme 1 – Procurement Opportunities 

 

• A view was expressed that Carmarthenshire County Council is reluctant to engage local 

consultants, favouring in-house approaches, or contracting out-of-area, even when the capacity 

exists locally. 

• Some of the attendees had experience of working on Council contracts, but indirectly as third-

party contractors. 

• There was a feeling that in some sectors ‘incumbent’ providers are selected based on price not 

quality, which reduced opportunities for local contractors and didn’t necessarily reflect overall 

value for money. 

• The attendees had a good awareness of Sell2Wales and some had signed up to notifications. 

However, there was a lack of awareness of whether all opportunities are advertised versus 

going directly to ‘incumbent’ suppliers. Particularly with respect to contracts under £25k, the 

suppliers were not aware of how to get on the radar of the officers in the Council who would be 

seeking quotations for these awards. 

• Some attendees had attended ‘meet the buyer’ events. A view was expressed that feedback at 

‘meet the buyer’ events was sometimes not acted on – for example, suggestions to divide 

contracts into more specific lots. The suppliers would welcome earlier engagement so that their 

views could shape how the opportunities are brought to market. 

• Some suppliers were unable to access procurement opportunities due to different elements of 

provision being bundled together and not divided into separate lots; and felt that a more 

disaggregated approach would open up more opportunities for local suppliers. 

• None of the attendees had a sense of the longer-term pipeline of potential opportunities, but 

all felt this would be helpful. 

 

 
12 The duration of frameworks is dictated by the Public Contracts Regulations which procurement tenders must comply with. 

Carmarthenshire County Council have put in place an increasing number of Dynamic Purchasing Systems which enebales greater 

duration and more flexibility for suppliers to join during its lifetime. 

Tudalen 85



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 50 

Theme 2 – Bidding for work 

 

• Some of the attendees had gone through the PQQ stage but found it impossible to service that 

agreement later in the process, because of the nature of the specification (services/goods not 

being split into separate lots). 

• There was a general view that the procurement process favours larger firms with in-house 

expertise on how to bid, and that the time and effort required, particularly for lower value 

opportunities, discouraged smaller contractors. There needs to be a simplification of processes 

to make it more proportionate. 

 

Theme 4 – Support 

 

• Some of the attendees noted that their businesses currently spend a lot of money out-of-area, 

and would value support from the County Council on opportunities to support local businesses 

through their supply chain, but didn’t know where to find this information. 

• Suppliers noted that they would like a more direct approach, as businesses based in 

Carmarthenshire and under Welsh ownership, more direct conversations about how the right 

price/business relationship could be developed. 

• Contract sizes were mentioned as a barrier and a view that splitting contracts into smaller lots 

would open up opportunities.  

• Attendees felt that the Council should consider dealing with local smaller suppliers even if it is 

slightly more expensive. 

 

Generative businesses 

 

Theme 1 – Procurement Opportunities 

 

• The organisations present had experience of receiving grants to provide services and support 

and of more competitive tendering for contract opportunities. 

• A feeling was expressed that there is sometimes very short notice to bid for opportunities, or 

for requests to pull a project proposal together. Existing Service Level Agreements (SLAs) 

sometimes run over without renewal, so provision is provided based on trust.  When SLAs come 

up for renewal, it was felt that decisions are often made late, or at short notice, which creates 

operational difficulties for providers, in terms of their forward budgetary planning and being 

able to retain staff. 

• All participants noted that relationships were generally positive with the Council and they 

valued the professionalism and accessibility of Council staff. 

• Attendees were generally aware of where to look for tendering opportunities that are 

advertised, but some felt that very few opportunities arise. 

• For work under £25k there was a lack of understanding of how to get “on the list” to be asked 

for quotes. 

• Capacity and resources in the sector are limited in terms of the time and expertise required to 

put proposals together. The third sector wants to be responsive, but it was felt they are 

sometimes put under pressure to deliver at short notice. 

Tudalen 86



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 51 

• Under the Carmarthenshire Compact arrangement there were previous efforts to develop a 

forward planning calendar approach, to enable third sector organisations to know what 

contract opportunities were coming up on the horizon, but despite a lot of work being put into 

this, it never came to fruition. 

• Some attendees felt that there was a ‘we know best’ attitude in certain parts of the Council, that  

engagement with the third sector could be improved, and that the sector could support delivery 

in some areas but the Council prefer to progress initiatives in-house which could be better 

delivered by the third sector. 

 

Theme 2 – Bidding for work 

 

• One example from a community enterprise delivering a large capital project from a 

combination of European funding, Welsh Government funding, and a small element of funding 

from Carmarthenshire County Council – was a frustrating experience. It was felt that the County 

Council process was lengthy and overcomplicated, and that the procurement departments 

expectations resulted in increased professional costs and project delays (it was stressed, 

however, that this was a one-off experience and not generally indicative of the relationship with 

the Council). 

• In terms of the requirements to conform with procurement procedures – there was a view that 

the Council need to be a bit more understanding of voluntary and community groups. 

 

Theme 3 – delivery 

 

• Generally good engagement and positive relationships, particularly with more senior staff. 

• Attendees noted that there was very good dialogue around the delivery of existing SLAs, with 

sufficient opportunities to keep in touch, and a degree of flexibility in terms of how 

organisations’ deliver their targets, which as welcomed. 

• Some expressed a degree of frustration around financial monitoring that the monitoring 

requirements were cumbersome (e.g. paper copies required even during lockdown) and that 

there is a lack of flexibility. 

 

Theme 4 – Support 

 

• Attendees felt there was good support and signposting to support in relation to specific tender 

opportunities. 

• Information is provided to the sector about how the Council is thinking about making changes 

(for example to longer running SLAs), and what the changing expectations are for third sector 

providers. 

• On business support, it was felt that there could be more tailored business support to the third 

sector and that the social enterprise sector could be involved in many areas of the local, 

commercial economy, but that the sector is under-developed in Carmarthenshire, with a lack of 

ambition for the sector and insufficient support. 

• Participants felts that there was scope for social enterprises to be doing more of what the Council 

currently does – for example, training, IT support, tourism.   

Tudalen 87



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 52 

• A view was expressed that the Council sometimes act more as ‘competitors’ to the sector, rather 

than ‘allies’. Some specific examples were cited where Council projects were launched which were 

in direct competition to, or duplicating, existing third sector/social enterprise provision. 

• On the potential for the third sector to act collaboratively, forming consortia in order to access 

larger procurement opportunities, efforts had been made in the past but a number of practical 

difficulties have inhibited this coming to fruition in some cases (the time required, 

organisational differences etc.)  

 

5. Advancing progressive 
procurement 

Procurement as a key strategic lever 

 

Carmarthenshire’s approach to procurement is thoughtful and mature, the Council is self-aware of the 

potential impact of its spend, and strongly committed to making additional improvements, with the 

economic impacts of Covid prompting further urgency to this agenda. Whilst the political and officer 

appetite to increase the proportion of local spend was clear, there is scope to explicitly codify and refine 

this – for example:  

 

• Highlighting the importance of procurement as a strategic lever in the Corporate Strategy, as part 

of a more explicit Community Wealth Building narrative, aligned to wellbeing objectives and 

goals. 

• Adopting a corporate KPI and clear targets for the percentage of spend with local suppliers and 

supplier local re-spend. 

• Ensuring that spend analysis is used strategically and routinely considered at senior leadership 

and Cabinet level. 

• Marshalling internal leadership, management, and communications to ensure a shared culture 

and mindset with all departments focused on the importance of the ‘Carmarthenshire pound’. 

 

The importance of procurement to economic reform and recovery in Carmarthenshire is recognised, and 

the crucial role that procurement has played in many aspects of the Covid response has reinforced that.  

 

The emergency response phase of the pandemic foreshadows much of what is possible. Local authorities 

have deepened and broadened their relationships with businesses and workers. These relationships and 

insight provide a key foundation for the work that must now be done. The key leadership role provided 

by Carmarthenshire County Council in the emergency response to Covid, for example the decision to 

directly lead on the provision of food parcels for vulnerable residents (working with a locally based 

wholesaler and ensuring the food parcels contained locally sourced produce) vividly demonstrate the 

marrying of deep public service values and community focus, the Council’s commitment to localism and 

the social and economic power of procurement.  It will be important to continue to underline the 

importance of procurement and economic development to the wellbeing of local communities going 

Tudalen 88



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 53 

forward and to celebrate the role of the professionals in these services and the value of their collective 

efforts, as the economic impacts associated with the pandemic begin to bite.  It will also be important 

going forward, that procurement professionals continue to have a voice and input to senior decision 

making. 

 

 

The procurement process in Carmarthenshire 

 

Current capacity in the procurement function does not match the benchmark of one procurement 

professional per £10m expenditure quoted in the Wales Procurement Policy Statement13. Acknowledging 

the resource constraints on local authorities across the UK and the additional demands arising from the 

shifting procurement landscape and decreased reliance on National Procurement Service frameworks in 

Wales, it will be important to consider what resources are needed for the procurement function to 

maximise the economic and social impact of the County Councils spend. The Council deserve praise for 

investing in dedicated capacity for spend analysis and the planned new community benefits officer post. 

 

There is scope to strengthen the relationship between procurement and economic development. As 

already mentioned in the ‘evidence review’ section of this report, consideration should be given to 

facilitating local supply to fill existing supply voids, with the manufacturing sector being a particular area 

of focus. This will require a capacity building approach and additional collaborative working between 

procurement and economic development. There needs to be a continued focus on developing a strong 

relational approach to local business, with procurement and economic development working together 

to encourage supplier readiness and collaboration.  

 

There are clear strengths in terms of how the procurement function engages with the market. The 

department have an officer who is a dedicated first point of contact for any suppliers looking to 

understand how they bid for opportunities to work with the Council. They run a range of different 

supplier engagement initiatives and events including one-to-one meetings and larger tender specific 

supplier or early market engagement events to consult with the marketplace and explain their rationale 

for the procurement strategy approach taken. These have been critical in shaping their tendering activity 

into an approach which can be met by the marketplace. This approach has been particularly successful 

in the construction category and consideration should be given to broadening the approach across other 

areas of category management; and could be enhanced by:  

 

• Publishing a longer-term (3-5 year) forward plan and using this as the basis for more regular 

market engagement across all categories, not just reactive to tenders – to support local supply 

chain readiness.  This could be compiled from 3-5-year Procurement Plans for each Category 

Manager. 

• Developing a suppliers’ guide that is bespoke for Carmarthenshire and tailored to the needs of 

local SMEs and the third sector. 

• Continuing to review contract timescales to ensure the right balance between 

competitiveness/efficiency and the need for stability of contracts to give local suppliers the 

 
13 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/wales-procurement-policy-statement.pdf 

Tudalen 89



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 54 

confidence to invest in their capacity – informed by deep engagement with potential local 

suppliers. 

• Building on current relationships with suppliers to support the localisation of their supply chains 

(informed by the supplier re-spend analysis – see toolkits below) 

 

There would be merit in more explicitly differentiating between different business forms in the local 

economy. At the core of Community Wealth Building, is a focus on locally productive forms of 

business. These “generative” businesses, such as employee owned firms, community business and 

social enterprise are firms in which wealth is both created and shared broadly between owners, 

workers and consumers, ultimately increasing local multipliers as wealth flows through to people 

and places. 

 

Figure 11 – Extractive vs generative 

 

 
Consideration should be given to differentiating the business types/forms of suppliers and potential 

suppliers, in terms of spend analysis, market engagement and business support (including market 

making/shaping activity) to enable bespoke approaches to increase the proportion of generative 

businesses. 

 

Any business database used by the Council should seek to include whether the organisational form of 

the current/potential supply is classed as ‘generative’ or ‘extractive’.  Insofar as it is feasible within the 

local sector, commissioners and policymakers should be utilising locally generative alternatives to 

maximise social value. Ideally, there should be a mix of suppliers involving the local state in conjunction 

with alternative models of ownership such as local charities, co-ops, CICs and community businesses 

etc. If designed in the right way, specifications can enable these more generative providers to enter the 

market and maximise social value. Once complete, this dataset can be a useful resource for 

commissioners to identify potential suppliers that can bid for procurement opportunities and 

consequently potentially increase the share of council spending that is delivered by local socially, 

economically and environmentally generative organisations. 

 

Work has already been undertaken to streamline procedures and supplier documentation, particularly 

with respect to lower value (sub £75k) contracts. However, there is still a perception both internally and 

among suppliers that there is scope to further streamline and improve processes and procedures to 

make the experience of supplying goods or services to the Council as straightforward as possible and 

reduce any unnecessary barriers for small and medium sized enterprises, community businesses and 

the third sector. There are discussions in the wider public sector procurement community in Wales about 

the potential development of a ‘Passport to Trade’ solution to minimise the need for suppliers to submit 

Tudalen 90



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 55 

information in successive tender bids. The anchor organisations across the Public Service Board footprint 

should monitor any developments in this space and ascertain to what extent any such development 

would add value to existing processes and could stimulate more collaborative working across the public 

sector procurement landscape in Carmarthenshire. Establishing a procurement forum which brings 

together Public Services Board partners would provide a mechanism to share resources and learning 

and develop collaborative approaches across Carmarthenshire. 

  

There is a recurring theme of the perceived limitations of procurement legislation and guidance and a 

view that there is a ‘risk-averse’ culture in Carmarthenshire that impacts on the ability to support local 

businesses and local supply chains. We are aware from our discussions with officers and members in 

Carmarthenshire that these issues have been much debated, and of the criticality of taking a measured 

and balanced approach, staying within the regulations and not exposing the Council to unwarranted risk. 

Officers (rightly) look to act in the best interests of the Council and protect it from challenge and potential 

reputational damage. However, if there is a disconnect between aspirations and capacity to deliver, it is 

important to focus on what more could potentially be done, within the regulations. 

 

The recent report14 of the National Assembly for Wales Committee inquiry on ‘Procurement in the 

Foundational Economy’ noted that: 

 

Several witnesses told the Committee that EU rules themselves are not a barrier to local firms engaging in the 

procurement process. Liz Lucas of Caerphilly County Borough Council (CBC) said the rules were “very, very 

flexible as they stand” and “the rules do not stop you looking after your local contractors”. Steve Cranston also 

said current rules do not prevent innovation, but that there are other cultural and capacity barriers. Wales Co-

operative Centre said that “the existing legal framework provides scope to support social enterprises and the 

foundational economy.”  

 

In this respect, consideration could be given to: 

 

• Increased emphasis on market engagement (combined with publishing a longer-term forward 

plan of what is likely to need to be procured and a contract-by-contract review for each major 

area of ‘leakage’ – see Appendix 5 below). 

• Consideration of contract lengths and how this impacts the stability of potential supply for local 

contractors. 

• Tailored and focused business support for local SMEs and, particularly, for more ‘generative’ 

business models such as community business, cooperatives, mutuals and social enterprises. 

• Encouraging local supplier collaboration and ensuring that procurement professionals are well 

connected to their economic development colleagues. 

• Adopting the use of small lot exemptions to support SMEs. 

• Extending the use of reserved contracts for businesses whose main aim is the integration of 

disadvantaged people – particularly where there is scope to work with third sector organisations 

to design new approaches linked, for example, to tackling long-term unemployment or 

disadvantage. 

 

 
14 https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12308/cr-ld12308%20-e.pdf 

Tudalen 91



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 56 

For lower value works (£5k- £25k), officers are currently required to obtain three quotes from competitive 

sources and be able to demonstrate this process by keeping appropriate records. Discussions have taken 

place as to whether a number of these quotes could be required to be from local suppliers.  Whilst CLES 

are categorically not able to offer legal advice, we do note that other local authorities in Wales have 

adopted procedures to allow for a minimum number of quotations to be requested from local businesses 

alongside others.  A possible alternative would be to consider encouraging local sourcing where 

practicable whilst emphasising the overriding need for competitiveness and value for money – i.e. not a 

requirement to select a locally-based supplier if that supplier would not be best value (e.g. they are more 

expensive or their bid does not comply with the specification), and measures to consistently 

communicate these opportunities to a local business audience.  

 

We consider this to be an important area of focus. For smaller businesses which have not historically 

engaged with public sector procurement, the opportunities arising out of £5-£25k contracts could have 

significant potential to support their viability. It would also provide smaller, local suppliers who may have 

no or little experience of working for the Council an entry route for engagement and provide them with 

the confidence to move on to bidding for higher value works in the future.  Consideration should be given 

to developing a mechanism to regularly communicate these opportunities to the SME and third sectors 

in Carmarthenshire – e.g. via online channels, social media, email alerts, or via local business networks. 

 

Social value and community benefits 

 

The community benefits approach is currently considered for all contracts but monitoring against 

outcomes is prioritised for larger contracts (over £1m). Community benefits in Carmarthenshire cover a 

range of areas, as described on the procurement pages of the Council’s website: 

 

• Employment and Training Opportunities 

o Recruit and train long term economically inactive persons and or 16-24 year olds not in 

education employment or training (NEETs) as part of the workforce delivering this 

contract. 

o You might be required to agree to a set number of person weeks of 

employment/experience per annum (To be agreed upon contract award). A person-week 

is the equivalent of one person working for 5 days either on site, or through a mix of on-

site work and off-site training (paid or unpaid). 

o Consider employing an apprentice during the contract period. 

o Offer work placements to school, colleges and university students as part of their course 

or for any individual interested in gaining experience in your sector. 

• Supply Chain Opportunities 

o Create opportunities for SME’s to bid for work through the supply chain. 

o Sign up to various mentoring schemes to provide advice and support to new companies 

or SME’s. 

• Additional Benefits 

o Community Initiatives: Volunteering days, contribute to community regeneration 

schemes, Sponsor mini sporting tournaments e.g. rugby or football etc. 

o Educational Contributions: Engage positively with school-age children; Work placements 

for secondary-school children and college students, visits to primary schools to engage 

Tudalen 92



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 57 

with younger children, Provide educational opportunities to local schools e.g. site visits 

etc., Development of bespoke qualifications with local colleges. 

 

The community benefits approach is a key enabler for procurement to support the delivery of 

Carmarthenshire’s well-being objectives, by embedding the Well-being of Future Generations Act into 

procurement contracts and frameworks. 

Carmarthenshire County Council can be proud of existing recognised good practice in this regard –for 

example, in its delivery of the Welsh Government funded 21st Century school programme, the County 

Council used the South West Wales Regional Contracts Framework to embed the delivery of community 

benefits and sustainable ways of working. The project will achieve Passivhaus certification and BREEAM 

‘excellent’ certification, with project bank accounts (a ring-fenced bank account from which payments are 

made directly). The project has been recognised by the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales as 

one which demonstrates clear links to the five ways of working within the Act as well as the local 

authority's well-being objectives. 

The Council acknowledge that monitoring of community benefit KPIs is currently less robust in categories 

other than construction.  

We recommend considering: 

• Scaling up the community benefits approach codifying this into a social value (community 

benefits) policy, with clear outcomes linked to wellbeing objectives and continuing to increase 

the number of contracts below £1m in which community benefits are routinely included, 

supported by a recording and monitoring approach to ensure community benefits are being 

delivered. This would establish a robust policy framing which could be used flexibly to support 

innovation in terms of how suppliers respond to the needs and priorities expressed in the policy. 

• Reviewing the ‘menu’ of community benefit clauses to ensure the scope of benefits matches the 

scale of current economic and social challenges – for example, including a focus on retention and 

training of the existing workforce, which can help maintain or improve the local skill pool and 

from a supplier development viewpoint can benefit the contractor’s competitiveness in the 

future. While inclusion of mandatory clauses which specifically require companies to employ local 

labour would be in breach of the European Community Treaty Principles of equal treatment, 

inclusion of monitoring requirements which measure the impact of procurement activity on local 

labour rates and the requirement to advertise opportunities locally and work with local 

employability providers is permissible. 

• Building in annual reviews to ensure that Carmarthenshire’s community benefits remain fit for 

purpose and in line with Wellbeing and Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 and any refresh of 

the local Well-being Pan. 

• Seek to collaborate with other PSB partners to increase the social value of procurement through 

maximising local spend. 

• Investigating the use of a tool which enable the ‘value of community benefits’ to be measured, so 

that concerns over the financial implications of pursuing community benefits more widely can be 

Tudalen 93



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 58 

assuaged15 - and weighing up the potential benefits and limitations of such tools, the costs of 

administering this process and its potential suitability for different market categories.  

The recent S20 report of the Commissioner stated that: 

In testing and demonstrating how they are applying the Act, all public bodies and boards covered by the Well-

being of Future Generations Act (including Welsh Government) should: 

Approach all procurement decisions through the lens of the Act – by applying the Five Ways of Working, 

considering their well-being objectives and/or steps and how to maximise contribution to the seven well-being 

goals at the very beginning of the process even at pre-procurement stage. Provide clear evidence for how their 

procurement activities are supporting the delivery of their well-being objectives. Include specific contract 

clauses linked to well-being objectives/goals in every public sector contract and framework, using social value 

measures to capture impact. 

The concept of Social Value needs not just to be viewed as being in the domain of the procurement 

function. Instead, it needed to sit across the corporate heart of the Council and be the responsibility of 

all departments. It needs the active involvement of policy leads, those with knowledge of key local and 

global policy challenges, such as climate change, health and well-being, economic reform and ensuring 

sustainable employment. The approach should address each of the stages of the Cycle of Procurement: 

 

• The first stage of the Cycle is around Governance and Strategy. If local authorities want to change 

the way in which they undertake procurement, then they must have the strategic and governance 

conditions in place to enable it to happen. They need to undertake Spend Analysis to set a baseline 

position of where their spend goes. They need to have a Social Value Procurement Strategy and 

Framework in place that outlines the types of wider (Social Value) outcomes they want to achieve 

through procurement. And they must have Officers that are socially, as well as cost conscious. 

• The second stage of the Cycle is around Commissioning. This is where, during the design of goods 

and services, local authorities can start to think about the types of outcomes that are appropriate in 

relation to that good or service from a Social Value perspective. Here, Commissioners can consult 

with end users, other departments, and the market to shape the design of the good or service. It is 

at this point that they need to also consider breaking contracts into lots and set the weighting against 

which Social Value will be evaluated. 

• The third stage of the Cycle is Pre-Procurement. Here, local authorities need to make the market 

aware of what they are looking to purchase and what added benefits they are seeking in Social Value 

terms and beyond the provision of the good or service. They need to provide information, often 

through a portal and through Meet the Market events.  

• The fourth stage of the Cycle is Procurement and Decision-Making. If local authorities want to use 

procurement as a way of achieving wider outcomes, they need to ask potential suppliers about the 

types of Social Value they are going to deliver through the contract. They also need to evaluate 

against this in a qualitative and quantitative manner.  

• The fifth stage of the Cycle is Monitoring. If local authorities are going to the trouble of developing 

Social Value Procurement Strategies and asking questions around it, then they need to monitor the 

extent to which suppliers are delivering upon Social Value outcomes during delivery, and support 

suppliers through effective brokerage. A tool which assesses social value contributions to the 

Wellbeing Act in terms of non-financial benefits (e.g., jobs for long term unemployed) and the 

 
15 The National Social Value Measurement Framework for Wales is an existing tool that could be used for this purpose 

Tudalen 94



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 59 

additional financial value created (e.g. additional fiscal and economic benefits) such as the National 

Social Value Measurement Framework for Wales (also known as the National TOMs Wales16) may be 

useful in this regard. 

  

 
16 https://www.nationalsocialvaluetaskforce.org/national-toms-wales  

Tudalen 95

https://www.nationalsocialvaluetaskforce.org/national-toms-wales


 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 60 

6. Action Plan 

Advancing progressive procurement in Carmarthenshire 

Recommendation Time Horizon Next Steps 

Make community wealth building a 

more explicit, central strategic 

narrative 

 

Medium term 
○ Create a cross-cutting Community Wealth Building narrative 

across corporate strategy, policy, and associated action plans. 

○ Develop a wider Community Wealth Building approach, 

encompassing the full range of anchor institution economic 

assets (including workforce, land, property and wider financial 

assets), to enable even greater impact to be secured. 

Incorporate an emphasis on 

sectoral transition in the Councils 

economic recovery and reform 

programme. 

Medium term 
○ Consider the development of bespoke and targeted approaches 

to support sectoral transition towards environmental, renewable, 

and emerging technologies sectors. 

Increase the strategic profile of 

procurement. 

Short term 
○ Ensure that the resourcing and capacity of the procurement and 

business support functions are commensurate with the Council’s 

expectations. 

○ Ensure that procurement professionals continue to have a voice 

and input into senior decision making. T
udalen 96



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 61 

Recommendation Time Horizon Next Steps 

○ Marshal internal leadership, management, and communications 

to ensure a shared culture and mindset with all departments 

focused on the Carmarthenshire pound. 

○ Continue to strengthen the relationship between procurement 

and economic development. 

Systematically review 

opportunities to localise spend, 

prioritising interventions where 

there is a strong overlap between 

leakage and local economic 

vulnerability. 

Short to medium term 
○ The Procurement Team should explore each contract which 

constitutes leakage, to determine its potential for localisation, 

with the following sectors being of priority: 

• Professional, scientific, and technical activities 

• Information and communication 

• Manufacturing 

○ Instigate a programme of market engagement with the potential 

local supply base in relation to these contract opportunities. 

○ Consider the need to focus and tailor business support and for 

more interventionalist market shaping, for example in the 

manufacturing sector – to enable the sector to meet demand. 

Deepen and extend the approach 

to spend analysis 

Short term 
○ Undertake a supplier re-spend analysis and use this as the basis 

for future interventions and support. 

○ Adopt corporate KPIs and clear targets for the percentage of 

spend with local suppliers and supplier re-spend. 

T
udalen 97



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 62 

Recommendation Time Horizon Next Steps 

○ Any business database used by the Council should seek to include 

whether the organisational form of the current/potential supply 

is classed as ‘generative’ or ‘extractive’. 

○ Ensure that spend analysis is used strategically and routinely 

considered at senior leadership and Cabinet level. 

Further develop market 

engagement approaches 

Short to medium term 
○ Develop and publish a longer-term (3-5-year) forward plan and 

use this as the basis for more regular market engagement across 

all categories, not just reactive to tenders. 

○ Roll out the suppliers’ guide (to be finalised following the 

workshops) 

○ Provide advice on how suppliers and other local businesses can 

engage their supply chains to contribute. 

○ Provide tailored business support to increase the capacity of local, 

generative businesses, to access procurement opportunities. 

○ Share best practice to assist suppliers in the procurement 

process, for example anonymised examples of what scored well 

and what didn’t. 

○ In advance of contract, or framework, renewal- undertake 

supplier and market engagement to consider: 

• Whether contract timescales ensure the right balance 

between competitiveness/efficiency and the need for 

stability of contracts to give local suppliers the confidence 

to invest in their capacity. 

T
udalen 98



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 63 

Recommendation Time Horizon Next Steps 

• Whether lotting strategies can be tailored to maximise the 

ability of local suppliers to engage. 

Enhance and refine procurement 

processes 

Short to medium term 
○ Engage with smaller suppliers and the third sector on 

opportunities to further streamline procurement processes. 

○ Keep under review the national discussions about a ‘Passport to 

trade’ and the extent to which this potentially adds value to 

existing processes. 

○ Adopt the use of small lot exemptions to support local SMEs 

○ Consider the potential for ‘reserved contracts’, including any 

scope to work with third sector organisations to design new 

approaches linked, for example, to tackling long-term 

unemployment or disadvantage. 

○ Ensure a strong corporate focus on the impact of lower value 

spend (£5-£25k) on the local economy to support micro-

enterprises and SMEs. 

• Encourage local sourcing where practicable. 

• Develop mechanisms for potential suppliers to be visible 

to the Council. 

• Develop a mechanism to effectively communicate these 

contract opportunities to micro-enterprises and SMEs. 

Scale up and codify the approach 

to social value and community 

benefits 

Short to medium term 
○ Produce a social value (community benefits) policy, with clear 

outcomes linked to wellbeing objectives. 

T
udalen 99



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 64 

Recommendation Time Horizon Next Steps 

○ Consider expanding the community benefits approach, increasing 

the number of contracts below £1m in which community benefits 

are routinely included. 

○ Implement a more robust recording and monitoring approach to 

ensure community benefits are being delivered. 

○ Review the ‘menu’ of community benefit clauses to ensure the 

scope of benefits matches the scale of current economic and 

social challenges.  

○ Build in annual reviews to ensure that Carmarthenshire’s 

community benefits remain fit for purpose and in line with 

Wellbeing and Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 and any 

refresh of the local Well-being Plan. 

○ Investigate the use of a tool such as the National TOMs Wales 

which can measure suppliers social value contribution to the 

Wellbeing Act in terms of non-financial benefits (e.g., jobs for long 

term unemployed) and the additional financial value created (e.g., 

additional fiscal and economic benefits). 

Seek to collaborate with other 

anchors across the PSB 

Medium term 
○ Establish, or utilise an existing, forum to bring together 

procurement and economic development leads from across all 

the PSB anchor institutions in Carmarthenshire. 

○ Investigate the scope for joint procurement of certain goods or 

services. 

• Identifying key sectors of relevance to multiple anchors 

where they could seek to grow dense local and socially 

T
udalen 100



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 65 

Recommendation Time Horizon Next Steps 

virtuous supply chains which will achieve wider social and 

local economic value. 

○ Investigate the scope for to align procurement processes and 

objectives. 

• Identifying key social value outcomes of relevance to the 

Carmarthenshire economy, prioritise them in social value 

approaches of multiple anchors and share learning on 

what works in delivering on these between anchors and 

across supply chains.  

• Streamline processes, including investigating any national 

developments in terms of a ‘Passport to trade’ across 

sectors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

T
udalen 101



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 66 

Appendix 1 – 
supplementary 
information 

SIC code Matching 

As noted previously in this report, CLES analysed high-level industry categories 

provided in a previous Carmarthenshire Council report by matching these 

categories to 5-digit SIC code industries. Our workings are shown below: 

Education and Childcare 

85100 Pre-primary education 

85200 Primary education 

85310 General secondary education 

85320 Technical and vocational secondary education 

85410 Post-secondary non-tertiary education 

85421 First-degree level higher education 

85422 Post-graduate level higher education 

85510 Sports and recreation education 

85520 Cultural education 

88910 Child day-care activities 

Food and Beverage 

56101 - Licensed restaurants 

56102 - Unlicensed restaurants and cafes 

56103 - Take away food shops and mobile food stands 

56210 - Event catering activities 

56290 - Other food service activities 

56290 - Other food services 

56301 - Licensed clubs 

56302 - Public houses and bars 

Personal Services17  

95110 - Repair of computers and peripheral equipment 

95220 - Repair of household appliances and home and garden equipment 

95240 - Repair of furniture and home furnishings 

95250 - Repair of watches, clocks and jewellery 

 
17 (exempting Building, Commercial, Business, or Professional services) 

Tudalen 102



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 67 

95290 - Repair of other personal and household goods 

96010 - Washing and (dry-)cleaning of textile and fur products 

96090 - Other personal service activities n.e.c. 

 

Food & Drink Production 

10120 - Processing and preserving of poultry meat 

10130 - Production of meat and poultry meat products 

10320 - Manufacture of fruit and vegetable juice 

10511 - Liquid milk and cream production 

10519 - Manufacture of milk products (other than liquid milk and cream, butter, 

cheese) n.e.c. 

10520 - Manufacture of ice cream 

10611 - Grain milling 

10612 - Manufacture of breakfast cereals and cereals-based foods 

10710 - Manufacture of bread; manufacture of fresh pastry goods and cakes 

10720 - Manufacture of rusks and biscuits; manufacture of preserved pastry 

goods and cakes 

10821 - Manufacture of cocoa, and chocolate confectionery 

10822 - Manufacture of sugar confectionery 

10831 - Tea processing 

10832 - Production of coffee and coffee substitutes 

10840 - Manufacture of condiments and seasonings 

10850 - Manufacture of prepared meals and dishes 

10890 - Manufacture of other food products n.e.c. 

10910 - Manufacture of prepared feeds for farm animals 

10920 - Manufacture of prepared pet foods 

11010 - Distilling, rectifying and blending of spirits 

11050 - Manufacture of beer 

11070 - Manufacture of soft drinks; production of mineral waters and other 

bottled waters 

Sports & Leisure 

77210 - Renting and leasing of recreational and sports goods 

93110 - Operation of sports facilities 

93120 - Activities of sport clubs 

93130 - Fitness facilities 

93199 - Other sports activities (not including activities of racehorse owners) n.e.c. 

93199 - Other sports activities 

Visitor Economy  

55100 - Hotels and similar accommodation 

55201 - Holiday centres and villages 

55202 - Youth hostels 

55209 - Other holiday and other short-stay accommodation (not including holiday 

centres and villages or youth hostels) n.e.c. 

55300 - Recreational vehicle parks, trailer parks and camping grounds 

55300 - Camping grounds, recreational vehicle parks and trailer parks 

Tudalen 103



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 68 

55900 - Other accommodation 

79110 - Travel agency activities 

79120 - Tour operator activities 

79901 - Activities of tourist guides 

79909 - Other reservation service activities (not including activities of tourist guides) 

91020 - Museum activities 

91030 - Operation of historical sites and buildings and similar visitor attractions 

91040 - Botanical and zoological gardens and nature reserve activities 

91040 - Botanical and zoological gardens and nature reserves activities 

93210 - Activities of amusement parks and theme parks 

93290 - Other amusement and recreation activities 

93290 - Other amusement and recreation activities n.e.c. 

Retail  

47110 - Retail sale in non-specialised stores with food, beverages or tobacco 

predominating 

47190 - Other retail sale in non-specialised stores 

47210 - Retail sale of fruit and vegetables in specialised stores 

47220 - Retail sale of meat and meat products in specialised stores 

47230 - Retail sale of fish, crustaceans and molluscs in specialised stores 

47240 - Retail sale of bread, cakes, flour confectionery and sugar confectionery in 

specialised stores 

47250 - Retail sale of beverages in specialised stores 

47260 - Retail sale of tobacco products in specialised stores 

47290 - Other retail sale of food in specialised stores 

47300 - Retail sale of automotive fuel in specialised stores 

47410 - Retail sale of computers, peripheral units and software in specialised 

stores 

47421 - Retail sale of mobile telephones in specialised stores 

47429 - Retail sale of telecommunications equipment (other than mobile 

telephones) n.e.c., in specialised stores 

47430 - Retail sale of audio and video equipment in specialised stores 

47510 - Retail sale of textiles in specialised stores 

47520 - Retail sale of hardware, paints and glass in specialised stores 

47530 - Retail sale of carpets, rugs, wall and floor coverings in specialised stores 

47540 - Retail sale of electrical household appliances in specialised stores 

47591 - Retail sale of musical instruments and scores in specialised stores 

47591 - Retail sale of musical instruments and scores 

47599 - Retail of furniture, lighting, and similar (not musical instruments or 

scores) in specialised store 

47599 - Retail sale of furniture, lighting equipment and other household articles 

(other than musical instruments) n.e.c., in specialised stores 

47610 - Retail sale of books in specialised stores 

47620 - Retail sale of newspapers and stationery in specialised stores 

47640 - Retail sale of sports goods, fishing gear, camping goods, boats and 

bicycles 

47640 - Retail sale of sporting equipment in specialised stores 

47650 - Retail sale of games and toys in specialised stores 

47710 - Retail sale of clothing in specialised stores 

Tudalen 104



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 69 

47721 - Retail sale of footwear in specialised stores 

47722 - Retail sale of leather goods in specialised stores 

47730 - Dispensing chemist in specialised stores 

47749 - Retail sale of medical and orthopaedic goods (other than hearing aids) 

n.e.c., in specialised stores 

47749 - Retail sale of medical and orthopaedic goods in specialised stores (not 

incl. hearing aids) n.e.c. 

47750 - Retail sale of cosmetic and toilet articles in specialised stores 

47760 - Retail sale of flowers, plants, seeds, fertilisers, pet animals and pet food in 

specialised stores 

47781 - Retail sale in commercial art galleries 

47782 - Retail sale by opticians 

47789 - Other retail sale of new goods in specialised stores (other than by 

opticians or commercial art galleries), n.e.c 

47789 - Other retail sale of new goods in specialised stores (not commercial art 

galleries and opticians) 

47799 - Retail sale of second-hand goods (other than antiques and antique books) 

in stores 

47799 - Retail sale of other second-hand goods in stores (not incl. antiques) 

47890 - Retail sale via stalls and markets of other goods 

47910 - Retail sale via mail order houses or via Internet 

47990 - Other retail sale not in stores, stalls or markets 

Passenger Transport 

49100 - Passenger rail transport, interurban 

49200 - Freight rail transport 

49319 - Urban, suburban or metropolitan area passenger land transport other than 

railway transportation by underground, metro and similar systems 

49319 - Other urban, suburban or metropolitan passenger land transport (not 

underground, metro or similar) 

49320 - Taxi operation 

49390 - Other passenger land transport n.e.c. 

49390 - Other passenger land transport 

49410 - Freight transport by road 

49420 - Removal services 

50100 - Sea and coastal passenger water transport 

50200 - Sea and coastal freight water transport 

50300 - Inland passenger water transport 

51101 - Scheduled passenger air transport 

51102 - Non-scheduled passenger air transport 

51210 - Freight air transport 

52101 - Operation of warehousing and storage facilities for water transport 

activities of division 50 

52102 - Operation of warehousing and storage facilities for air transport activities 

of division 51 

52103 - Operation of warehousing and storage facilities for land transport activities 

of division 49 

Tudalen 105



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 70 

52103 - Operation of warehousing and storage facilities for land transport activities 

52213 - Operation of bus and coach passenger facilities at bus and coach stations 

52219 - Other service activities incidental to land transportation, n.e.c. (not 

including operation of rail freight terminals, passenger facilities at railway stations 

or passenger facilities at bus and coach stations) 

52219 - Other service activities incidental to land transportation, n.e.c. 

52220 - Service activities incidental to water transportation 

52230 - Service activities incidental to air transportation 

52241 - Cargo handling for water transport activities of division 50 

52243 - Cargo handling for land transport activities of division 49 

52290 - Other transportation support activities 

53100 - Postal activities under universal service obligation 

53201 - Licensed Carriers 

53202 - Unlicensed carrier 

53202 - Unlicensed Carriers 

  

Tudalen 106



 

Community wealth building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement 71 

Appendix 2 -Stakeholders 
engaged 

Officers 

Name Role 

Wendy Walters  Chief Executive   

Chris Moore Director of Corporate services 

Linda Rees-Jones Head of Administration & Law 

Clare Jones Principal Procurement Officer 

Julian Lewis Principal Procurement Officer 

Hywel Harries Property Design Manager  

Stuart Walters Economic Development Manager 

Simon Davies Head of Access to Education 

Jonathan Morgan Head of Homes and Safer 

Communities 

Elected members 

Name Role 

Cllr Emlyn Dole,  

  

Leader and EBM economic 

development  

Cllr Mair Stephens Deputy Leader 

Cllr David Jenkins EBM procurement 

Cllr Cefin Campbell EBM rural 

 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen 107



 

 

Centre for Local Economic Strategies 

CLES, 52 Oak Street, Swan Square 

Manchester, United Kingdom, M4 5JA 

info@cles.org.uk | www.cles.org.uk 

@CLESthinkdo | #clesthinkdo 

0161 832 7871 

 

Tudalen 108



1 
 

Procuring Well-Being in Wales: Future Generations Commissioner for Wales (February 2021) 
 

Procurement is one of the seven corporate areas for change in the Act’s statutory guidance (Shared Purpose: Shared Future, SPSF 1: Core Guidance) and it 

must be a key area of focus for public bodies in meeting their obligations under the Act, including setting, and taking all reasonable steps to meet, their 

organisational wellbeing objectives. 

General Comments on body of text:- 

 

Page Report Text Carmarthenshire County Council comment  
 

5 “a public body’s procurement strategy should be setting out 
clearly how they are procuring in a way which helps them to 
meet their organisational well-being objectives, and in turn 
contributing to the seven national well-being goals. They should 
also evidence clear alignment with the four dimensions of well-
being (cultural, economic, social and environmental) and how 
they have applied the five ways of working in the Act which are 
planning for the long term, prevention, integration, collaboration 
and involvement.” 

CCC has updated its Sustainable Risk Assessment (SRA) template to align 
with the 5 ways of working and 7 Well-Being Goals. The SRA is led by the 
Corporate Procurement Unit and completed with the lead Officers for all 
Procurement quotations and tenders over the value of £25,000 (as per 
the recommendations in the Wales Procurement Policy Statement). 
These early discussions enable Procurement to understand the 
procurement requirement and start address the national goals and local 
objectives through the procurement strategy.  
  

 Summary of Key Findings and recommendations on 
Procurement” Future Generations Report 2020 –  

 Develop leadership that supports a strategic approach to 
procurement, recognising the ‘power of purchase’ 

 
 
 

 Procuring well-being: a focus on outcomes and measuring 
what matters 

 

 

 
 
All Procurement exercises valued over £25k are addressed with the Act in 
mind. The SRA is a useful tool to ensure these discussions are carried out 
earlier enough in the Procurement Process and addressed in the tender 
specification and procurement approach. 
 
CCC has embedded Community Benefits in its tender activity for over 10 
years. Most recently a dedicated Community benefits officer has been 
appointed as part of the Procurement team to drive forward the wider 
social value ambitions of the Council.  

 
 

T
udalen 109

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf


2 
 

Page Report Text Carmarthenshire County Council comment  
 

 

 Focussing on longer-term financial planning 

 

 

 

 Promote effective collaboration, with each other and 
suppliers to improve sharing, learning, capacity and skills 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
A recent tender exercise for our Flying Start Childcare Service has been 
advertised at longer than the traditional 4 years (6.5years) to ensure 
continuity of service for our families and children accessing the service 
and for our Programme team to establish longer term links with our 
providers to deliver a meaningful service. This approach is being 
considered for other tenders which fall within the Light Touch regime of 
the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) where great flexibility can be 
embedded in the tender and awarded contract/framework.  
 
The Council leads on a number of significant regional frameworks. The 
South West Wales Regional Contractors Framework (worth an estimated 
£1 Billion), the South West Wales Regional Civil Engineering Contractors 
Framework (worth estimated £300 million) and most recently the South 
West & Mid Wales Regional Civil Engineering Services Framework 2021 
(estimated £36 million). These collaborative frameworks standardise the 
way all partner public sector organisations engage with the suppliers at 
call-off ensuring a consistent approach. Procurement also chairs the 
Contractors Framework Community Benefits Working Group. Working 
with colleagues across the region to drive the Community Benefits 
delivered through the framework.  
 As part of the Council’s Foundational Economy Challenge Fund project 
looking into Community Wealth Building within the County. The Centre 
for Local Economic Strategy (CLES) were appointed to review the 
development of a new local/progressive procurement framework for 
implementation by public bodies across Carmarthenshire (as part of the 
Public Services Board (PSB)). Two reports were produced, one for CCC on 
the wider procurement spend and another looking into food production 
and the supply chain with the Council and Carmarthenshire anchor 
institutions (Hywel Dda & Coleg Sir Gar & University of Wales Trinity Saint 
David). Work has commenced between the PSB partners to work 
together to support this agenda moving forward.  

T
udalen 110



3 
 

Page Report Text Carmarthenshire County Council comment  
 

 

 Build on established frameworks, including legal 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Promote a can-do mindset and attitude 

 
We are continuously reviewing our tendering information and contracts 
to ensure we push the boundaries as much as possible within the legal 
regulatory framework. The Corporate Procurement Team have liaised 
with external procurement legal experts to embed as much as possible in 
the forthcoming Pentre Awel Zone 1 City Deal Procurement Tender 
Exercise. In our recent Regional tender for the South West & Mid Wales 
Regional Civil Engineering Services Framework 2021 we embedded our 
aims and ambitions for the Act in our tender documentation.  

 
We have been keen to understand the impact of our Procurement 
Activities from the outset in order to maximise the contributions we 
make towards our Council’s Well-Being Objectives.  In 2018 we 
embedded the Act in our Procurement Strategy and in 2019 we worked 
with colleagues in our Policy team to understand and benchmark how 
the work we do contributes to the Well-Being objectives then and what 
actions we needed to do to take this forward in the future. Our Annual 
report for last year on Procurement was aligned to the Goals and 5 Ways 
of Working and clearly demonstrates the positive contributions we make 
as a team working with our departments to deliver the procurement 
activity.  
 
Working with the Future Generations Commissioners team we developed 
Framework Aims and Objectives for the South West Wales Regional 
Contractors Framework, worth approximately £1 Billion over the 4-year 
duration. We were mindful as Framework lead we could set the direction 
for the approach across the region and set out the minimum 
expectations.  We linked up with Constructing Excellence in Wales on 
their ‘Constructing for Future Generations’ approach and agreed with our 
partners to work together to consider the long term impact of our 
decisions, work better with people, communities and each other.  

T
udalen 111



4 
 

Page Report Text Carmarthenshire County Council comment  
 
The Act in Carmarthenshire is seen as a wider opportunity than just a 
Procurement responsibility. This needs to be further developed to ensure 
the goals and objectives are addressed from the identification of a need 
way in advance of it being discussed with the Corporate Procurement 
Unit. 

13-15 “In addition to considering how their own procurement 
decisions deliver on all elements of the Act, Welsh Government 
and the National Procurement Service (NPS) has a responsibility 
to monitor and assess how other public bodies are considering 
the Act in their procurement activities, particularly through 
national frameworks.” 
 

In recent years there has been a lack of practical support to public bodies 
in the exercise of their procurement functions, specifically in relation to 
the Act from Welsh Government. We support the recommendation of a 
Centre of Excellence with a required “comprehensive review and reform 
of the existing procurement landscape (structures, networks, 
partnerships and initiatives) and be resourced to build capacity and 
support implementation”. 

13 Case Study: Carmarthenshire County Council – Approach with 
the South West Wales Regional Contractors framework 
(SWWRCF) and Pentre Awel. 

The Council is included as a Case Study of our approach with the 
SWWRCF Framework to embed the 7 Well-Being Goals and 5 WOW at 
Framework Level. This is further supported with the Pentre Awel call-off 
from the framework and the importance placed on the Act throughout 
the project and tender exercise. 

16 “Public procurement operates under a regulatory regime, the 
Public Contracts regulations, but with growing attention to 
embedding social value and well-being into procurement, it is 
perceived by many that the policy landscape has become 
complex with an extensive set of tools, guidance and priorities 
coming from Welsh Government.” 
 

The Procurement team agrees there are many initiatives coming out 
from Welsh Government, including the foundational economy, social 
partnerships, circular economy, social value, decarbonisation and 
community wealth building which seem to be produced in isolation of 
one another. Practical guidance is lacking to ensure consistency in 
approach for all Public Sector organisations. 
One over-arching guidance on all the different strands would be useful, 
along with practical tools to utilise these in practice would also be very 
helpful.  The Welsh Government’s Route planner used to provide this to a 
point but this has been removed from their website and not replaced.   

18 Case Study: Carmarthenshire Public Services Board Food 
Procurement 

A further positive Case Study is included on our Foundational Economy 
Challenge Fund Project recognising how public sector organisations can 
make a greater contribution to the local supply chain by changing its 
approach to procurement and doing things differently. 

T
udalen 112



5 
 

Page Report Text Carmarthenshire County Council comment  
 

20 “Welsh Government should review all guidance and toolkits that 
are currently in place to support sustainable procurement and 
measure/monitor community benefits and/or social value, and 
publish a clear plan outlining how these will be revised and 
consolidated to enable a consistent approach for public bodies 
to report on the wellbeing outcomes being achieved.” 

This is definitely needed to ensure consistency in approach across the 
public sector which will make collaboration easier in the future. 

20 “In order to meet carbon emission targets, every public body 
should set out how they have considered the carbon impact of 
their procurement decisions and in the case of construction or 
infrastructure contracts should require schemes to be net zero 
carbon over their lifetime.” 

Further guidance on the practical implementation of the Decarbonisation 
Dashboard would be welcomed with examples of how it has been applied 
to Procurement Tender exercises and subsequent Contract Management.  

21 “there is evidence of other public bodies being willing to 
prioritise spending in the local economy as it results in wider 
benefits. The focus on short-term cost and ‘value for money’ as 
opposed to wider benefits that could be achieved limits 
opportunities for public money to contribute towards Wales’ 
seven well-being goals illustrating that without support from 
senior leadership, procurement cannot be realised as a lever 
that delivers best outcomes for current and future generations.” 

In Carmarthenshire we have always seen the merit in working with SME’s 
to promote opportunities to bid for our work, with a dedicated ‘First 
point of Contact’ our supplier engagement officer within our 
procurement Unit. Whilst the Public Contracts Regulations prohibits us 
from going direct to our ‘local’ supply base we have been mindful of how 
we Lot of Tenders and through the use of Community Benefits been 
mindful of the impact we can have on the local economy. This is only 
going to expand in light of the CLES work and with a closer alignment 
with our colleagues in our economic development team to understand 
sector voids in the County / Region and barriers that prevent some 
suppliers from bidding for work. 

21 “….some organisations have progressed the 'Community 
benefits' agenda and we are beginning to see examples of 
contracts placing greater emphasis on social value through the 
application of the new Themes, Outcomes and Measures (TOMs) 
framework.” 

As a Council we are experienced in embedding Community Benefits in 
our tenders and have been doing so with great success for many years, in 
our construction tenders predominantly. Early reviews of the TOMS 
framework as a region suggests it has merit in some sectors, but in 
established sectors such as construction where Community Benefits is 
long established and setting targets by the Public Sector organisation 
expected,  we are reviewing how the TOMS framework will add 
additional social values - whilst allowing us to dictate the most 
meaningful targets for our County. Further Case Studies would be 
welcomed on the use of TOMS in Wales and again Welsh Government’s 

T
udalen 113



6 
 

Page Report Text Carmarthenshire County Council comment  
 
commitment to the financial side of its usage would also be welcomed as 
there is a cost to us as an organisation and a further cost to the 
appointed supplier (for the reporting portal) must be factored into its 
adoption and roll out.  

29 “…many public bodies revealed that commissioning and 
procurement teams are moving away from the community 
benefits approach. …. 
This builds on the work that has been led by the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA) over the last 15 months, 
working with local authorities to develop a new social value 
measurement framework for Wales. The Welsh National 
Themes, Outcomes and Measures (TOMs), led by the WLGA was 
launched in November 2020 and provides organisations with a 
social value measurement and management framework which is 
aligned to the seven national wellbeing goals and allows them to 
consider how their procurement decisions also contribute to 
their own well-being objectives. 
We welcome the development of a framework that takes a more 
holistic approach to measuring social value and well-being, 
aligned to the Act. It is not however currently clear whether this 
approach should be, or will be, adopted consistently across 
Wales and there is currently a lack of national guidance on this. 
Any framework that is put in place will need to ensure sufficient 
resource and skills for managing contracts to ensure that efforts 
to embed the Act into procurement is followed through and 
measured; many public bodies expressed concern that this 
currently is not the case.” 

Any expansion of the Community Benefits approach needs to be 
developed nationally. We are already witnessing some organisation 
procuring the reporting tools separately with different options being 
adopted in parts of Wales. This is confusing to suppliers. We need a 
consistent approach which demonstrates how it supports organisations 
in delivering social value and the Act. 

33 “Public Services Boards should prioritise how they can 
collaborate and use spend to maximise social value, contribute 
to their well-being objectives, and improve well-being on a local 
level.” 

Through our work on the Foundational Economy Challenge Fund project 
and subsequently with CLES the Council is working with PSB partners to 
further advance opportunities for collaboration.  

T
udalen 114



7 
 

 

Summary of the recommendations for Welsh Government:- 
These Recommendations are designed to promote and sustain positive change, but to have maximum effect they need to be considered expeditiously. The 

Recommendations were put together on the basis they can, and ought to be achieved, within the next 12 months, i.e before end March 2022. 

Page Issue highlighted Recommendations Further advice on how this could be 
achieved 

38 Welsh Government has 
failed to show clear 
joined up leadership on 
the role of procurement 
in delivering Wales’ 
national well-being goals 
(and public bodies well-
being objectives). 

Welsh Government should establish a Procurement Centre of 
Excellence for improving coordination, collaboration and 
providing practical support to public bodies in the exercise of 
their procurement functions, specifically in relation to the Act. 
Development of this Centre of Excellence would require a 
comprehensive review and reform of the existing procurement 
landscape (structures, networks, partnerships and initiatives) 
and be resourced to build capacity and support 
implementation. 

We would strongly advise that this Centre of 
Excellence is not developed by civil servants 
alone, but should be done in collaboration with 
the wider procurement community and 
external experts, with Ministerial oversight. Welsh 
Government should involve a holistic range of 
organisations who bring knowledge and expertise 
of each of the national well-being goals as well as 
relevant professions. This structure could have 
oversight from the Office of the Future 
Generations Commissioner but as a minimum 
should have a clear link. 
The Centre of Excellence will: 

 Act as a central portal to coordinate and 
support cross-sector collaboration and 

 implementation. 

 Report outcomes delivered through 
procurement on a regular basis. 

 Provide feedback to public bodies on good 
and bad practice. 

 Support and enable shared learning amongst 
public bodies that drives improvement in 

 line with the Act. 

 Provide on the ground practical support for 
the procurement profession. 

The new Programme for Government should clearly set out 
how Welsh Government will provide strategic leadership and 
commitment to supporting and achieving wider outcomes from 
procurement, using language that is consistent with the Act 

Welsh Government’s new Procurement Policy Statement 
should clearly demonstrate how it will support public bodies to 
deliver the aspirations of the Act in public sector procurement 
in Wales. This Statement, along with progress to deliver the 
commitments, should be reviewed and reported annually. 

Welsh Government should ensure all future national 
procurement frameworks align with, and contribute to, the 
seven national well-being goals and apply the five ways of 
working set out in the Act 

T
udalen 115



8 
 

Page Issue highlighted Recommendations Further advice on how this could be 
achieved 
 Raise the profile of procurement, giving 

agency and authority to procurement 

 professionals supported by senior-level 
commitment. 

Welsh Government should establish the Centre 
and set clear outcomes (in agreement with 
others), reporting annually on how these are 
being delivered. 
Welsh Government’s Centre of Digital Service is 
an example of a ‘mechanism’ designed to provide 
guidance, training, standards, collaborative 
networking and hands-on practical 
help to the Welsh public services. A similar 
approach could be taken for procurement. 
The Foundational Economy Challenge Fund, 
Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) work 
and the development of Welsh National TOMs 
highlighted in this report are a good 
starting point. However, there needs to be better 
integration and more join up between these 
projects, as well as the provision of additional 
coordinated practical support for 
public bodies. 
Welsh Government should provide practical 
guidance, supporting public bodies using national 
and/or regional frameworks to contribute to the 
seven national well-being goals and apply the five 
ways of working set out in the Act 

 There is poor 
communication and 
integration between 
different Welsh 

Welsh Government should review all guidance and toolkits that 
are currently in place to support sustainable procurement and 
measure/monitor community benefits and/or social value, and 
publish a clear plan outlining how these will be revised and 

The forthcoming Social Partnerships Bill will need 
to ensure that the new procurement duty placed 
on public bodies supports them to deliver 
outcomes that will help them to 

T
udalen 116



9 
 

Page Issue highlighted Recommendations Further advice on how this could be 
achieved 

Government priorities, 
alongside lack of support 
available for public 
bodies to ensure these 
are implemented 
effectively on the ground 

consolidated to enable a consistent approach for public bodies 
to report on the well-being outcomes being achieved. 

achieve their well-being objectives and, in turn, 
the national well-being goals. 
A recent Wales Co-operative Centre report 
provides a useful summary of how existing 
legislation, policy and guidance supports delivery 
of social value within the social care 
sector. 

In order to meet carbon emission targets every public body 
should set out clearly how they have considered the carbon 
impact of their procurement decisions and in the case of 
construction or infrastructure contracts should clearly require 
schemes to be net zero carbon over their lifetime 

 Opportunities for making 
spend work harder are 
being missed due to lack 
of support for the 
procurement profession 
and lack of accountability 
at a leadership level. 

The Procurement Centre of Excellence should review and 
reform structures for national accountability and establish an 
appropriate mechanism to scrutinise progress on 
implementation. Welsh Government should report annually on 
how overall national public spend is contributing to the national 
well-being goals. 

This Centre of Excellence will be connected to key 
decision-makers including Ministers and public 
sector leaders, and supported by external advisers 
with knowledge and expertise of each of the 
national well-being goals as well as relevant 
professions. The Centre will have a specific remit 
to highlight where overall spend across Wales is 
not aligning or making slow progress to meeting 
the well-being goals and directing national action 
to address this 

In addition, their annual report (on progress with the Act) 
should clearly set out how all of their own procurement spend, 
and grant spend, is contributing to meeting their well-being 
objectives, and in turn the seven national well-being goals 

 There is no ongoing 
monitoring of 
procurement approaches 
or outcomes either for 
the purposes of spotting 
where things are going 
wrong, and opportunities 
are being missed, or for 
identifying and sharing 
best practice 

The Procurement Centre of Excellence should develop a 
mechanism or tool to assist public bodies to monitor and report 
consistently on the Act (possibly building on the work being 
done on social value and the new TOMS framework) 
demonstrating how their procurement spend is meeting the 
well-being goals and objectives. 

Welsh Government should commit to providing 
support to public bodies (specifically the 
procurement function) on achieving this. 
This could include establishing a Community of 
Practice for sharing and learning what works. 

Welsh Government should monitor progress by public bodies in 
Wales. This must be reported within the annual reports on 
delivery of their well-being objectives for both Welsh 
Government in respect of the overall outcomes being delivered 
across Wales and by individual public bodies 

 

  

T
udalen 117



10 
 

Summary of the recommendations for Public Bodies:- 
Again, these Recommendations are designed with a 12-month (before end March 2022) timeframe in mind, unless stated otherwise. 

Page Issue Highlighted Recommendations Further advice on how this could be 
achieved 
 

43 Opportunities to deliver on all four 
dimensions of well-being are not 
being maximised, often due to lack of 
leadership and strategic approach 
that recognises the ‘power of 
purchase’. 

Senior leadership should review their procurement 
approach and activities to identify opportunities to 
maximise the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural impact of spending decisions, setting clear 
steps that show how procurement is supporting the 
delivery of their organisational well-being 
objectives. 

Procurement needs to be ‘at the top table’. Public 
bodies should involve departments and 
organisations who are involved in, and impacted 
by, the procurement process when setting well-
being objectives (e.g. commissioning, contract 
management, suppliers and waste management). 
This could lead to public bodies understanding the 
broader benefits and steps they can take to 
improve all aspects of well-being through 
procurement. 
 

 The “procurement system” is too 
often leading to a focus on process 
and short-term cost rather than 
delivering wider outcomes over the 
long-term, and there is no consistent 
way of measuring the outcomes that 
can be achieved in line with the Act. 
There needs to be a shift to 
considering long term costs 
holistically, in line with the Act. 

Once a mechanism or tool is developed and 
adopted by Welsh Government (as recommended 
above), each public body should be using it to 
clearly monitor and report on its activities, both in 
individual procurement exercises and overall, how 
their procurement spend is meeting the well-being 
goals and objectives. 

 This should be reported within the annual 
reports on delivery of their well-being 
objectives.  

 In order to avoid confusion of language, and 
link clearly to the statutory requirements of 
the Act, the terminology should be revised 
to mirror the language of the Act. 

As a minimum, all contracts above £1 million 
(same as Community Benefits Toolkit) should 
include an assessment of the outcomes being 
delivered against the four dimensions of well-
being (cultural, economic, social and 
environmental) or the seven wellbeing goals and 
their own well-being objectives. Public bodies 
should proactively participate in the Community 
of Practice for sharing and learning what works. 
Public bodies should use the resources published 
by the Future Generations Commissioner and 
other organisations. 

 There is no mechanism for 
promoting effective collaboration for 
public bodies, particularly cross-

The Procurement Centre of Excellence established 
by Welsh Government will act as a central portal to 
support cross-sector collaboration and 

Review the impact of existing initiatives and 
mechanisms (e.g. Knowledge Hub, Foundational 
Economy Community of Practice, national and 

T
udalen 118



11 
 

Page Issue Highlighted Recommendations Further advice on how this could be 
achieved 
 

sector to improve sharing, learning, 
capacity and skills. 

implementation. In collaboration with others Welsh 
Government should review existing groups and 
networks to better coordinate activity across local 
government, health, PSBs and regions, along with 
the third sector and private sector. Public Services 
Boards should prioritise how they can collaborate 
and use spend to maximise social value, contribute 
to their well-being objectives, and improve well-
being on a local level. 

regional networks). Greater peer-to-peer support 
to harness good practice and drive change across 
sectors. The Centre for Local Economic Strategy 
(CLES) is currently working with five clusters of 
Public Services Boards in Wales to explore 
opportunities around procurement, local spend 
and community wealth building. There should be 
support to scale this work up across Wales. 

 

T
udalen 119



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



  

Bwrdd Gweithredol 

24.05.21 

Cynllun Adfer a Chyflawni Economaidd Sir Gaerfyrddin 
 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 
 
Bod yr Aelodau yn gwneud y canlynol: 

1) Cael y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am yr effaith y mae Covid-19 yn ei chael ar economi, 
busnesau a chymunedau Sir Gaerfyrddin. 

2) Cymeradwyo'r cynllun adfer a chyflawni economaidd arfaethedig. 

3) Derbyn diweddariadau chwarterol rheolaidd ar berfformiad o ran camau'r cynllun 
gweithredu 

Y Rhesymau: 
Mae'r wybodaeth a gasglwyd yn dangos yn glir bod yr awdurdod a'r economi leol yn wynebu 
cyfnod eithriadol o anodd yn ystod y 24 mis nesaf gan fod effeithiau argyfwng Covid-24 yn 
rhoi pwysau ar swyddi a galw. Mae'n hanfodol felly bod ymateb y Cyngor yn cyd-fynd ag 
anghenion busnesau a chymunedau ledled Sir Gaerfyrddin, gan fanteisio ar gyfleoedd i 
gyflymu newid er mwyn galluogi llwyddiant yn economi'r dyfodol.  Mae cynllun adfer 
economaidd Sir Gaerfyrddin yn nodi rhyw 30 o gamau gweithredu i gefnogi adferiad economi 
Sir Gaerfyrddin yn sgil effeithiau cymdeithasol ac economaidd y pandemig COVID-19 a Brexit. 
Mae'n nodi ein blaenoriaethau ar gyfer cefnogi Busnes, Pobl a Lleoedd. Gyda'r cymorth hwn 
gall economi Sir Gaerfyrddin ymadfer cyn gynted â phosibl i ddod yn un sy'n fwy cynhyrchiol 
nag yr oedd o'r blaen, yn fwy cyfartal, yn fwy gwyrdd, yn iachach, a chyda chymunedau mwy 
cynaliadwy. 

Ymgynghorwyd â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol:-  Cyfarfod ar y cyd rhwng y Pwyllgor Craffu - Polisi ac 

Adnoddau a'r Pwyllgor Craffu - Cymunedau ac Adfywio - gweler y blwch ymgynghori 

 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad NAC OES       

 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Y 
Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole, Arweinydd  

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:  
 
Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: 
Jason Jones 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad:  
Jason Jones 

Y Prif Weithredwr 
 
Swyddi:  
Pennaeth Adfywio 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 Jajones@sirgar.gov.uk     
 01267 242336 
 
 
 

 

  

Tudalen 121

Eitem Rhif  8

mailto:Jajones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
EXECUTIVE BOARD  

21ST JUNE 2021 

Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan 

SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
At its meeting on 29th June 2020, the Executive Board considered a report which provided an 
assessment of the impact that Covid-19 was having on Carmarthenshire businesses and 
identified what was important to them in the short, medium and long-term, so that going 
forward the Authority could provide them with the assistance they most needed.  In response 
to the issues identified a draft recovery strategy was proposed focusing on 11 key themes.  A 
business, economy and community recovery group has been established to coordinate 
development and delivery of actions aligned to these 11 themes and an overarching advisory 
group, comprising key private sector industry leaders, has been established.  This group has 
assisted with us with the development and refinement of our draft plan into a finalised 
economic recovery and delivery plan, copy attached. 
 
An independent review of our draft economic recovery plan and initial 11 themes concluded 
that we are on the right track and need to focus on our priorities, challenge current ways of 
working to maximise opportunities for businesses and make it as simple as possible to 
support recovery and growth in the economy.  Whilst our 11 initial themes have been tackling 
the right areas, the finalised repot identifies the synergies that exist in support of Business, 
People and Place to assist with communicating our plan to businesses, stakeholders and 
partners, to deliver more and add value to the recovery of the Carmarthenshire economy.  We 
have also identified four key cross-cutting priorities including a major focus on ensuring the 
county has ultra-reliable digital connectivity, digital culture and skills. 

 
The Plan sets out the short-term priorities and immediate actions over the next two years that 
will protect jobs and safeguard businesses in Carmarthenshire. The Plan also puts us in a 
stronger position with our regional economic partners as we prepare the vision and objectives 
for the Regional Economic Framework and Regional Economic Delivery Plan over the next 
few months. 
 
Our Plan is ambitious about the long-term future of the Carmarthenshire economy with a 
belief that the county has the right mix of business, people and places to recover and grow 
much stronger than before. Our underlying strength is the large number of self-employed and 
micro businesses and the equally important number employed in the foundational economy. 
We will focus on supporting our SME’s to upscale, and our local knowledge and connections 
with small businesses in Carmarthenshire means that we are well placed to bolster support 
within our local economies, increase local spend and maximise the potential for a more 
localised growth in community wealth and wellbeing. 

 
At the current time our business support activity will be focused on the food sector and supply 
chains that are suffering significantly alongside hospitality sector closures.  This sector is a 
pivotal element of our foundational economy. 

Tudalen 122



  

 
 
Our plan has clear recovery outcomes that will result from the proposed activity and actions, 
including the replacement of more than 3,000 jobs that have already been lost; safeguarding 
and replacing up to 10,000 jobs that may have been, or are at high risk of being lost, once 
furlough comes to an end; and supporting over 1,400 businesses that are at risk of 
insolvency. In addition to these measurable impacts on the Carmarthenshire economy, there 
has been an opportunity cost from the impact of Covid-19 and Brexit on our economy. A 
stretching target is to challenge ourselves to put in place the levels of support required to 
create around 1,700 additional jobs that would have been generated if our economy had 
stayed on its pre-crisis growth trajectory.   
 
1. OTHER OPTIONS AVAILABLE AND THEIR PROS AND CONS 

 
The economic analysis that has been undertaken to assess the impacts of COVID-19 and 
Brexit on the Carmarthenshire economy during the next three years suggests that without our 
intervention: 
 

 It is unlikely that GVA will recover to its pre-pandemic level for at least 3 years. 
 

 There is a strong possibility that employment does not recover to pre-pandemic levels 
within the next 3 years. 

 
The intelligence gathered to support the development of our recovery plans also clearly 
demonstrates that businesses are expecting the council to support economic activity, prepare 
the ground for recovery and lead Carmarthenshire out of this crisis.  There is no other option 
for the Council other than to take immediate action in collaborating with its businesses and the 
wider community. 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? Yes – Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery and Delivery 
Plan – Final Report – March 2021 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

 

Signed:    Jason Jones                                          Head of Regeneration 

 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

YES NONE YES  NONE  NONE NONE NONE  

 

Tudalen 123



  

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

In developing the plan we have fully taken account of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act by ensuring that the actions we have identified fully consider and embed sustainable 
development with a view to improving economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in 
all that we do. We have also considered how we can apply the five ways of working (long-term; 
prevention; integration; collaboration; involvement) as we make progress on the identified actions. 
This will be further developed as detailed plans for delivering the actions are taken forward, but 
there is a summary of our overarching considerations on page 9 of the plan.  

 

2. Finance   

The Council has allocated capital and revenue funding to support the recovery actions.  This will 
be used as match funding wherever possible to draw down additional funding to maximise 
opportunities. 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed:                        Jason Jones                         Head of Regeneration 

 

1. Scrutiny Committee 

At the Joint meeting of the Policy and Resources and Community and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee held on the 10th June 2021 it was UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to receive the 
report. 

2.Local Member(s)   

N/A  

3.Community / Town Council  

N/A 

4.Relevant Partners   

996 businesses have been consulted in addition to the members of the Carmarthenshire 
Business Advisory Group. We will also engage with Carmarthenshire PSB members as the 
plan moves into implementation.   

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

Cllr Emlyn Dole (Leader) has been consulted as EBM and is 
supportive of the report proposals.  

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 

Title of Document 

 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

 

 

Tudalen 124



  

 

Tudalen 125



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 

Final report 
 

Prepared for Carmarthenshire County Council 

 

April 2021 

 

 

      

  

 
 

Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery 

& Delivery Plan 

 

 
Tudalen 127



 

 

Table of Contents 

 

SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 

2 Purpose & ambition ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

3 Measuring the Possible Impacts of COVID-19 ......................................................................................... 17 

4 Our Recovery Plan ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

5 How we will deliver ..................................................................................................................................... 40 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 128



 

    1 

SUMMARY 

This is our Economic Recovery Plan which identifies some 30 actions to support the 

recovery of the Carmarthenshire economy from the social and economic impacts of 

the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit. It sets out our priorities for supporting Business, 

People and Place. With this support Carmarthenshire's economy can recover as 

quickly as possible to become one which is more productive than before, more equal, 

greener, healthier, and with more sustainable communities. 

The purpose of our Plan is to set out the short-term priorities and immediate actions 

over the next two years that protect jobs and safeguard businesses in 

Carmarthenshire. The Plan also puts us in a stronger position with our regional 

economic partners as we prepare the vision and objectives for the Regional 

Economic Framework and Regional Economic Delivery Plan over the next few months.  

Our Plan is also ambitious about the long-term future of the Carmarthenshire economy 

with a belief that the county has the right mix of business, people and places to 

recover and grow much stronger than before.  

Our underlying strengths lie within our economy which is characterised by a large 

number of self-employed and micro sized enterprises coupled with significant 

employment within the foundational economy. . We will focus on supporting our small 

and medium enterprises (SME’s) to upscale, and our local knowledge and 

connections with small businesses in Carmarthenshire means that we are well placed 

to bolster support within our local economies, increase local spend and open up the 

potential for more localised growth in community wealth and wellbeing. 

An independent review of our Draft Economic Recovery Plan and initial 11 themes 

(Figure i) drawn up during the height of the first pandemic wave concluded that we 

are on the right track and need to focus on our priorities, challenge current ways of 

working to maximise opportunities for businesses and make it as simple as possible to 

support recovery and growth in the economy.  Whilst our 11 initial themes have been 

tackling the right areas, identifying the synergies that exist in support of Business, 

People and Place will assist in communicating our Plan with businesses, stakeholders 

and partners, to deliver more and add value to the recovery of the Carmarthenshire 

economy.  We have also identified four key cross-cutting priorities including a major 

focus on ensuring the county has: ultra-reliable digital connectivity, digital culture and 

skills. 

  

Tudalen 129



 

    2 

 

Figure i - Recovery strategic themes & horizontal synergies 

 

11 KEY RECOVERY THEMES  BUSINESS & 

SECTORS 

PEOPLE 
 

PLACE 

Digital 
   

Land & assets 
   

Skills 
  

 

Communities  
  

Rural 
 

 

 

Capital infrastructure 
 

 

 

Town centre 
 

 

 

Planning 
 

 

 

Tourism & Events 
 

 

 

Procurement 
 

  

Business support 
 

  

 

1.0.1 At the beginning of 2021, the economy of Carmarthenshire continues to be 

heavily influenced by Government controls and fiscal measures. The immediate 

socio-economic impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit on the Carmarthenshire 

economy are partly obscured by massive Government intervention, in particular 

the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (furlough) and the Self Employment 

Income Support Scheme. In particular, furlough is likely to be concealing future 

unemployment across all business sectors, and great uncertainty exists as 

restrictions fluctuate.  At the time of this report there are also concerns for the 

food sector and its supply chain that are suffering significantly alongside 

hospitality sector closures, which are pivotal for our foundational economy. 

1.0.2 Our economic modelling shows how COVID-19 has and is likely to continue to 

impact on the Carmarthenshire economy. There remains a high level of 

uncertainty around the pattern of the recovery, as well as the impact of Brexit, 

so our Plan is short-term and flexible, focusing on the critical period of recovery 

over the next 24 months, and is in alignment with Welsh Government’s 

reconstruction priorities. 

Tudalen 130



 

    3 

Figure ii - Indexed Forecast Change in GVA and Employment in Carmarthenshire (April 2021) 

 

We have modelled a range of possible scenarios for the impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit 

on the Carmarthenshire economy during the next three years (see the figure above 

and Section 2).  

• The overall impact (using (Gross Value Added) GVA as a measure of this) has been 

significant, with changes across a broad range of sectors. It is unlikely that GVA will 

recover to its pre-pandemic level for at least 3 years. 

• The immediate impact on employment, whilst significant, has been shielded by UK 

Government intervention. The largest fall in employment is therefore expected to 

be delayed until Q4 2021, and as with GVA, there is a strong possibility that 

employment does not recover to pre-pandemic levels within the next 3 years. 

• The largest declines in employment are experienced in Accommodation & Food 

Services, Wholesale, Retail & Motor Trades and Manufacturing. However, there are 

a few sectors that see growth in employment compared to 2019.  

Recovery will be slow, and it may take many years for the economy of Carmarthenshire 

to recover to its previous level, let alone make up the lost ground of the COVID-19 crisis 

and its aftermath. Therefore, our immediate priority is to protect jobs and safeguard 

businesses. We also need to continue to address the longer-term challenges that 

constrain growth in Carmarthenshire including low productivity and wages, skills 

deficits, too few businesses ‘scaling-up’, and the need for investment in modern 

business infrastructure and premises. 

 

 0

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

GVA Employment

Tudalen 131



 

    4 

Target outcomes from our recovery plan are the replacement of more than 3,000 jobs 

that have already been lost; safeguarding and replacing up to 10,000 jobs that may 

have been or are at high risk of being lost once furlough comes to an end; and 

supporting over 1,400 businesses that are at risk of insolvency. In addition to these 

measurable impacts on the Carmarthenshire economy, there has been an opportunity 

cost from the impact of Covid-19 and Brexit on our economy. A stretching target to 

challenge ourselves is to put in place the levels of support required to create around 

1,700 additional jobs that would have been generated if our economy had stayed on 

its pre-crisis growth trajectory.    

Figure iii – Recovery targets 

 

3,000 JOBS - Replacing those that have already been lost 

10,000 JOBS - Safeguarding and replacing those that may have 

been or at risk of being lost 

1,400 

BUSINESSES 

- Supporting businesses at risk of insolvency 

1,700 JOBS - Creating additional employment above our pre-

pandemic levels 

 

Our path to recovery has two pillars: 

• Localism - building strong, sustainable and durable communities reliant on  local 

businesses, local resourcefulness and local support. At this level, the greatest impact 

of COVID-19 has been on sectors with relatively low levels of productivity which are 

nonetheless of key importance for our recovery, and include businesses in retail, 

food and drink, tourism/accommodation and culture.  

• Competitiveness - increasing the level of productivity and competitiveness across 

all of the economy, but critically in our most competitive business sectors. Our key 

sectors with greater potential for higher productivity, higher wages and higher levels 

of growth are likely to have felt less impact but are critical for growing the size of our 

economy and employing more people – advanced manufacturing, creative 

industries, green economy, health, care and life science and agriculture and food 

production.  

 

 

 

Tudalen 132



 

    5 

We can achieve this by focusing on the aforementioned three overarching themes - 

Business, People and Place (discussed in Section 3) with four cross-cutting priority 

ambitions: 

• Ultra-reliable digital connectivity, digital culture and skills – improving 

connectivity, tackling the associated challenges to deployment and 

intervening to make improvements in digital connectivity both now and for the 

future. 

• Skills -  supporting people and businesses to retrain, re-skill, and up-skill through 

blended traditional, online and work-based learning. 

• Green economy – adding economic value through keeping resources in use 

and where waste is avoided, invest in low carbon and climate-resilient 

infrastructure, renewable energy and sustainable homes. 

• Fair and equal economy and support for the Welsh language and culture – 

supporting peoples culture and well-being with local, fair, decent and secure 

employment. 

Digital connectivity is front, and centre of our recovery plans and we also specifically 

identify the need to strengthen measures that get people back to work through 

employability measures and ensuring that people have the right skills to do the jobs 

created. 

Figure iv and v, below, presents an overview of our key actions and our proposed 

approach, summarised in a ‘Theory of Change’ diagram which shows what we are 

doing, why we are doing it, and the results of doing this. At the top of the figure, we 

summarise the challenges and opportunities that we are facing in Carmarthenshire in 

both the short and longer-terms. Below this we show the interventions that are set out 

in this plan to tackle these. These interventions deliver outputs (e.g. support, investment, 

training etc.); the outputs lead to outcomes (e.g. jobs, businesses, visitors etc.); and the 

outcomes support the impacts and changes on our economy (e.g. higher wages, 

productivity, GVA etc.). At the bottom of the figure, we show the external factors that 

will influence the delivery and impact of our plan.  

The Carmarthenshire approach means we have a strong focus on our local community, 

but we are also working regionally and nationally to maximise all opportunities for 

recovery and growth. However, the Local Authority are not able to deliver everything, 

and we will need to work with external organisations to ensure these influences support 

our plan for recovery and growth.  

 

  

Tudalen 133



 

    6 

Figure iv – Summary of recovery actions 

BUSINESS PEOPLE PLACE 

Provide urgent support for those 

employers who are at risk of making 

redundancies and for business to 

recruit those who have lost their job  

Target business support for the self-

employed and micro-business  

 

Low carbon housing & retro fit energy 

reduction measures to grow the green 

economy 

Determine business workforce skills 

needs and maximise local 

employment opportunities, support 

local people into work  

Digital skills awareness, skills and 

literacy support 

Improving digital connectivity – 

delivering a programme for a gigabit-

capable future-proofed connectivity 

A new Business Recovery and Support 

Fund to safeguard and create jobs and 

support diversification 

Skilling and re-skilling and ensuring 

residents have the right skills to 

support growth sectors 

• Review, update masterplans for 

Carmarthen, Llanelli and 

Ammanford 

• Recovery and growth plans for our 

10 rural towns 

Allocate additional funds for our: 

• Rural Enterprise Fund 

• Business Growth Fund 

• Business Start-up Fund 

Identify individuals and micro-

businesses known as the "Excluded' 

and assess the level of support that is 

required through our business support 

package 

Maintain a targeted pipeline of 

potential town centre property 

acquisitions/leases to deliver 

regeneration objectives 

New employment property funds to 

support the viability of private and 

public sector investment: 

• Commercial Property 

Development Fund 

• Speculative Employment Space 

Programme 

 Agile working hubs for CCC and our 

public/third sector partners 

Support for businesses through our 

managed industrial and commercial 

property 

 Local Development Order for all 

primary towns and potentially key 

employment areas 

Re-use and redevelopment of public 

assets to create work hub spaces 

 Public realm improvements to make 

towns safe, pleasant and to support 

businesses 

Forward plan 3-5 year public sector 

tender ‘pipeline’ opportunities and 

provide support to local businesses to 

target these opportunities 

 Deliver a new brand and 

communication strategy for 

Carmarthenshire in support of retail, 

leisure and tourism 

Ensure local firms are encouraged to 

target lower value local authority 

contracts 

 100% Sir Gar initiative to encourage 

and support digital adoption and 

business marketing 

Review our targeted engagement with 

local businesses to ensure the current 

list covers firms in our growth sectors, 

including SME’s with high growth 

potential 

 Delivery of affordable housing as a 

major economic driver for our green 

energy, construction and supply chain 

development 

  Delivery of growth zone and growth of 

strategic site at Pentre Awel, Cross 

Hands, Pendine and Yr Egin 

  Invest in physical connectivity and 

sustainable travel –e.g. St Clears 

station (UK Government) and sections 

of the Towy Valley Cycle Path 

 

 

Tudalen 134



 

    7 

Figure v : Theory of Change for the Recovery Plan for Carmarthenshire  

 

 

T
udalen 135



 

    8 

2 Purpose & ambition 

2.0.1 The purpose of our Economic Recovery Plan is to set out the short-term priorities 

and immediate actions over the next two years that protect jobs and safeguard 

businesses in Carmarthenshire in response to COVID-19 and the immediate 

impacts of Brexit.  

2.0.2 The Plan is based on comprehensive economic modelling of the impacts of the 

pandemic and leaving the EU on the county. Many of the c.30 actions identified 

in the Plan are already underway in some shape or form reflecting the 

immediate action taken in response to the pandemic. Our actions are already 

having an impact through the work of the Council and our partners, and where 

initiatives require additional funding and resources, we are taking action to 

ensure these are put in place.  

2.0.3 Beyond the recovery period and over the next few years, we are already 

participating in the preparation of a broader Regional Economic Framework for 

South West Wales with Welsh Government and the preparation of a new 

Regional Economic Delivery Plan with our Swansea Bay City Region partners. This 

Plan puts us in a stronger position to achieve the level of support and resources 

necessary to revive and renew the economy for the longer term. 

2.0.4 We are also ambitious about the long-term future of the Carmarthenshire 

economy and believe the county has the right mix of elements that with 

continued investment have the potential to deliver a more productive, equal, 

greener and healthier economy.  

2.0.5 Diversity is our strength: we continue to invest in our towns as attractive places 

to live; our bilingualism defines us and needs protecting; and our business 

community operates across many key emerging growth sectors. Our tourism and 

leisure offering is growing and offers so much to residents and visitors alike. We 

continue to invest in our strategic employment sites for business and employees 

to thrive.  

2.0.6 Ultra-fast, ultra-reliable digital connectivity, digital culture and skills is front and 

centre of our priorities for recovery and growth and=although high levels of 

digital connectivity are already in place for us to benefit from in both our home 

and work lives; more investment is underway and planned for our county to 

become extremely well connected. We are leading the £55m regional Digital 

Infrastructure Project and working with the telecommunications market 

and intervene to improve digital connectivity. We can be confident there are 

few reasons why our residents and businesses cannot in the future operate and 

compete in the global economy whilst retaining their base in Carmarthenshire 

with an acceptable level of digital connectivity, and we are working towards 

the target of Gigabit-capable future-proofed connectivity for the medium to 

long term. 

Tudalen 136



 

    9 

 

2.0.7 We will also focus on maximising the underlying strength of our self-employed 

and micro businesses (employing less than 10 people). Many have suffered but 

also displayed remarkable resilience during the pandemic and are helping to 

protect the economy from much greater shocks of Covid-19 and Brexit. A large 

number are employed in the foundational economy, the everyday parts of our 

economy including healthcare, housing, education, food supply and 

production, construction and retail. Our local knowledge and connections with 

small businesses in Carmarthenshire means that we are well placed to bolster 

support within our local economies, increase local spend and open up the 

potential for  more localised growth in community wealth and wellbeing. 

2.0.8 In developing the plan we have fully taken account of the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act by ensuring that the actions we have identified fully 

consider and embed sustainable development with a view to improving 

economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in all that we do.  

2.0.9 We have also considered how we can apply the five ways of working as we 

make progress on the identified actions. This will be further developed as 

detailed plans for delivering the actions are taken forward, but the following 

provides a summary of our overarching considerations. 

Figure 1 – Well-being and Future Generations Act 

Way of 

Working 

Outline Carmarthenshire economic recovery plan consideration 

Long term The importance of balancing short-

term needs with the need to safeguard 

the ability to also meet long-term 

needs 

Although this plan focuses on our short-term priorities for the next 2 years 

these actions have been developed with a longer-term impact in mind. 

Having considered longer-term modelling and potential impacts the plan 

has identified the short-term interventions required by the Council and 

partners to stabilise, re-build and enable future longer-term economic 

development. 

Prevention How acting to prevent problems 

occurring or getting worse may help 

public bodies meet their objectives 

This whole plan is focused on aiding economic recovery following the 

COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose is the take short-term action to enable 

the local economy to recover at as fast a pace as possible. Without such 

intervention in the short term economic recovery could well take longer 

and have a greater impact on our local economy and communities. 

Integration Considering how the public body’s 

well-being objectives may impact upon 

each of the well-being goals, on their 

other objectives, or on the objectives of 

other public bodies 

The Council has identified economic recovery and regeneration as a 

corporate priority given its wider social and community impact. As a result, 

the plan will impact on all of the Council's well-being objectives in some 

way and there is shared ownership across the Council and in partnership 

with other organisations to deliver and make progress against the actions. 

Collaboration Acting in collaboration with any other 

person (or different parts of the body 

itself) that could help the body to meet 

its well-being objectives 

The plan will work across key areas of Council services predominantly 

housing, planning, procurement, finance, education and leisure. 

Involvement The importance of involving people 

with an interest in achieving the well-

being goals, and ensuring that those 

people reflect the diversity of the area 

in which the body serves 

Involvement of local businesses, public and third sector partners and the 

wider public will be key to ensuring the plan is delivered. The Council hosts 

a Business Advisory Group that has been instrumental in developing and 

testing this plan. The Council will also engage with other public bodies 

through the Carmarthenshire Public Services Board (PSB) to add value to 

all that it does. 

Tudalen 137



 

    10 

2.1 Context 
 

2.1.1 We have reviewed our strategic actions and priorities and prepared this 

Economic Recovery Plan (the Plan) to address the social and economic impacts 

of COVID-19 on the economy. This will enable the authority and our key partners 

to coordinate and target available resources to contain the scale of the likely 

economic downturn and to stimulate demand and confidence during the 

recovery. Our aim is to ensure that Carmarthenshire’s economy can recover as 

quickly as possible to become one which is more productive than before, more 

equal, greener, and with healthier and more sustainable communities. 

2.1.2 During the preparation of the Plan our existing economic recovery and response 

measures have been independently reviewed to ensure that we are focusing 

our efforts and resources where they will have greatest impact, and the roles 

and responsibilities required for their delivery. The review identified that our initial 

restart and recovery measures have been tackling the right areas to support 

recovery and growth across all sectors of the economy. However, in a fast 

moving situation with new issues and opportunities arising almost by the day, we 

need to focus on our most pressing priorities where we will have the greatest and 

long lasting impact. Our updated Plan will also assist with engaging businesses, 

stakeholders and partners, and identify how we can work together, deliver more, 

and add value to the recovery of the Carmarthenshire economy.    

Figure 2 – Carmarthenshire Recovery Plan Linkages 

 

2.1.3 The development and delivery of the Plan will continue to be supported by our 

Business Economy and Community recovery group (BEC) which focusses on 

priority workstreams identified under 11 strategic themes. And our overarching 

Tudalen 138



 

    11 

Business Advisory Forum comprising private sector industry leaders will continue 

to provide business views throughout the economic recovery. Additionally, our 

Agri and Professional Services group provides a rural focus and industry 

perspective from the farming unions and local agricultural sectors.  

2.1.1 In June 2020 we published the Draft Economic Recovery Plan focusing on theses 

11 key strategic themes with several draft potential action strands and proposals 

for further consideration. These were drawn up at the height of the Spring 

lockdown and recognised the importance of challenging current ways of 

working to maximise opportunities for businesses and to make it as simple as 

possible to recover and grow the economy. The Business Advisory Forum 

identified the importance of identifying the synergies across each of the priority 

areas in order to manage resources and to make effective progress. The Forum 

also identified the importance of building a more common understanding of 

economic development that is clear to buy into, understand and make happen. 

Figure 3 – Recovery strategic themes & horizontal synergies 

 

11 KEY RECOVERY 

THEMES  

BUSINESS 

& 

SECTORS 

PEOPLE  PLACE 

Digital 

   

Land & assets 

   

Skills 

  

 

Communities  

  

Rural 

 

 

 

Capital infrastructure 

 

 

 

Town centre 

 

 

 

Planning 

 

 

 

Tourism & Events 

 

 

 

Procurement 

 

  

Business support 

 

  

 

2.1.2 We have listened to our partners and the objective of this Plan is to build on the 

existing work of BEC whilst focusing on the projects and actions that will have 

greatest impact on protecting jobs and safeguarding businesses. We also need 

to continue to address the longer-term challenges that constrain growth in 

Carmarthenshire including low productivity and wages, skills deficits, too few 

businesses ‘scaling-up’, and the need for investment in modern business 

infrastructure and premises. We can achieve this through focusing on three key 

themes - Business, People and Place, discussed in more detail in Section 3. These 

are connected by four cross-cutting priority ambitions: digital connectivity, skills, 

Tudalen 139



 

    12 

green economy and a fair and equal economy supporting the Welsh language 

and culture. We specifically identify the need to strengthen measures that get 

people back to work through employability measures and ensuring that people 

have the right skills to do the jobs created. 

2.2 Strategy 

2.2.1 Much of the detailed and technical rationale behind our plan is found in the 

work of BEC, the sub-group, as well as our existing economic regeneration 

strategies and operational plans for Carmarthenshire. 

2.2.2 Furthermore, the strategic economic context for Carmarthenshire’s recovery is 

also changing, with the Welsh Government preparing Regional Economic 

Frameworks that will set out a vision and high-level priorities for the region. As a 

result, the four local authorities in South West Wales, are producing a new 

Regional Economic Delivery Plan. This will replace the Swansea Bay City Region 

Economic Regeneration Strategy. It will provide a more detailed strategic 

framework and an action plan that sets out short, medium and long-term actions 

to address the changing economic circumstances and the key economic 

challenges and opportunities for Carmarthenshire in the region.  

2.2.3 In November 2020 Welsh Government also published A Framework for Regional 

Investment in Wales 1 , a new regionally focused economic development 

framework and plan for the UK Shared Prosperity Fund that is to replace EU 

funding 2 . The Framework is informed by the Welsh Government’s recently 

published COVID-19 reconstruction priorities 3  and sets out a values-led 

reconstruction and economic recovery principles and strategic priorities. These 

are timely and important guides for the Carmarthenshire Recovery Plan. The 

Brexit transition period ends on the 1st January 2021 and is equally fundamental 

and frames the immediate context as well as the medium and longer-term 

recovery. 

2.3 The COVID-19 challenges 

2.3.1 At the time of preparing the Plan, the economy continues to be heavily 

influenced by the ‘led by Government recovery’ controls and fiscal measures. 

The immediate impacts of COVID-19 on the Carmarthenshire economy are 

partly hidden by massive Government intervention, in particular the Coronavirus 

Job Retention Scheme (furlough) and the Self Employment Income Support 

Scheme. 

2.3.2 The extension of furlough to the end of September 2021 is likely to be concealing 

future unemployment across all business sectors. The financial assistance of Self-

Employed Income Support will also come to an end, and so will the Welsh 

 
1 A Framework for Regional Investment in Wales, Welsh Government (2020) 
2 EU funding in this context relates to the European Regional Development Fund, the European Social Fund, and the European 

Agricultural Fund for Rural Development  
3 COVID-19 Reconstruction: Challenges and Priorities, Welsh Government, (October 2020) 

Tudalen 140



 

    13 

Government’s own Economic Resilience funds. It is possible, even likely, that 

Government interventions will fluctuate further over the next 6 to 12 months 

reflecting the success with managing the pandemic and the need for any 

further ‘fire breaks’ and local lockdown measures. 

Reduced economic activity 

2.3.3 The COVID-19 pandemic will lead to a reduction in economic activity across 

Carmarthenshire, Wales and the UK because: 

• Lockdowns including the autumn firebreak, followed by ongoing social 

distancing, mean that sectors such as Retail, Personal Services, Food & Drink, 

and Accommodation have suffered a marked decline in activity; 

• The unwillingness/reluctance of consumers, both residents and visitors, to visit 

town centres has led to a reduction in spending on goods and services in the 

local area. Some of this has been substituted by online shopping, but this may 

not benefit the local economy; 

• Reduced use of public transport means that people are less likely to travel for 

work and leisure; 

• Other sectors are impacted by disruption and changes in local, national and 

global supply/demand e.g. manufacturing; 

• School closures/disruption impact on parents’ ability to work, thus reducing 

economic activity, and  

• Significant changes to working patterns and workplaces have led to some 

reduction in locations of economic activity. 

2.3.4 All of these effects can be seen in an actual reduction in GVA in 

Carmarthenshire. The ONS does not produce monthly GVA data at the 

Carmarthenshire level, but we have modelled the possible impact on 

Carmarthenshire, using UK data as a starting point. GVA for Carmarthenshire 

before the COVID-19 crisis4 was £3.1 billion per annum. This has fallen by £270 

million in the first three quarters of 2020. 

2.3.5 The impact on economic activity and employment in Carmarthenshire is likely 

to get worse as the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic continue. Possible future 

impacts are discussed in more detail below. 

People 

2.3.6 There has been an impact on employment and economic activity in 

Carmarthenshire as a result of the COVID-19 crisis. Key impacts have been: 

• In Carmarthenshire, 30% of eligible jobs (totalling 22,500) were furloughed (i.e. 

CJRS) at the end of June 2020. This then fell to 10% by the end of August (total 

 
4 Latest ONS data is for 2018 

Tudalen 141



 

    14 

of 7,300 jobs). The latest period for which data is available is February 2021 and 

shows 10,000 jobs were furloughed making a cumulative total of individual jobs 

furloughed since the scheme started in March 2020 of 26,300. 

• Up to 75% of the self-employed (7,700 people) in Carmarthenshire have 

claimed from the Self Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) in the first 

round of support (although they have been able to continue to work). In the 

second round of support, 6,200 people had submitted by the end of 

September 2020.  

• The claimant count in Carmarthenshire has increased from 3,025 in January 

2020 to 5,905 in October 2020, an increase of 2,880 or an additional 95% over 

the pre-crisis level. 

• Unemployment has increased from 3.1% during the 12 months to June 2019, to 

4.1% during the 12 months to June 2020.  

•  The largest declines in employment are seen in Wholesale & Retail Trade and 

Accommodation & Food Services. 

Business and sectors 

2.3.7 As discussed above, particular sectors have been badly hit by the COVID-19 

crisis, including Wholesale & Retail Trade and Accommodation & Food Services. 

2.3.8 Whilst there has been a direct and obvious impact on some sectors, there has 

been a more indirect impact on others such as Manufacturing and Construction, 

where changes in global supply and demand, and other market pressures have 

impacted on the sector in Carmarthenshire.  

2.3.9 Despite the obvious increase in activity in the Health sector related to COVID-19, 

overall activity has declined as GP visits have been discouraged and routine 

surgery postponed in response to COVID-19.  

Places 

2.3.10 The impacts of COVID-19 will have affected some places more than others. 

Analysis by CLES5  found 30% of ‘shutdown firms’ during the lockdowns were 

located in areas of Carmarthenshire ranked amongst the most deprived wards. 

A study by the Centre for Towns analysed the economic exposure of towns in 

England and Wales to lockdown measures6 with Llanelli listed in the top 20 of 

vulnerable UK towns.  

2.3.11 Notwithstanding this, there is evidence that multifunctional and localised towns 

have been relatively insulated, with some sectors benefitting from a growth in 

local spend and activity. By contrast, some studies7 have also demonstrated that 

 
5 Community Wealth Building in Carmarthenshire – advancing progressive procurement, CLES (2020) 
6 The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on our towns and cities, Centre for Towns (2020) 
7 The economic impact of COVID-19 on Carmarthenshire’s Ten Towns, Owen Davies Consulting (2020) 

Tudalen 142



 

    15 

places that are particularly dependent on tourism and hospitality such as 

Laugharne have felt the impact at much greater levels.  

2.3.12 There is much discussion about the economic impacts on town centres being 

the result of mostly accelerated structural trends. Certainly, the pandemic has 

witnessed major challenges and difficulties for national retailers, many of which 

have closed stores coupled with a continued shift to online shopping although 

some growth has occurred in services that you cannot buy online e.g. beauty. 

2.3.13 There are also signs of house price inflation that reflects increased demand to 

move to smaller, more rural areas, with lockdowns and working from home 

fuelling an ‘exodus’ from smaller homes in busier urban areas. This will have both 

positive and negative impacts, not least in areas where affordability is already a 

concern. 

2.3.14 However, the impact of COVID-19 and Brexit will fall most heavily on those places 

that are already exposed to economic shocks and suffering high levels of 

deprivation. The rural and coastal nature of the county means it may fare worse 

in these areas. 

2.4 The underlying challenges 

2.4.1 Carmarthenshire’s strategic regeneration is guided by our Transformations Plan8 

and the Swansea Bay City Region Strategy9. In 2019 the Council’s Rural Affairs 

Task Group reported and recommended on a range of priorities for regenerating 

the rural communities10. As well as the immediate challenges posed by COVID-

19, these strategies continue to provide the longer-term vision and strategic 

direction for economic regeneration for the County and to identify the 

underlying challenges and opportunities faced by Carmarthenshire, which will 

affect economic recovery and growth, which include amongst others: 

• Low productivity and wages;  

• Labour market pressures, skills deficits - ‘brain drain’ and an ageing population;  

• Too few new businesses and growth of grounded firms; 

• Low business start-up rates; 

• Infrastructure and connectivity - broadband, road, rail, public transport;  

• Lack of modern business infrastructure, speculative development, viability 

gaps; 

• Affordability and availability of homes;  

 
8 A strategic regeneration plan for Carmarthenshire 2015-2030 – Transformations, CCC, (2015) 
9 Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy 2013-2030 
10 Moving Rural Carmarthenshire Forward, CCC, (June 2019) 

Tudalen 143



 

    16 

• Deprived communities lack the opportunities and benefits of economic 

growth; 

• Declining/repositioning town centre economies. 

2.4.2 Many of these core issues have been exacerbated by COVID-19 which has also 

impacted on the aspirations for social inclusion i.e. with fewer jobs around, those 

who are already excluded/low skilled will find it harder to get a job. 

  

Tudalen 144



 

    17 

3 Measuring the Possible Impacts of COVID-19 

 

3.0.1 We have modelled the potential impact of the COVID-19 crisis on 

Carmarthenshire and its three main towns. The potential impacts are 

summarised below and are set out in more detail in the Modelling the Impact of 

Covid-19 report11. 

3.1 Background 

3.1.1 The impact of the crisis has been modelled in terms of Gross Value Added (GVA), 

which is a measure of the overall value-added in the economy, and 

employment. GVA per worker also provides a measure of the productivity of the 

economy, which helps to determine local wages. Although GVA and 

productivity do not directly measure the inclusiveness of an economy, they are 

helpful in indicating whether wages and quality of life are getting better or 

worse. 

3.1.2 Prior to the COVID-19 crisis, the rate of growth in GVA was at or above the rate 

of change in the UK, and above that of Wales. However, GVA per head (of 

resident population) remained below the UK and Wales levels. Employment in 

Carmarthenshire had been increasing at a greater rate than in the UK and Wales 

until 2017 but has since fallen below these benchmarks.  

3.2 Modelled impact 

3.2.1 Our modelling shows a range of possible scenarios for the impact of COVID-19 

on the Carmarthenshire economy, based on UK-level forecasts. Figure 4 below 

shows that GVA fell in the first half of 2020, recovered partly, and is likely to fall 

again in late 2020 before gradually recovering. Only under the most positive 

scenario will GVA recover to its pre-pandemic level during the next three years. 

 
11 Impact of Covid-19 Modelling, Hardisty Jones, November 2020 

Tudalen 145



 

    18 

Figure 4 - Total GVA Projections 

 

3.2.2 Employment figures do not fall as significantly as GVA in the short-term as 

Government support schemes help employers to keep people in employment. 

The largest fall in employment is therefore delayed until Q4 2021 (see Figure 5) 

when the Government schemes are currently planned to end. As with GVA, 

there is a possibility that employment does not recover to pre-pandemic levels 

within the time horizon considered. 

Figure 5 - Total Employment Projections 

 

 £0

 £100,000,000

 £200,000,000

 £300,000,000

 £400,000,000

 £500,000,000

 £600,000,000

 £700,000,000

 £800,000,000

 £900,000,000

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Upside Central Downside

 0

 10,000

 20,000

 30,000

 40,000

 50,000

 60,000

 70,000

 80,000

 90,000

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Upside Central Downside

Tudalen 146



 

    19 

3.2.3 Figure 6 shows the relationship between GVA and employment under the 

central modelled scenario12. GVA fluctuates much more than employment in 

2020 and 2021 as it is much more reactive to current economic conditions, 

especially given Government intervention in the labour market. As a result of 

Government support, productivity falls in 2020 and 2021. Following this period, 

productivity is projected to slowly increase, which is in-line with typical 

macroeconomic forecasts. 

Figure 6 - Indexed Change in GVA and Employment in Carmarthenshire under Central Scenario 

 

3.2.4 The change in employment under the central modelling scenario can be seen 

in Figure 7. This shows that the largest declines in employment are experienced 

in Accommodation & Food Services, Wholesale, Retail & Motor Trades and 

Manufacturing. There are few sectors that see growth in employment compared 

to 2019.  

 
12 The trend is the same under each of the modelling scenarios 

 0

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

GVA Employment

Tudalen 147



 

    20 

Figure 7 - Difference in Employment from Q4 2019 under Central Scenario 

 

3.2.5 An estimate of the number of businesses at risk of closure has been calculated 

using the ONS Business Impact of Coronavirus Survey (BICS) Wave 15, where 

businesses were asked to rate their risk of insolvency. These results are weighted 

to be representative of all businesses in the UK and shown in Figure 8.  

Figure 8 - Businesses at Risk of Insolvency 

 

-2,500 -2,000 -1,500 -1,000 -500 0 500

Agriculture

Mining & Quarrying

Manufacturing

Electricity & Gas

Water & Waste

Construction

Wholesale, Retail & Motor trades

Transportation & Storage

Accommodation & Food Services

Information & Communication

Financial & Insurance

Real Estate

Professional, Scientific & Technical

Business Admin & Support

Public Admin & Defence

Education

Health

Arts, Entertainment & Recreation

Other Services

Q4 2020 Q4 2021 Q4 2022 Q4 2023

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Manufacturing

Water & Waste

Construction

Wholesale, Retail & Motor trades

Transportation & Storage

Accommodation & Food Services

Information & Communication

Financial & Insurance

Professional, Scientific & Technical

Business Admin & Support

Education

Health

Arts, Entertainment & Recreation

Other Services

High Risk Moderate Risk

Tudalen 148



 

    21 

3.3 Key Messages from the Modelling 

3.3.1 The impact on the overall economy of Carmarthenshire (using GVA as a 

measure of this) has been significant, with impacts across a broad range of 

sectors. The impact on employment, whilst significant, has been shielded by UK 

Government intervention, but is likely to get worse in late 2021 as Government 

subsidy for employment is reduced. 

3.3.2 Productivity (measured as GVA per worker) appears to have fallen, as 

employment has been supported by Government intervention whilst GVA has 

fallen. As employment and GVA move back into alignment, then this headline 

measure of productivity will recover slowly over time. However, it may be the 

case that underlying productivity has temporarily increased, as the greatest 

impact of COVID-19 has been on sectors with a relatively low level of 

productivity (e.g. Retail, Food & Drink and Accommodation) whereas higher 

productivity sectors (e.g. Professional Services) have continued to operate with 

less impact through several lockdowns. Again, this is not a sustainable trend in 

the longer-term and productivity should trend back towards the pre-COVID-19 

level, notwithstanding any structural impacts (or economic scarring). 

3.3.3 Recovery will be slow, and it may take many years for the economy of 

Carmarthenshire to recover to its previous level, let alone make up the lost 

ground of the COVID-19 crisis and its aftermath. 

New Business Start-ups 

3.3.4 In addition to the modelling, we have examined business start-up rates before 

the pandemic. In comparison to the region and the rest of Wales the growth of 

new businesses in Carmarthenshire has seen a small decline in recent years.  

3.3.5 With a relatively high baseline of small businesses to begin with, and the 

dominance of the public sector and number of large employers in the County, 

new start-up rates would be expected to be at a different level than elsewhere 

in the region although there is potential for growth. 

3.3.6 Since the pandemic, at a UK level there has been a double digit growth in the 

number of business registrations since June 2020. This is thought to have been 

triggered by entrepreneurs responding to the rapidly changing needs of 

individuals and companies, and also as a result of people who have been made 

unemployed  launching their own ventures. In Carmarthenshire the recession 

would be expected to trigger a growth in new start-up rates, but as the economy 

picks-up again the rate of growth would also be expected to lessen. 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 149



 

    22 

 

Figure 9 – New Business Start-up Rates (index 2015) 

 

  

 80

 90

 100

 110

 120

 130

 140

 150

 160

 170

 180

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Carmarthenshire Pembrokeshire Swansea

Neath Port Talbot  Wales

Tudalen 150



 

    23 

4 Our Recovery Plan 

4.0.1 With the knowledge of how COVID-19 has and is likely to continue to impact on 

the Carmarthenshire economy, our Plan focuses on the critical period of 

recovery over the next 24 months. There remains a high level of uncertainty 

around the pattern of the recovery, as well as the final outcome of the Brexit 

negotiations, so our Plan is short-term, flexible and in alignment with Welsh 

Government’s reconstruction priorities. Our Plan and priorities will also inform the 

longer-term growth of Carmarthenshire and shape the current work to produce 

the new South West Wales Regional Economic Framework and Regional 

Economic Delivery Plan during the first quarter of 2021. 

4.0.2 This Plan will guide the economic recovery of Carmarthenshire from COVID-19, 

and the transition towards longer-term economic growth. This means tackling 

the immediate impacts of COVID-19, and Brexit, but also the underlying 

challenges that have constrained growth in the County’s economy.  

4.0.3 We are focused on three overarching themes reflecting the synergy within our 

initial recovery plan and will focus on four cross-cutting priority ambitions that are 

pivotal for our actions.  

Figure 10 – Overarching Themes & Cross-cutting Priority Ambitions 

 

Themes 

• Businesses - safeguarding our existing businesses, supporting new start-ups and 

growing businesses in our foundational and growth sectors to become more 

productive and competitive. 

• People -  protecting jobs, responding to significant expected unemployment, 

helping people gain the skills needed for the jobs that will exist, and creating 

new and better-skilled employment. 

• Place – ensuring a fair distribution of opportunities through investing in the 

infrastructure and adaptation of our strategic growth areas, town centres, the 

rural economy and regenerating our most deprived communities. 

 

 

BUSINESS 

 

 

 

PEOPLE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLACE 

ULTRA-FAST ULTRA-RELIABLE DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY  CULTURE & SKILLS 

SKILLS 

GREEN ECONOMY  

FAIR, EQUAL AND SUPPORTS WELSH LANGUAGE & CULTURE 

 

Tudalen 151



 

    24 

Cross-cutting Priorities 

• Ultra-fast, ultra-reliable digital connectivity, culture and skills - we are leading 

within our region the £55m Digital Infrastructure Project improving and 

identifying traditional and alternative solutions to the problem. And whilst we 

have made significant progress in identifying coverage problems across 

Carmarthenshire, we continue to evaluate and understand the 

telecommunications market and intervene to improve digital connectivity 

across our County both now and for the future. We can be confident there are 

few reasons why our residents and businesses cannot in the future operate and 

compete in the global economy whilst retaining their base in Carmarthenshire 

with an acceptable level of digital connectivity, and we are working towards 

the target of Gigabit-capable future-proofed connectivity for the medium to 

long term. 

• Skills - We will help match people to the job opportunities which are available, 

and this will involve an element of re-skilling or upskilling, offering employment 

support, creating a workforce pipeline for the future and supporting individuals 

to retrain for relevant roles. We will help residents to gain the skills they need for 

jobs in growing businesses and sectors. We will also work with employers in the 

growth sectors to identify their future employment and skills needs. 

• Green economy - we will continue investing in the widespread deployment of 

energy efficiency measures that is key to meeting our commitment to reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions. Our prioritisation of retrofit energy saving measures 

will support the development of the construction industry skills and renewable 

technology. Our aspirations also include the growth of waste to energy 

opportunities and a greater number of community energy schemes. 

• Growth that is fair, equal and supports Welsh language and culture - we are 

committed to local, fair, decent and secure employment and promoting 

entrepreneurship, business growth, affordable homes and community 

resilience in our Welsh speaking communities. Furthermore, in recognition of the 

changing dynamics concerning where people choose to live and work, we will 

encourage businesses and people moving to rural areas to value and use the 

Welsh language. 

4.0.4 A fundamental aspect of economic recovery and the transition towards a 

higher-value and more inclusive economy will be raising productivity (measured 

as GVA, or value-added, per worker). Businesses with higher productivity will be 

able to pay higher wages, producing higher levels of prosperity for the whole of 

Carmarthenshire. The two fundamental approaches to driving up GVA and 

productivity, which can be carried out simultaneously, are: 

• Increasing productivity across all sectors of the economy including support for 

‘localism’ and the foundational economy e.g. through increased skills, capital 

investment, more and better use of technology and better infrastructure; and  

Tudalen 152



 

    25 

• Increasing the size of the high-productivity/high wage/high growth sectors or 

sub-sectors of the economy, so that they carry out more activity and employ 

more local people. These should be sectors in which the Carmarthenshire 

economy has a competitive advantage (i.e. Carmarthenshire is a better place 

than elsewhere in which to do business in these sectors). 

4.0.5 Our approach to localism is based on building strong, sustainable and resilient 

communities and strengthening the foundational economy through local 

businesses, local resourcefulness and local support. At this level the greatest 

impact of COVID-19 has been on sectors with a relatively low level of 

productivity which are nonetheless of key importance for our recovery, and 

include businesses in retail, food and drink, tourism/accommodation and culture.  

4.0.6 At the time of this report there are growing concerns for the food sector and 

supply chain that are suffering significantly alongside hospitality sector closures. 

Safeguarding the industry and our larger companies that are pivotal in the 

produce supply chain and the hospitality trade, is a priority for our foundational 

economy sector. 

4.0.7 Our key sectors with greater potential for higher productivity, higher wages and 

higher levels of growth are likely to have felt less impact but are critical for 

growing the size of our economy and employing more people – advanced 

manufacturing, creative industries, green economy, health, care and life 

science and agriculture and food production. These last two sectors (sub-sectors 

of each) sit in both foundational and high growth economies.  

 

Figure 11 – Features of Local and High Growth 

 

Localism/foundational economy 
 

High growth competitive sectors 
 

• Micro and small business growth 

and upscaling 

• Building strong sustainable & 

resilient communities 

• Closer to home solutions 

• Better-paid local employment 

• Strengthen local procurement & 

supply chains 

• Innovation through local 

university/institutions  

• Transform hard hit sectors - retail, 

hospitality, tourism, culture - to 

adapt and find new markets  

• Green tech & energy efficient 

homes 

• Focused activity that supports 

these sectors 

• Scale-up mid-sized, grounded firms 

• Advanced materials & 

manufacturing. 

• Creative industries - Welsh 

language media 

• Green economy  inc. low carbon 

energy & reduction. 

• Health, care & life sciences. 

• Agriculture, food production & 

processing. 

 

 

Tudalen 153



 

    26 

4.0.8 Most of the actions set out in this Plan will help with the recovery and growth of 

GVA and productivity across all sectors of the economy, in both the 

foundational and high-growth parts of the economy. However, within each area 

of activity there is scope to include some new and focused activity that supports 

our target foundational and high growth competitive sectors. With limited 

resources, it is right that our Plan determines where to focus our efforts and 

resources and explains why.   

4.0.9 The following table identifies how our actions to support the recovery and growth 

will also differ as we restart, revive and renew the Carmarthenshire economy in 

the coming years.   

Figure 12 – Recovery objectives 

 

LOCKDOWNS  RESTART  REVIVE RENEW 

Minimise negative 

impacts  

• Minimise loss of 

businesses, jobs and 

productivity  

Support businesses and 

the workforce  

• Re-open 

businesses  

• Get newly 

unemployed back 

to work  

• Retrain 

unemployed for 

opportunities that 

are available  

• Tackle inequality 

and exclusion  

• Ensure businesses 

and places adapt to 

social distancing  

• Promote digital 

• Public sector 

procurement 

Accelerate recovery 

through local 

interventions  

• Start to build a 

stronger, greener, 

and just economy 

• Digital access and 

infrastructure 

• Support for 

foundational and 

growth sectors  

• Public sector 

procurement & 

supply chain 

development across 

sectors 

• Promote economic 

growth (GVA)  

• Create new jobs  

• Train people to 

access jobs  

• Promoting enterprise 

and supporting 

growth in areas with 

a high proportion of 

Welsh speakers 

Moving to a new 

(better) economy  

• Higher GVA and 

productivity  

• Better quality jobs  

• Innovation and 

R&D  

• Low carbon 

economy  

• Digital access and 

infrastructure 

• Public sector 

procurement & 

supply chain 

development 

across sectors 

• Reduction in 

carbon emissions  

• Reshaping of town 

centres and 

regenerating left 

behind 

communities 

• Delivery of major 

capital projects 

and infrastructure 

and more 

affordable housing  

• Tackle inequality 

and exclusion  

 

 

 

Tudalen 154



 

    27 

4.1 Understand the needs of our target sectors 

4.1.1 We have identified a number of sectors, above, which are important to our local 

economy and where Carmarthenshire has a competitive advantage, which will 

help to drive the future recovery and growth in the local economy.  

4.1.2 At least two of these sectors straddle both the foundational economy and the 

high-growth economy (Agriculture and Health), whilst two are more focused in 

the high-growth economy (Creative and Green Economy).  

4.1.3 An important first step of our Plan will be to understand the needs of these target 

and high growth sectors. This means establishing regular communications with 

representative groups of these sectors through existing partnerships and forums, 

and if not then helping to establish a representative for each sector within these 

existing structures. These include: 

• Welsh Government 

• Business Wales 

• Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (RLSP)  

• High growth business engagement targets (an updated target list) 

• Business Advisory Forum (expand & include SME/target sector representation) 

• Agri-sector Group 

• CCC Community Area Teams 

• Enterprise agencies e.g. Antur Cymru, Menter a Busnes, SBF 

4.1.4 We will review the composition of our Business Advisory and Agri Sector forums 

and consider if a single strategic business group for Carmarthenshire would 

improve regular dialogue with each sector and scale to understand their needs, 

opportunities, barriers to growth, skills requirements, property requirements and 

so forth.  

4.1.5 Our target growth sectors are cross-cutting with our three headline themes of 

businesses, people and place; so, we include a specific focus within this Plan on 

these sectors. 

4.2 Outcomes from our recovery plan 

4.2.1 We need to recover the economic activity that has already been lost during the 

crisis and minimise and reverse further losses. A more stretching ambition is to 

generate some or all of the growth that we would have expected if the Covid-

19 crisis had not happened, and a hard Brexit averted. Our modelling, 

summarised in Section 2, shows that we need to replace more than 3,000 jobs in 

Carmarthenshire that were lost in the first half of 2020 and nearly £200 million of 

lost GVA. There have been job losses since then, and many jobs currently 

Tudalen 155



 

    28 

furloughed may be lost once Government support is withdrawn. In our central 

scenario more than 7,000 more jobs need to be safeguarded or replaced if they 

are lost, which rises to more than 10,000 jobs in our downside scenario. We risk 

losing at least £650 million of GVA, and more than £1.5 billion in a downside 

scenario. Safeguarding and creating jobs will help to minimise this loss. 

4.2.2 Our modelling suggests that over 1,400 businesses in Carmarthenshire are at risk 

of insolvency, so we need to support them. Supporting these businesses to 

survive and then grow helps to safeguard and create the employment discussed 

above. 

Figure 13 – Recovery targets 

 

3,000 JOBS - Replacing those that have already been lost 

10,000 JOBS - Safeguarding and replacing those that may have 

been or at risk of being lost 

1,400 

BUSINESSES 

- Supporting business at risk of insolvency 

1,700 JOBS - Creating additional employment above our pre-

pandemic levels 

 

4.2.3 Over 90% of our nearly 8,000 businesses in Carmarthenshire are micro-businesses 

(i.e. with fewer than 10 employees), so we need to support these businesses to 

maintain, upscale and grow our economy. We also have more than 10,000 self-

employed people who need support to survive and thrive in business. 

4.2.4 In addition, had the pre-crisis growth trajectory continued over the period to the 

end of 2023, we would have seen an additional 1,750 jobs created in 

Carmarthenshire and £500 million of additional GVA. A stretching target would 

be to create some or all of these jobs and GVA. 

4.2.5 The actions needed to achieve these targets are set out in the following sections 

together with predicted thematic outcomes.   

Tudalen 156



 

    29 

4.3 Businesses -safeguarding and supporting sustainable growth 

4.3.1 Our business support activities must provide services that meet the needs of 

businesses in our target growth sectors. For example: 

Immediate actions 

• Our Business support helpline will provide a multi-agency, seamless support 

service with specialist advice that meet the needs of our target sectors. 

• We will review our targeted engagement with local businesses to ensure the 

current list covers firms in our growth sectors, including SME’s with high growth 

potential. 

• Our Business Recovery and Support Funds will prioritise target sectors and 

businesses that wish to grow through future public procurement opportunities. 

• We will identify individuals and micro businesses that have fallen through the 

cracks of Government financial support and are known as the ‘Excluded’ and 

assess the level of support that is required through our business support 

package. 

• We will reduce barriers to entrepreneurship, provide incentives for start-ups, 

and boost the potential of new start-ups. 

Address longer term 

• Our Business Start-Up Fund will prioritise target sectors. 

• Our Rural Enterprise Fund will target Food Production and Processing. 

• We will identify a pipeline of public sector procurement opportunities and 

ensure local businesses are alert and supported to target greater level of local 

contracts. 

• Our Business Growth Fund will support target sectors and prioritise businesses 

with the potential to target these public procurement pipeline opportunities.  

4.3.2 The longer-term sustainability of our target sectors will be supported by several 

strategic projects that help to stimulate the Carmarthenshire economy, grow key 

sectors, develop skilled employees and retain talented young people in our 

region.  

• Through the Swansea Bay City Deal we are progressing detailed design work 

for phases of Pentre Awel - combining academic, business, leisure and health 

and care in partnership with Hywel Dda Health Board including facilities for 

healthcare training, medical research and clinical trials.  

• Further commitments will help to continue delivery and expand our creative 

industry activity with a focus on Yr Egin – the creative exchange media and 

culture hub. Our support will help with the growth of new businesses and supply 

chain development.  

Tudalen 157



 

    30 

• Completion of the Pendine Attractor Project will provide a major boost for the 

tourism industry and will be key for the growth of coastal tourism and the rural 

economy.  

• We will also continue to support innovation through our Beacon Centre for 

Enterprise in Llanelli with specialist ‘next generation’ business support to enable 

innovation and R&D, office space and development land for spin-out.  

• We will support clean growth and businesses diversification into areas such as 

renewable energy and supply chain development for low carbon affordable 

homes and decarbonisation retro-fit measures to the Councils existing stock. 

This will help with the long-term sustainability of these high- value sectors in 

Carmarthenshire.  

• Investment in the Cross Hands Food Zone & East Strategic Site is supporting the 

growth of life sciences, advanced manufacturing, environmental, creative and 

agri-food technologies 

• The City Deal digital infrastructure programme will benefit residents and 

businesses in all parts of Carmarthenshire and will help to ensure the region’s 

cities, towns and business parks have competitive access to full-fibre 

connectivity. 

• The economic growth and regeneration plans for our primary town centres, 

rural ‘Ten Towns’ and investment in the brand and marketing of Discover 

Carmarthenshire will support retail, hospitality & visitor economy sectors. 

4.4 People – supporting the unemployed and getting back in to work 

4.4.1 Our support for people in Carmarthenshire will ensure that they are well placed 

to support the recovery and growth of our target growth sectors. These actions 

will specifically support the expected and significant increase in unemployment 

and the challenge of placing people into work. 

Immediate actions 

4.4.2 Building on our experience of delivering local employability programmes and 

our knowledge of local businesses we will seek to coordinate a comprehensive 

package of support across partners including Working Wales (Careers Wales) 

and Job Centre Plus (JCP). We know there are a number of employability 

initiatives with different eligibility criteria and entry points and through 

Carmarthenshire’s triage services we have a track record of working to 

coordinate referrals across multiple agencies. Before the pandemic, Llanelli’s 

Hwb was a model proving the benefits of co-locating and partnership working 

between employment agencies able to meet in one building. We will investigate 

how to continue with these work patterns and collaborations including 

strengthening  outreach support within Carmarthen and Ammanford Hwb’s. 

Tudalen 158



 

    31 

4.4.3 Through the RLSP we will identify target sectors workforce skills and training 

deficits and ensure that Welsh Government aligns funds to develop these 

specific needs in Carmarthenshire. 

4.4.4 We will guide businesses through the Kickstart process, and with the RLSP and 

training providers ensure apprenticeship/traineeship support is made available. 

And where jobs are at risk, we will prioritise additional support for those with skills 

and experience in need by our target sectors. 

Address longer term 

4.4.5 We will work closely with the RLSP to ensure that the skills needs of our target 

growth sectors are recognised, and actions within the Regional Employment 

and Skills Plan meet their needs. There is also significant overlap between our 

target sectors and the skills and talent initiative of the Swansea Bay City Deal 

including: 

• ensuring bespoke education and training solutions align with target 

sectors/City Deal themes, 

• targeting the up-skilling for those in work in target sectors, e.g. improved digital 

skills,  

• ensure self-employed, traders and micro firms become more resilient with 

business skills and confidence to grow e.g. business planning, digital skills, 

marketing. 

4.5 Place – levelling up and inclusive growth 

4.5.1 Where possible, we will ensure that our place-based actions support the needs 

of the target growth sectors. Under the Business heading above we discussed 

the need to ensure that our business property interventions and City Deal 

investments meet the needs of our target sectors, and these will be closely 

aligned with our other place-based interventions. Other examples of how we will 

support the target sectors include: 

Immediate actions 

• We will support start-up and sector growth in rural areas through a speculative 

build employment space programme. 

• Our regeneration/growth plans for our town centres and rural towns will 

develop proposals that support our target sectors. 

• Property acquisition and reuse initiatives will support our target sectors as well 

as produce affordable homes. 

• Local Development Orders for employment zones and town centres will 

provide greater flexibility and speed up investment in support of sectors and 

new homes. 

Tudalen 159



 

    32 

• Public realm improvements will support a safer and more attractive businesses 

environment and help our retail, hospitality, visitor and cultural  sectors to adapt 

and grow.  

• Destination marketing will support higher value growth of our visitor economy, 

town centres and emphasises attractiveness for investment and place to work. 

• Our delivery of low carbon housing and decarbonisation retro fit measures will 

promote affordable warmth (reduce household bills/increase household 

disposable income) and maximise opportunities for local business growth in our 

Green Economy. We will also tackle barriers to growth including grid 

connection upgrade and funding for energy efficiency measures. 

• We will ensure investments in physical and digital infrastructure help to 

overcome the barriers and supports growth in target sectors e.g. including 

strategic road, rail and cycling pipeline projects. 

Address longer term 
 

4.5.2 Our strategic projects discussed above will not only help to stimulate recovery in 

the Carmarthenshire economy at a sectors level but are key to achieving 

inclusive growth for people and employees, particularly young people in our 

county.  

• Full-fibre digital connectivity, clean growth low carbon homes and investment 

in retro fit energy saving measures will support the Carmarthenshire wide 

economy and promote stronger sustainable communities. Likewise, Discover 

Carmarthenshire will support the marketing & branding of the county from 

Carmarthen Bay in the South to the Western Brecon Beacons and Cambrian 

Mountains in the North. 

• The recovery and growth plans for primary town centres and ten rural towns, 

will support retail, hospitality & visitor economy.  

• In Llanelli our investment in Pentre Awel academic, business, leisure and health 

and care and the Beacon Centre for Enterprise will enable innovation and 

R&D. 

• In Carmarthen the creative industry activity is focused on Yr Egin.  

• Investment in Pendine supports coastal tourism and rural economy in western 

Carmarthenshire.  

• The Cross Hands Food Zone and East Strategic Site supports life sciences, 

advanced manufacturing, environmental, creative & agri-food technologies. 

• Hywel Dda Health Board has consulted upon the new General Hospital in the 

area between Narberth and St Clears and it will be a significant driver for the 

economy as a whole and the health sector in western Carmarthenshire. 

Tudalen 160



 

    33 

4.6 Maximising opportunities for external funding 

 

4.6.1 The financial landscape is changing rapidly with the end of regional economic 

development funding from the EU, and replacement Shared Prosperity funds 

channelled from the UK Government. The Framework for Regional Investment 

and Regional Economic Framework in Wales referred to in Section 1 will establish 

revised priorities and decision making around how Welsh Governments funds are 

distributed at a regional and local authority level. Furthermore, most national 

funding organisations have reviewed their priorities and programmes in light of 

the pandemic.   

4.6.2 We will regroup the external funding experience that already exists within our 

regeneration teams to step up the coordination and identification of external 

funding opportunities across the Council to ensure that we are successful with 

attracting additional funds into Carmarthenshire. We will also work closely with 

our PSB partners and businesses to ensure we support each other in securing 

funding in support of the priorities for recovery and growth.  

4.7 Summary of actions and outcomes. 

4.7.1 The Plan includes some 30 actions in support of business, people and place. The 

majority of these actions are already taking place with a significant financial and 

resource commitment from the Council. The Plan provides the focus for their 

delivery and we have identified where actions require further development, 

either with our partners or with new resources. 

  

Tudalen 161



 

    34 

Business 

Business Recovery Support 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

Business 

Recovery and 

Support Funds 

We will establish a £0.5m Recovery Fund to safeguard/create 

sustainable jobs.  We will prioritise our target growth sectors 

 We will establish a £0.2m revenue Support Fund to invest in skills, 

marketing and diversification to safeguard and grow jobs. We will 

prioritise our high growth sectors 

We will use this fund to support businesses to target future Public 

Procurement Opportunities (see below) 

 

Business Growth 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

Rural Enterprise 

Fund 

We will allocate additional funds to our Rural Enterprise Fund so we 

can support businesses that create quality jobs supporting priority 

agri-food production and processing 

Business Growth 

Funds 

We will allocate additional funds to our Business Growth Fund that 

targets capital/revenue support for our target growth sectors. We will 

use this fund to support businesses to target future Public 

Procurement Opportunities 

Business Start-

up Fund 

With increasing levels of interest in self-employment and new 

business start-ups our fund will specifically target growth in our 

priority sectors 

Commercial 

Property 

Development 

Fund 

We will establish a £1m package of assistance to support developers 

and owner occupiers to invest in construction, expansion and 

refurbishments of property. We will prioritise the delivery of premises 

in our target growth sectors. We will use this fund to support 

businesses to develop premises to target future Public Procurement 

Opportunities. 

Speculative 

Employment 

Space 

Programme 

We will invest £1m to directly deliver start-up and grow on business 

property in rural areas with poor viability for the private sector. We 

will prioritise letting to tenants in our target growth sectors 

CCC managed 

industrial and 

commercial 

property 

Where there is a proven need, we will continue to support tenants’ of 

our managed estate through flexible term and realistic rents. 

Work hub space  We will re-use/redevelop existing local authority land and property 

assets to provide space and support to occupants and businesses in 

the wider local community. We will ensure our hubs meet the need 

of our target growth sectors and reinvest income generated into 

additional businesses support. 

Tudalen 162



 

    35 

Forward plan 

‘pipeline’ 

opportunities 

We will establish a 3-5 year forward plan of public sector 

opportunities and to provide specialist support to local businesses 

through our Economic Development team to prepare and target 

these opportunities. We will use our Pareto business targets and our 

business support and property related funds to provide an integrated 

package of support. 

Lower Value 

Contracts 

We will review the opportunity to ensure local firms have an 

opportunity to tender for lower value (under £25K) local authorities’ 

contracts. We will encourage our foundational and high growth 

businesses to target these opportunities. 

 

Actions in development 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

  

ASK 

  

Provide urgent 

support for those 

who are at risk of 

redundancy or who 

have lost their job  

  

Building on our experience of 

delivering local employability 

programmes and our knowledge of 

local businesses we are committing 

to coordinate a comprehensive 

package of support across partners 

including Working Wales and Job 

Centre Plus (JCP). 

Carmarthenshire’s Hwb’s will create 

a more joined up and co-working 

opportunities between agencies to 

provide employability support. 

We will lobby Welsh 

Government/Working Wales and 

Departments for Work and Pensions 

(DWP)/JCP to proactively share 

intelligence on redundancies and 

deliver employability support. 

Identify methods to strengthen 

existing arrangements for regular up-

date, information sharing and 

referrals between agencies.  

Maximise local 

employment 

opportunities, 

support local people 

into work  

  

Through the Regional Learning and 

Skills Partnership (RLSP) determine 

business workforce skills needs and 

support recruitment where 

appropriate.  We are committing to 

better understand the needs of our 

growth sector employers including 

our high growth targeted 

businesses. 

We will lobby Welsh Government to 

help us to identify and ensure funds 

align and fill the training gaps 

identified. We need to ensure there 

are enough resources to support 

training providers to deliver the 

training programmes identified by 

businesses, including our high 

growth sectors. 

Outputs and impacts • Increased number of jobs safeguarded 

• Increased number of people re-employed 

• Increase in apprenticeship and traineeship opportunities in local 

businesses 

• Increased pool of workers with the work-related skills that 

businesses need  

• Increased employment of local residents in local businesses 

 

4.7.2 Predicted Outcomes 

• 6,500 Business enquiries supported over 2 years directly with businesses. 

• 2,000 Jobs safeguarded over 2 years directly through our programmes and 

activities. 

• 2,000 Jobs created over 2 years directly through our programmes and 

activities. 

• 1,000 jobs created over 2 years indirectly working with partners. 

• 1,000 jobs safeguarded over 2 years indirectly working with partners. 

Tudalen 163



 

    36 

People 

Skilling and re-skilling and for residents to gain skills they need for jobs in growth businesses 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

Growth Sectors Through the RLSP we are committed to understand the people and 

skills needs of businesses in our high growth sectors and ensure that 

local residents have the right skills to meet these needs. Where up-

skilling is needed for those already working in the high growth sectors, 

e.g. improved digital skills, we will prioritise available training to these 

workers. We will work with training providers to provide apprenticeship 

support that our high growth sectors need. Our support to re-skill and 

up-skill people will focus on providing the skills that are needed in our 

high growth sectors. 

Actions in development 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

  

ASK 

  

Targeting the self-

employed and micro 

business  

  

Tailored package of support and 

guidance targeted at our self-

employed, local traders and micro 

businesses to enable them to move 

forward and grow their resilience in 

the post pandemic economy.  

Meet the variable needs of these 

businesses through a general health 

check or analysis of a key business 

area to identify skill gaps or areas for 

businesses development and to 

consider the actions and approach 

required. 

 

We will also identify individuals and 

micro businesses that have fallen 

through the cracks of Government 

financial support and are known as 

the ‘Excluded’ and assess the level 

of support that is required through 

our business support package. 

  

We will lobby Welsh Government/ 

Business Wales and local business 

support agencies to identify and ensure 

funds align to fill the business training 

gaps identified. We need to ensure 

there are enough resources to support 

training providers to deliver the training 

programmes identified by businesses,  

Digital skills Create and deliver a program to 

enhance the digital awareness, skills 

and literacy of businesses and 

workers across 

Carmarthenshire. This will be critical 

to the successful deployment of 

digital infrastructure. We will 

prioritise up-skilling within our high 

growth sectors. 

  

  

We will challenge our training providers 

and engage other organisations such as 

Digital Communities Wales (Wales Co-

op), Superfast Business 

Wales, BT, Google, Microsoft, and others 

to stimulate our digital economy. There 

is also the potential to partner with local 

businesses to deliver content on the 

specific subject matter which may be of 

interest and benefit to their peers i.e. 

Cyber Security 

Outputs and impacts Increased skills and qualifications among self-employed and micro businesses 

Increased number of qualifications achieved in high growth 

sectors/employment pathways 

Increased number of employees earning real Living Wage 

Increased digital competency levels 

 

4.7.3 Predicted Outcomes 

Tudalen 164



 

    37 

• Increased skills and qualifications among self-employed and micro businesses 

– 250 over 2 years; 1000 over 5 years. 

• Increased number of qualifications achieved in high growth 

sectors/employment pathways – 300 over 2 years. 

• Increased number of employees earning real Living Wage – 200 over 2 years. 

• Increased digital competency levels – 200 over 2 years. 

Place  

Sustaining vibrant towns 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

Regeneration 

Masterplans  

We will review and update our integrated regeneration masterplans for 

Carmarthen, Llanelli and Ammanford. We will invest £1.2m match 

funding in capital projects and interventions in our town centres to meet 

the needs for our foundational and high growth businesses. 

Ten Town Recovery 

& Growth Plans 

We will produce recovery and growth plans for our 10 rural towns and 

appoint market town officers to help each town take their ideas forward. 

Our £100k seed funding and £1m capital funding will support immediate 

and longer-term needs. 

Property 

acquisitions, 

occupation and 

reuse 

We will identify and maintain our ongoing pipeline of potential town centre 

property acquisitions or lease. We will investigate opportunities to 

relocate/establish leisure, education facilities e.g. 24hr gym, in vacant 

town centre buildings. We will invest in new affordable homes in the 

redevelopment of town centre property. We will regularly discuss property 

issues with our major land and property owners to identify opportunities 

and support required. 

Agile/shared 

working hubs 

We will investigate and establish shared workspace hubs with our public 

sector partners and provide opportunities for local to home working for 

the business community. 

Local 

Development 

Orders 

We will establish Local Development Orders in Carmarthen and 

Ammanford and potentially strategic employment areas to provide 

greater flexibility and to lower the planning barriers for investment in a 

range of new uses. 

Public realm 

improvements 

We will implement the findings of our review into the success of the town 

centre COVID-19 measures. We will make improvements that make our 

town centres safer and more pleasant and support our retail, food and 

hospitality businesses 

 

  

Tudalen 165



 

    38 

 

Brand and marketing 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

Discover 

Carmarthenshire 

Branding 

We will produce our new brand and communication strategy in support of 

our visitor economy and town centres. We aim to increase the value of 

holiday stays, repeat visits and spend. We also want to use our branding to 

promote Carmarthenshire as an attractive place to live, work and invest in 

our target growth sectors.  

100% Sir Gar We will use our initiative to identify and support businesses in gaining 

confidence and skills in the use of online and add value through wider 

market reach and sales. 

 

Sustainable places to live 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

New affordable 

housing 

Our plans to invest over £107m into housing over the next 3 years will 

continue to be a major driver for economic recovery and growth. This will 

include the development of new affordable homes across that county, 

including town centres, rural towns and villages. Our plans also include the 

upgrading of the existing housing stock inclusive of a housing retrofit 

programme which will reduce carbon emissions and promote affordable 

warmth. Our investment will help stimulate the local economy, creating 

jobs, supporting local businesses including the local construction industry 

and the development of the local supply chain. This will have a key role in 

our immediate recovery from the COVID-19 including the regeneration and 

development of strong sustainable communities including Tyisha, Pentre 

Awel, town centres, rural towns and villages 

 

Infrastructure to enable growth 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

 

Growth Zones and 

strategic sites 

We will progress the delivery of Pentre Awel with Hywel Dda University 

Health Board, Universities and Colleges for several years, to provide world-

class leisure, business, assisted living and health facilities on one site.  

We are working  with the Welsh Government at Cross Hands Growth Zone 

to bring forward further employment sites and infrastructure, and the 

completion of Pendine Tourism Attractor which will feature a new state-of-

the-art museum dedicated to Pendine’s historic association with land 

speed, as well as a 42-bed eco activity holiday resort. We will continue to 

support the growth of Yr Egin as Carmarthenshire’s creative and digital 

centre . New and secured funds for these sites will stimulate private sector 

investment for new and high-value businesses, creating hundreds of new 

jobs and productivity in high technology sectors. 

Physical 

connectivity and 

sustainable travel 

We are working towards improving rail connectivity in parts of 

Carmarthenshire to increase connectivity and inclusion, and reduce road 

traffic, congestion and carbon emissions. Feasibility work is being 

Tudalen 166



 

    39 

undertaken on the new station at St Clears with significant UK Government 

funding (£4.7m). We are committed to delivering key projects including the 

remaining section of the Towy Valley Cycle Path from Carmarthen to 

Llandeilo. We will continue to lobby the Welsh Government to increase 

funding to enable the development of active travel and safer routes. With 

the growth and importance of transport logistics and supply chain, and our 

position on the trading route with Ireland will consider the options of 

developing an overnight lorry park/s within the county. 

 

Actions in development 

RESPONSE  OFFER 

  

ASK 

  

Low carbon housing & 

retro fit energy 

reduction 

We will support the delivery of low 

carbon housing and retrofit energy 

efficiency measures to our own and 

private household.  

We will ensure that we maximise 

opportunities for our local 

businesses and green economy 

sector working with the RLSP. 

We will investigate and secure funds 

through e.g. Energy Company 

obligations (ECO) funding. 

  

We will challenge Welsh Government 

and training providers to ensure we 

prepare all element of the supply chain 

for delivering net zero homes. 

Outputs and impacts • Growth in local construction/maintenance jobs in energy 

skills/technology 

• Create demand in supply chain development 

• Reduced levels of household energy cost and increased disposable 

income 

Improving digital 

connectivity 

Through our comprehensive digital 

programme we will ensure our 

residents and businesses operate 

and compete in the global economy 

whilst retaining their base in 

Carmarthenshire.  

We can achieve an acceptable level 

of digital connectivity for most 

business in the short term. We are 

working towards the target of 

Gigabit-capable future-

proofed connectivity for the 

medium to long term 

We are committed to deliver the digital 

infrastructure project for the region 

and ensure necessary funds are 

secured to roll out amongst the 

telecoms industry that Carmarthen  

Outputs and impacts • Full-fibre digital connectivity to acceptable levels across 

Carmarthenshire 

• Increased use of digital technologies & levels of innovation  

• Increased incidents of collaboration & technology transfer 

  

 

4.7.4 Predicted Outcomes 

• Increased pool of workers with the work-related skills that businesses need  - 300 

over 2 years. 

• F-G Rated properties 12,000 households living in warm energy efficient housing 

– equivalent to £3.5 million annual savings (£296 per household).  

• Safeguarding 7,000 construction/maintenance jobs through skills and 

technology development to deliver energy efficiency measures through 

retrofit, maintenance and new build. 

Tudalen 167



 

    40 

5 How we will deliver 

 

5.0.1 How we help deliver the recovery and growth of the economy is as important 

as what we deliver – and consideration of the Wellbeing of Future Generations 

Act has reinforced the need to work differently to recover and improve the 

sustainable economic well-being of Carmarthenshire. The Act puts in place the 

five ways of working to ensure that public bodies take account of the long-term, 

work to prevent problems occurring or getting worse, take an integrated and 

collaborative approach, and consider and involve people. 

5.0.2 The Carmarthenshire approach means we have a strong focus on our local 

community but also working regionally and nationally to maximise all 

opportunities for recovery and growth. The vital role the Local Authority has 

played in leading the emergency response to COVID-19 has been strengthened 

by our ability to contribute various elements on a broader community and 

economic level. This has included housing, transportation, regeneration and 

planning etc and has been reflected in the extent of our Business Economy and 

Community recovery group and 11 themes.  

5.0.3 However, whilst working at the forefront of economic development and 

recovery, these are not statutory functions of Carmarthenshire County Council, 

and at the same time inclusive recovery and growth are beyond the scope of 

any single Council department. Neither can we achieve recovery by acting 

alone, it requires concerted action to strengthen our existing mechanisms, 

including the way we work with our businesses and PSB partners and others 

working for the long term.  

5.0.4 We will continue to engage with our strategic economic partners in Welsh 

Government, and the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (RLSP) and 

through the PSB with the public sector and particularly DWP. Where needed, we 

will pilot initiatives, demonstrate delivery and share the experience with our 

partners to help scale-up these initiatives across the county e.g. our work 

towards advancing progressive procurement. 

5.0.5 However, we recognise a key lesson of the pandemic has been the need to 

create a mechanism to bring together representatives of our business 

community to develop and share intelligence, agree to priorities and build long 

term public/private sector relationships. We will investigate with our business 

stakeholders how to evolve the Business Advisory Forum and Agri and 

Professional Services group into a strategic business forum for Carmarthenshire 

that represent our target sectors, high growth business engagement target, self-

employed, small businesses, and local enterprise agencies e.g. Antur Cymru, 

Menter a Busnes, and membership groups e.g. NFU/FUW, SBF. 

5.0.6 A sub-group of our strategic forum could provide a focus on business support 

and include key partners and stakeholders involved with delivering 

Tudalen 168



 

    41 

entrepreneurship, business support and include further and higher education 

through Coleg Sir Gar and UWTSD. 

5.0.7 We will need to closely monitor and evaluate our actions to ensure that they are 

replacing lost economic activity, safeguarding activity at risk, and promoting 

growth to make up lost ground. We will establish a monitoring and evaluation 

framework to cover actions delivered by all stakeholders; appraise the planned 

outputs and outcomes from these actions; monitor whether they are being 

delivered; evaluate why they are or are not successful; and continually refocus 

our actions to deliver better. 

 

Tudalen 169



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 
 

CYLLID GRANT ADFYWIO AR GYFER Y DYFODOL 

Y Pwrpas: 

Nodi'r cyllid sydd ar gael er mwyn helpu i gyflwyno Cynllun Adfer Economaidd Cyngor Sir 
Caerfyrddin a chytuno ar y fethodoleg arfaethedig ar gyfer ei gyflawni. 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 

 
Cefnogi'r fethodoleg arfaethedig ar gyfer gweinyddu'r cyllid grant adfywio ar gyfer y dyfodol 
sy'n cynnwys: 
 

 Cronfa Datblygu Eiddo Masnachol ar gyfer Trawsnewid Sir Gaerfyrddin 

 Cronfa Mentrau Gwledig Sir Gaerfyrddin 

 Cronfa Cychwyn Busnes 

 Cronfa Tyfu Busnes 

 Cronfa Ynni Adnewyddadwy Busnes 

 Cronfa Gymorth Sgiliau Busnes 

 Cyllid 10 Tref 

 Rhaglen Trawsnewid Trefi Llywodraeth Cymru (Y Rhaglen Targedu Buddsoddiad 

mewn Adfywio gynt) 

Y Rhesymau:  

 Er mwyn helpu i gyflwyno Cynllun Adfer Economaidd Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin. 

 Er mwyn symleiddio'r broses o weinyddu'r cronfeydd adfywio ar gyfer ymgeiswyr sydd 
am gael mynediad i gyllid grant. 

 

Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol         Nac Oes 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad         Oes     

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                            Nac Oes    

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  
Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole  - Arweinydd 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:   

Y Prif Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:  

Jason Jones 

 

Awdur yr Adroddiad:  
Stuart Walters 

  

 

Swydd:   

 

Pennaeth Adfywio  

 

Rheolwr Datblygu Economaidd 

Ffôn: 

 

Ebost:   

 

JaJones@sirgar.gov.uk  

 

swalters@sirgar.gov.uk  

 

Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 

21 MEHEFIN 2021 

Tudalen 171

Eitem Rhif  9

mailto:JaJones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:swalters@sirgar.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
21st JUNE 2021 

 

FUTURE REGENERATION GRANT FUNDING 
 
1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

Background 

 
On the 3rd March 2021 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Full Council approved the five-year 

Capital Programme which included the following schemes considered to be important for the 

recovery of the County in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

 Carmarthenshire Transformational Commercial Property Development Fund - £1 
million funding - A budget has been allocated to provide financial assistance for the 
construction of buildings for industrial and commercial use with the primary aim of 
creating capacity for employment in Carmarthenshire. Developers can apply for a 
maximum of £750,000 to support their project to a maximum of 45% of the total build 
cost, whichever is the greatest.  
 

 Carmarthenshire Rural Enterprise Fund £500,000 - A budget has been allocated to 
aid enterprises and sole traders for the development of new and existing business 
premises, aligned to job creation. The grant will be based on £20,000 per job created to 
a maximum grant of £100,000.  

 

 Ten Towns Funding - £1 million – Draft plans have been developed for 8 of the 
respective towns to date. Work is ongoing on plans for the 2 remaining towns; namely 
Cross Hands and Kidwelly. It is intended that the town fora will prioritise which projects 
are brought forward for consideration. This budget has been allocated to stimulate the 
ten market towns in the County. Eligible applicants will be able to apply for grant support 
to develop and deliver projects which have been highlighted through the Ten Towns 
Growth Plans. The respective towns will prioritise their own preferred projects and 
submit to Carmarthenshire County Council for consideration. Following which projects 
will be presented to grants panel and then to the Executive Board Member for approval. 
 

 Transforming Towns Programme (Previously Targeted Regeneration Investment 

Programme (TRI))- £1.2 million – Funding allocated as match funding for direct delivery 
projects towards Welsh Governments TRI / Transforming Towns programme. The 
Transforming Towns funding programme will concentrate on bringing vacant commercial 
space back into use within eligible town centres. This will be delivered alongside 
deliverable projects through the Transforming Towns funding detailed below. Projects 
will prioritised to those that fit the recovery plan aspirations. 
 
 

 

Tudalen 172



 

 

 Business Renewable Energy Fund- £500,000 – Support to assist businesses with 
renewable energy initiatives and carbon reduction. Applicants can apply for up to 50% of 
the project cost to a maximum of £10,000. Businesses supported will need to 
demonstrate their project will improve their carbon footprint. 

 
Further to the above, revenue funding has been earmarked to fund the following; 
 

 Business Start-up and Growth Grants - £500,000 - A budget of £500,000 has been 
allocated to the fund, to support job creation and safeguard jobs. Grants are up to a 
maximum of £10,000. Each grant award will be based on 50% of eligible costs or a 
maximum of £5,000 per job created and/or £1,000 per job safeguarded, whichever is the 
lesser, with at least one new job created and/or one full time equivalent (FTE) job 
safeguarded, in order to access the fund. The minimum grant award is £1,000, based on 
at least 1 FTE job being safeguarded. The maximum grant award per business is 
£10,000 , based on at least 2 FTE jobs being created or 10 FTE jobs being safeguarded 
or a mix of both jobs being created and safeguarded as a result of the project being 
supported by the fund. 
 

 Business Skills Support Fund - £200,000 has been set aside to support businesses to 
develop their skill sets to make them more competitive and increase their ability to secure 
contracts. The recovery report outlines the skills challenges businesses will face due to the 
pandemic. The funds will be allocated through third party training and skills support. The 
training opportunities will be available to businesses who have engaged with the local 
authority to identify and establish skills requirements with a supporting action plan. The key 
project aims will be to safeguard jobs within the County, assist businesses to diversify and 
develop innovative approaches. 

 

In addition to the County Council funded programmes detailed above, Welsh Government has 
recently launched a Transforming Towns Programme that replaces the former Targeted 
Regeneration Investment Programme. The new Transforming Towns Programme has been 
adapted to create a wider focus on town centres. The funding is able to cover projects such as:  
 

 Commercial Property Improvements  

 Green Infrastructure 

 Public Realm  

 Strategic Acquisitions 

 Town Centre Markets 

 Town Centre Meanwhile uses  

 Town Centre External Trading 

 Shop Frontage Enveloping schemes  

 Digital Towns 

 

Tudalen 173



 

The previous Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme specifically targeted Llanelli and 

Ammanford Town Centres. The new Transforming Towns Programme offers more flexibility in 

its coverage. It is therefore recommended that the new WG funding cover the following towns; 

Llanelli, Ammanford, Carmarthen, Burry Port, Kidwelly, Cwmamman, Crosshands, Whitland, 

Laugharne, St Clears, Newcastle Emlyn, Llanybydder, Llandeilo and Llandovery. 

 
Proposed Methodology for Release of Regeneration Funding 
 
It is intended the regeneration funding streams detailed above will have 2 separate processes. 
 

a) Business Support Funds – Firstly, we are looking to have one process to capture the 

business support elements including, business start-up, business growth, business 

renewable energy fund and the business skills support fund. These lower value funds 

would be assessed by the Regeneration Business Team, and then be presented and 

considered by a panel of Regeneration officers to make a recommendation to the 

Executive Board Member for Regeneration for final decision. 

 
b) Regeneration Support Funds – This second process will be for higher value awards 

and will include grants under the Carmarthenshire Transformational Commercial 
Property Development Fund, Carmarthenshire Rural Enterprise Fund, Ten Towns 
Funding and Transforming Towns  Programme. These interests will be assessed, and 
eligible applicants will be advised which fund they should pursue based upon the most 
fitting funding stream available.  Applications received will subsequently be assessed by 
officers and presented to the grants panel. The panel is made up of officers from 
regeneration, property, finance, legal and consultancy. Recommendations from the 
grants panel are then made to the Executive Board Member for consideration and final 
decision. 

 
2. OTHER OPTIONS AVAILABLE AND THEIR PROS AND CONS 
 
Deliver the various grant programmes separately. This method could provide confusion to third 
party applicants as there are many funding routes available. This approach would also provide 
greater flexibility and creativity in the allocation of the funds. 
 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 

 
 

  

Tudalen 174



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed:             Jason Jones                                                      Head of Regeneration                             

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
YES YES YES NONE 

 
YES 
 

NONE 
 

YES 
 

1) Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

These funds will enable the County Council to deliver the County Council’s Economic 
Recovery Plan and are aligned to the Regeneration Transformations Plan. 
 
The funds will give consideration to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and synergise 
with the five ways of working by ensuring: 
 

 We have considered the long term so that we do not compromise the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 

 

 Elements of the funding will prevent vacant and underutilised buildings from 
deteriorating while giving them a longer-term purpose.  

 

 We take an integrated approach so that we look at all well- being goals and objectives 
of other services and partners to ensure that we can meet the needs of the 
stakeholders of the County.  
 

 All developments and projects involve collaboration between regeneration and 
stakeholders to provide sustainable developments within the County.  

 

 The community benefits provided by the developments and projects will include 
Involvement from the population around the County. Formal consultation will be 
carried out as required by planning processes. 

Tudalen 175



 

2) Legal   

As a condition of grant, legal charges will need to be registered with the land registry on all 
buildings that are supported under the programme. 

3) Finance   

 

In relation to other county council programmes, on 3rd March 2021 Full Council approved 
the five-year Capital Programme which included budget allocation of the following schemes 
considered to be important for the recovery of the County in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic: 

 Carmarthenshire Transformational Commercial Property Development Fund - 
£1million. 

 Carmarthenshire Rural Enterprise Fund £500,000. 

 Ten Towns - £1million 

 Transforming Towns (TRI) circa £1.25m is available through the region for 
Carmarthenshire from Welsh Government, an element of which will be used to 
provide to third party applicants. Large scale projects supported under this 
programme will be referred to Welsh Government for consideration. 

 Business Renewable Energy Fund - £500K 

The funds will attract private sector match funding as part of the application process. 

 

Further Revenue funding has been allocated for the following: 

 Business Start up and Growth Grants - £500K 

 Business Skills Support Fund - £200k 

 

4) Risk Management Issues 

 

When dealing with third party grants risk management issues will be dealt with by officers 
adhering to the grants manual and third party procurement rules. The grants panel is also 
made up of several disciplines from across the authority including regeneration, finance, 
property, legal and consultancy. Each department brings their own expertise and these 
different perspectives assists in managing project risks. 

 

5) Physical Assets 

 

As a condition of grant, legal charges will need to be registered with the land registry on all 
buildings that are supported under the programme. 

 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 176



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 

Signed:             Jason Jones                                                     Head of Regeneration                                               

1. Scrutiny Committee - n/a 

2.Local Member(s) - n/a 

3.Community / Town CounciL - n/a 

4.Relevant Partners - n/a 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations - n/a 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER AWARE/CONSULTED  

Yes 

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

THERE ARE NONE 

 
 

Tudalen 177



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 

Y Pwnc: ADRODDIAD CYNNYDD YNGHYLCH SEFYDLU CYD-
BWYLLGOR CORFFORAETHOL DE-ORLLEWIN CYMRU 
 
Y Pwrpas:  Darparu trosolwg i aelodau ynghylch y gofyniad i sefydlu Cyd-bwyllgorau 
Corfforaethol a cheisio awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion gychwyn trafodaethau gyda'r 
awdurdodau y cyfeirir atynt yn yr adroddiad hwn er mwyn datblygu protocolau addas ar gyfer 
trefniadau'r Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforaethol yn Ne-orllewin Cymru. Dyma'r cyntaf o gyfres o 
adroddiadau y bydd angen i aelodau eu hystyried. 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 

1. Nodi'r gwaith sy'n cael ei wneud a'r camau nesaf sydd angen eu cymryd mewn 
perthynas â'r trefniadau llywodraethu ar gyfer Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforaethol De-orllewin 
Cymru; 

2. Dirprwyo awdurdod i'r Prif Weithredwr, mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Arweinydd, i gytuno ar 
gais am gyllid grant sy'n cael ei wneud i Lywodraeth Cymru er mwyn sefydlu Cyd-
bwyllgor Corfforaethol De-orllewin Cymru a derbyn unrhyw gynnig grant allai gael ei 
wneud gan Lywodraeth Cymru (boed yn cael ei wneud i'r Cyngor hwn neu i Gyngor 
arall sy'n cymryd rhan yng Nghyd-bwyllgor Corfforaethol De-orllewin Cymru); 

3. Dirprwyo awdurdod i'r Prif Weithredwr gychwyn trafod gyda'r Awdurdodau hynny a fydd 
wedi'u cynnwys yng Nghyd-bwyllgor Corfforaethol De-orllewin Cymru i ddatblygu 
cynigion ar gyfer sefydlu Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforaethol De-orllewin Cymru; 

4. Gwneud cais am gyflwyno adroddiad pellach yn nodi'r diweddaraf o ran cynnydd. 

Y Rhesymau: Rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i aelodau ynghylch y cynnydd sy'n cael ei 
wneud o ran sefydlu'r trefniadau llywodraethu ar gyfer y Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforaethol hwn. 

 
Angen ymgynghori â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol  Dim ar hyn o bryd, adroddiad cynnydd yn 
unig.  

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad         Oes  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                            Nac Oes  

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Y 
Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:  Y Prif 
Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth:  Jason Jones 

Linda Rees-Jones 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Jason Jones a Linda Rees-
Jones 

Swydd: 

 
Pennaeth Adfywio 

 
Pennaeth 
Gweinyddiaeth a'r 
Gyfraith 

Ffôn: 

Cyfeiriad E-bost: 
 
 
LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk 

Bwrdd Gweithredol 
21 Mehefin 2021  

 

Tudalen 179

Eitem Rhif  10



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Executive Board 
21st June 2021 

 

Progress report on the establishment of the South West Wales 
Corporate Joint Committee 

 
1. This report seeks to provide an overview to members on the requirement to establish 

Corporate Joint Committees (“CJCs”) and to seek delegated authority for officers to enter 
into discussions with the authorities referenced in this report to develop suitable proposals 
for the CJC arrangements in South West Wales. This is the first of a series of reports that 
members will need to consider. 
 

2. Welsh Government have imposed a requirement for Corporate Joint Committees to be 
established, and Regulations were made by the Welsh Ministers on the 17th March to 
establish the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee. 
 

3. Some functions are prescribed by the Welsh Ministers as being the remit of the CJC, 
namely: 
 
(a) The economic well-being function; 
(b) Developing transport policies and preparing regional transport plans; 
(c) The preparation of strategic development plans. 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  

 
 

  

Tudalen 180



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 

 

2. Legal   

Section 74 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales)Act 2021 enabled the Welsh 
Ministers by regulations to establish bodies corporate, known as Corporate Joint 
Committees. The Welsh Ministers made the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee 
regulations 2021 on the 17th March 2021. Similar CJCs have been established by 
regulations in other areas of Wales. These bodies are established in order to exercise 
certain functions specified in the regulations, being: 
1. The economic well-being function; 
2. Developing transport policies and preparing regional transport plans; 
3. The preparation of strategic development plans. 

 
Detailed governance arrangements now need to be developed. 

 
  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed: Jason Jones, Head of Regeneration 
              Linda Rees-Jones, head of Administration and Law                                                                                             

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  YES  

 

 

YES  

 
NONE 

 
 

 

YES  

 
YES  

 
NONE 

 
 

 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

The South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee has been established by 
Regulations 

Tudalen 181



 

3. Finance   

 

An application can be made to Welsh Government for funding to work up the 
governance arrangements of the CJC. 

 

Decisions on any funding to be transferred to the CJC will be made at a future stage 
and will be the subject of a separate report at that time. 

  

4. ICT  

None identified 
 

5. Risk Management Issues 

At this stage, the Risk of the partner authorities in the CJC not being able to agree the 

governance arrangements. 
 
6. Physical Assets   

None identified at this stage 
 

7. Staffing Implications 

There will be officer time required to work up the governance arrangements. 

 

There may be staffing implications at a future date, which will be the subject of a further 
report. 

 
 
 

Tudalen 182



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 

 

Signed: Jason Jones, Head of Regeneration     

              Linda Rees-Jones, head of Administration and Law                                            

 
1. Scrutiny Committee – N/A at this stage 

 

2.Local Member(s)  - N/A at this stage 

 

3.Community / Town Council - N/A. 

 

4.Relevant Partners  - N/A at this stage 

 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  -N/A at this stage 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER AWARE   

YES 

 

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW      
 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

The Corporate Joint 
Committees 
(General)(Wales) 
Regulations 2021 

N/A Online 

The South West Wales 
Corporate Joint 
Committees Regulations 
2021 

N/A Online 

The Local Government 
and Elections (Wales) 
Act 2021 
___________________ 
Welsh Government 
Prospectus 
 

N/A 
 
 
_________ 

Online 
 
 
__________________________________________ 

 

Tudalen 183



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

1. Background 

1.1  Part 5 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (“the 
 Act”) provides for the establishment, through regulations, of CJCs. This 
 can be achieved by two routes: at the instigation of two or more principal  
 Councils; and at the instigation of Welsh Ministers, but only in relation to 
 certain functions or functional areas which are specified on the face of the 
 Act. 
 

1.2  The Welsh Government believes that CJCs have a role to play in bringing 
 coherence to regional governance – strengthening local democracy and 
 accountability by integrating decision making, with the goal to build 
 wherever possible on existing regional arrangements. The wider purpose 
 is to share resources and ensure all local priorities and requirements can 
 be complemented by regional action, ensuring a sense of consistency, 
 harmony and resilience permeates regional public investment, planning 
 and accountability.  

 
1.3  Establishment Regulations have now been approved by the Senedd to 

 establish four CJCs in Wales 

 The Mid Wales CJC Regulations 2021 
 The North Wales CJC Regulations 2021 
 The South East Wales CJC Regulations 2021 
 The South West Wales CJC Regulations 2021  

1.4  The Welsh Local Government Association political group leaders wrote 
 to the Minister in March 2020 to set out the local government view that 
 the footprint for CJCs should be based on the existing city and growth 
 deals geography. Accordingly, The City and County of Swansea will be 
 included in the South West Wales CJC, also comprising: 
 

 Neath & Port Talbot County Council 

 Carmarthenshire County Council 

 Pembrokeshire County Council 

 Brecon Beacons National Park 

 Pembrokeshire National Park 

1.5  Governance will be a key element of CJCs and a number of factors must 
 be considered by CJCs. 

1.6  Composition – each CJC will be comprised of a number of principal 
 councils that, when combined, will form the area of the CJC. The CJC 
 will be run by a committee of its members and it will be the CJC which 
 will be responsible for delivering the functions exercised by it and taking 
 the necessary decisions required to deliver those functions. A CJC will 
 be accountable to its constituent principal councils and CJC members 
 will report back to their principal councils and respond to questions and 
 scrutiny. However, the CJC will have powers delegated to it and will make 

Tudalen 185



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

 timely decisions without the need for ratification by its constituent principal 
 councils.  

1.7   Membership – CJCs will comprise of the Leaders (senior executive 
 members) of the constituent councils. The Leaders will decide whether 
 additional representatives from the constituent councils or other 
 organisations will be invited to be co-participants of the CJC. The CJC will 
 be able to co-opt such members to the CJC and determine/agree the terms 
 of membership of any co-opted participant (e.g. voting rights, role, funding 
 contribution etc.).  

1.8  Meetings – the Establishment Regulations require that each CJC must 
 hold its first meeting by Spring 2022. It will be possible for a CJC to meet 
 as soon as the Establishment Regulations come into force, but CJCs are 
 not expected to be fully operational on day one as they need to take 
 various decisions (e.g. election of chair & deputy chair; appointment of 
 statutory officers) and implement governance & administrative 
 arrangements. The  frequency of meetings will be for each CJC to 
 determine.  

1.9  Voting arrangements – CJCs will be established on a ‘one member one 
 vote’ (OMOV) basis with decisions being taken by simple majority; 
 however, CJCs will have the ability to adopt alternative voting procedures 
 should they wish to do so. If a vote is tied, the matter is not carried and the 
 chairperson will only have the casting vote in decisions relating to the 
 exercise of strategic planning functions. The Establishment Regulations 
 provide a limit on the number of co-opted participants with votes, but only 
 in so far as that the number of votes which may be cast by co-opted 
 participants may not exceed the number of votes cast by council members 
 (plus National Park Authority members on strategic planning matters). 
 They also provide for a quorum of no fewer than 70% of the voting 
 members.  

1.10 Liability of members – CJCs will be corporate bodies in their own right and 
 the members will be taking decisions on functions which are theirs and 
 theirs alone. As a result, in the event of any claim or legal action, it would 
 be inappropriate for liability to be allocated or apportioned to each 
 constituent council. CJCs should therefore be required to indemnify their 
 members for the decisions they take. The CJC should hold the liability, 
 rather than individual members, employees or others discharging 
 functions on their behalf.  

1.11 Sub committees – CJCs will be able to establish sub committees if they 
 wish to do so and decide who sits on them. These could consist of 
 members of the constituent principal councils other than those members 
 on the CJC itself (e.g. relevant Cabinet Members). Other partner 
 organisations may also be invited/co-opted to be sub-committee co-opted
 participants should a CJC wish to do so.  

1.12 Scrutiny – each CJC will be required to put in place appropriate scrutiny 
 arrangements (at the discretion of the CJC) and have a

Tudalen 186



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

 Governance and Audit Committee. Scrutiny committees are expected to 
 not include a member of the CJC (or one of its sub-committees) and could 
 include members (including non-executive members) of the constituent 
 principal councils, whilst also taking account of political balance in the 
 constituent principal councils.  

1.13 Standing Orders and Code of Conduct – all CJCs will be required to make 
 standing orders for the regulation of their proceedings and business. They 
 will also be required to adopt a Code of Conduct for its members and staff, 
 and will fall within the future scope of the Public Service Ombudsman for 
 Wales.  

1.14 A number of Statutory Instruments have also been laid alongside the 
 Establishment Regulations to ensure that, from the point they are 
 established, CJCs: 

 are subject to appropriate standards of conduct and come 
under the remit of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

 are subject to appropriate accounting and financial 
management duties and come within the remit of the Auditor 
General for Wales 

 are subject to the Public Services Equality Duty 

 will be able to be subject to Welsh Language Standards 

 
1.15 Whilst the Act provides for improving education to be one of the functions 

 that Welsh Ministers can specify a CJC on, this function is not provided 
 for in the Establishment Regulations. Welsh Ministers have been clear 
 that consideration of the role of CJCs in the area of improving education 
 is something that would evolve over time and further discussion is 
 required with principal councils about the desired approach. 
 

1.16 Three specific areas however have been incorporated into the
 CJCs: 
 

 strategic development planning;  

 regional transport planning; and  

 the power to do things to promote or improve the economic well-being 
of the areas covered by the principal councils within the region. 

Strategic Development Planning 

1.17 The intention of the Welsh Ministers is to create a hierarchy of 
 Development Plans in Wales with the National Development Framework 
 at the highest level, and with Strategic Development Plans sitting 
 between that and the Local Development Plan and with the requirement 
 that all are in general conformity with each other. 
 

Tudalen 187



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

1.18 The requirement to prepare Strategic Development Plans is already  
 contained in the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, allowing the option to produce 
 Strategic Development Plans either on a voluntary basis (by two or more 
 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) or by Ministerial Direction.  

 
1.19 The policy intent in respect of Strategic Development Plans is to introduce 

 a more strategic approach to plan making at a scale greater than individual 
 Local Development Plans. There is an identified need to improve how the 
 planning system addresses issues that cross local authority boundaries, 
 to reflect how people live their lives today and in the future. Strategic 
 Development Plans aim to provide a more consistent, cost effective and 
 efficient approach to plan making, with key decisions taken once at the 
 strategic level. This will allow larger than local issues such as housing 
 numbers, strategic housing allocations, strategic employment sites, 
 strategic green infrastructure routes, supporting transport infrastructure 
 which cuts across a number of Local Planning Authority areas to be 
 considered and planned for in an integrated and comprehensive way. The 
 aim being a more efficient and effective planning outcome for 
 communities 

Regional Transport Planning 

1.20 Section 108 of the Transport Act 2000 Act requires a local authority to 
 develop a local transport plan which promotes safe, integrated, efficient 
 and economic transport within the authority’s area. 
 

1.21 The particular function to create this regional transport plan will now vest 
 in the CJC. 

 
1.22 The aim of the CJC will help to reflect the overarching Welsh 

 Government Transport Strategy which is also being reviewed and is 
 currently at the consultation stage. Llwybr Newydd – the Wales Transport 
 Strategy sets out the long term vision for transport in Wales.  

Economic Well-Being 

1.23 The Economic Wellbeing function is the power to do anything which the 
 CJC considers is likely to promote or improve the economic wellbeing of 
 its area. This will enable the principal councils, should they wish, to 
 evolve the current regional approaches to the City and Growth deals into 
 the CJC structures.  
 

1.24 It may be necessary for a CJC and its constituent councils to operate the 
 powers concurrently. The CJC will need to agree a process with its 
 constituent principal councils for agreeing how this might operate in 
 practice including but not limited to the specific activities within the scope 
 of the agreement, how agreement will be achieved, reviewed and how 
 disputes may be resolved.  This is a matter for each CJC in response to 
 local and regional needs and is in line with the approach to enable flexibility 

Tudalen 188



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

 and local determination where possible. The Welsh Government intends 
 to provide guidance to CJCs and its constituent principal councils on this 
 matter.  

2. Next Steps 
 

2.1  The Leaders of all four principal councils within the South West region are 
 agreed that work should now commence to establish appropriate 
 governance arrangements for the CJC. Welsh Government are making 
 funding available, on a competitive basis, to create capacity to do this 
 work. A prospectus was issued by Welsh Government on 24th March 2021 
 (Appendix 1) and an expression of interest has been submitted by the four 
 Leaders in respect of this funding opportunity. The prospectus aims to set 
 out the scope of the financial support available to support regional 
 transitional planning arrangements and enable preparatory work to begin. 
 It outlines a range of core areas associated with establishing and 
 implementing CJCs which the Welsh Government could provide financial 
 support towards, and includes, for example: 

 
 -Programme resource to take the lead in each region to plan and oversee 
 the transition from existing arrangements to CJCs.  

 
 -Dedicated resource / additional expertise to coordinate and /or develop 
 appropriate constitutional and governance arrangements for the CJC;  

 
 -Support for any meetings which may take place during the 
 implementation/regional transitional planning phase.  

 
 -Expertise to develop approaches (potentially ‘once for Wales’ common 
 approaches) to aspects such as scrutiny arrangements/standards/ 
 approaches to terms and conditions for staff  

 
 -Other activity associated with setting up / establishing a CJC  

 
2.2  Chief Executives of the four principal authorities will now establish the 

 workstreams needed to progress the development of the South West 
 Wales CJC. The relevant officers will work with their counterparts to 
 develop suitable proposals. The associated documentation and strategies 
 and reports will be brought back to members in due course for approval to 
 proceed.  

 
2.3  In drawing up proposals to establish the South West Wales CJC Chief 

 Executives will, inter alia, consider extant regional groups and activities to 
 ensure the resultant proposal for the CJC is coherent with wider 
 arrangements. It should be noted that the legislation sets out specific 
 functions to be vested in the CJC however the constituent councils may 
 apply to Welsh Ministers to have any of their functions conferred on the 
 CJC. 

 
 

Tudalen 189



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The Establishment Regulations do not prescribe any formula basis for 
 funding of CJCs. It will be for each CJC to decide how the budget 
 requirement will be met by the constituent principal councils (and the 
 National Park Authority in the case of the strategic planning functions). In 
 the absence of unanimous agreement on the amount payable, the 
 regulations provide for the amounts payable by the constituent councils 
 and National Park member(s) to be directed by Welsh Ministers.  
 
3.2  CJCs will be the accountable body for the funding provided by constituent 

 councils and/or directly received from any other funding streams. CJCs will 
 also be able to pay towards expenditure incurred or to be incurred in 
 relation to carrying out its functions as it may determine, and to charge 
 fees relating their specified functions. The Establish Regulations also 
 enable CJCs to provide assistance by way of grant or contributions to 
 support functions exercisable by them. The funding from constituent 
 principal councils will be held and managed by CJCs and it is expected 
 that they will be required to manage the funds under the same financial 
 management arrangements as local government bodies in Wales.  
 

3.3  CJCs are new legal structures, which include the ability to directly hold 
 assets and budgets, employ staff, enact legal structures and undertake 
 any other delivery and strategic functions vested in them. It should be 
 noted at this stage CJCs are unable to borrow to achieve their aims. Any 
 review will need to consider the impact on financial provisions, this 
 includes understanding the costs and funding sources of any new 
 frameworks required in order to meet and deliver agreed objectives. Welsh 
 Ministers have made grant funding available to participant authorities to 
 assist in the set-up of CJCs and an application will be made by the South 
 West Wales group for such funding to assist in the scoping and 
 governance work necessary to create this new body. At this stage it is 
 unknown whether the grant will be paid to one participating authority or 
 whether it will be paid to individual authorities and authority would be 
 sought to accept this grant. 

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 Part 5 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 provides 
 for the establishment, through Regulations, of CJC’s and compliance 
 must be had with this and the requirements of the South West Wales 
 Corporate Joint Committee Regulations 2021 (the Establishment 
 Regulations).  

4.2 As the CJC will need to determine its approach to staffing requirements, 
 including the ability to employ and recruit staff and the appointment of 
 statutory “executive officers” further legal consideration will need to be 
 considered as part of any programmes of work dealing with their 
 establishment.  

 

Tudalen 190



Please do not use headers and footers on the report. 

5. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and 

must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 
regard to the above.  

 
5.2 An EIA Screening Form has been completed with the agreed outcome that 

a full EIA report is not required as the report relates to governance 
arrangements for the creation of the South West Wales CJC which is 
required by statute. The need for a full EIA will be kept under review with 
any future reports considering whether any impacts require further 
consideration.  

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 191



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	3.1 24AIN O FAI 2021
	3.2 1AF O FEHEFIN 2021
	6 POLISI TELEDU CYLCH CYFYNG Y CYNGOR
	Adroddiad

	7 HYRWYDDO CAFFAEL BLAENGAR
	(1) Procurement Strategy
	(2) Procurement - Report

	8 CYNLLUN ADFER A CHYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD SIR GAERFYRDDIN
	Adroddiad

	9 CYLLID GRANT ADFYWIO AR GYFER Y DYFODOL.
	10 ADRODDIAD CYNNYDD YNGHYLCH SEFYDLU CYD-BWYLLGOR CORFFORAETHOL DE-ORLLEWIN CYMRU
	Adroddiad


